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Health comes first 
Despite the crisis brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic, 
the football community showed solidarity and put health 
first, stopping competitions to save lives. FIFA put together 
an unprecedented USD 1.5 billion global support scheme: 
the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan.

Football for social progress 
Teaming up with the United Nations Office on Drugs and 
Crime, FIFA stepped up the fight against crime, corruption 
and abuse in football and sport.

Return to football 
FIFA worked with the confederations and other stakeholders 
to establish the Return to Football – International Match 
Protocol for the safe resumption of international matches.

New frontiers 
The FIFA Women’s World Cup™ is headed for new frontiers as 
it was decided that the 2023 edition would be held in Australia 
and New Zealand, the first in two confederations.

Distant but united 
Keeping at a healthy distance, FIFA continued its daily business 
remotely and conducted meetings by videoconference, 
including the first-ever virtual FIFA Congress.

2020 vision 
President Gianni Infantino set out FIFA’s new blueprint, 
The Vision 2020-2023, to make football truly global by 
reducing the global competitive disparity among clubs 
and national teams.

Highlights
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Forewords | President

Gianni Infantino
FIFA President

You can either plan change or change can be 
forced upon you. In 2020, we experienced both.

Soon after I published my vision to make football truly global, 
setting out FIFA’s key objectives for the next four years, the 
world – and our sport – found itself in the grip of the COVID-19 
pandemic. Although we had carefully planned our goals,  
it was clear to us that, as world football’s governing body,  
the situation required us to adapt and act quickly and 
decisively to protect our sport, by always putting health first.

The USD 1.5 billion that we have made available to football 
through the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan is a testament to the 
responsibility that FIFA takes for the well-being of football  
and the football community. It is also testament to the new 
FIFA’s sound financial management since 2016.

Beyond providing financial support, we also acted to protect 
our sport in other ways. With the World Health Organization 
and the FIFA Legends, we spread crucial messages to the 
football community and beyond that health comes first.  
We took a stand against a resurgent racism that has no place 
in football, let alone in society. And we joined forces with  
the UNODC, a heavyweight institution that can help us make  
a bigger impact in the fight against crime, corruption and 
abuse in football.

We also saw evidence of football’s power for tangible social 
change as we welcomed Qatar’s landmark reforms of labour 
conditions for workers, including those involved in preparations 
for the FIFA World Cup in 2022. We saw it too in the historic 

signing of a memorandum of understanding between the 
football associations of Israel and the United Arab Emirates, 
another impressive example of the power of football in 
pushing back social, cultural and political boundaries.

The FIFA Council voted to send the FIFA Women’s World 
Cup to new horizons in 2023, as Australia and New Zealand 
will co-host a tournament of firsts: the first in the southern 
hemisphere, the first to be held across two confederations  
and the first to feature 32 teams. 

Amid all this activity, however, one thing was sorely missed: 
the fans. Despite a return to football, guided by FIFA’s 
international match protocol to keep players and staff safe 
during the pandemic, the absence of fans showed just how 
much they bring to our sport. The fans lift the players. They 
are the twelfth member of the team. They are the soul of  
the game.

In 2020, football stopped and then returned, but only when 
we can safely enjoy full stadiums again will we be able to 
truly celebrate the return to football. You can be sure that we 
will do everything we can to make this happen in a safe and 
secure way.

Yours in football,

Gianni Infantino
FIFA President
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In 2020, FIFA stood firm and faced forward to 
tackle the problems world football faced as a 
result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Few were prepared for what became the biggest global 
emergency of our time and FIFA’s role as the guardians of the 
game became even more crucial, as football stopped being 
played and many involved in the sport faced an uncertain 
future.

The FIFA COVID-19 Relief Fund has helped to protect and 
preserve football around the world and allowed our member 
associations (MAs) and the confederations to literally keep  
the ball rolling. 

Through our dedicated funding for women’s football, as part 
of the relief programme, we have been able to ensure that the 
momentum generated by the FIFA Women’s World Cup 2019™ 
has not been lost and women’s football will not become a 
casualty of the pandemic.

Despite the numerous challenges we all faced in 2020, 
thankfully FIFA was able to go ahead with many of its everyday 
operations, albeit more remotely. 

The rolling out of the new Women’s Development Programme 
and many other projects through the FIFA Forward Programme 
aimed at nurturing and empowering all members of our 
football community are among these operations.

We also introduced an ambitious new initiative that embodies  
The Vision 2020-2023, the FIFA Talent Development 
Programme, led by our Chief of Global Football Development, 
Arsène Wenger. It aims to analyse the football ecosystem in 
each of the 211 MAs and assist each one in mapping out a 
strategy to build on its strengths.

This practical initiative is a positive step towards FIFA’s goal of 
raising the standards of football globally and ensuring that 
each young talent has an opportunity to shine.

Throughout 2020, FIFA displayed its commitment to 
transparency and good governance, and the strict conditions 
for use of the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan are testament to this.

Since its inception, FIFA has published – down to the dollar – 
the exact amounts received by each MA and confederation, 
which can be found at the end of this report. Meanwhile, we 
have made the FIFA Forward Programme more transparent 
still, with the publication of the Forward Impact Map on FIFA.
com giving a visual insight into the allocation of funds and 
how they are used.

Of course, one of the most difficult parts of 2020 was the 
physical isolation with which we all had to contend due to 
distancing restrictions. Although we could not host the FIFA 
Congress with delegates physically present, as many of our 
interactions with you have been through webcams and screens 
in previous years, we have managed to remain united in our 
shared goal of protecting, preserving and developing football, 
the game we all love, now perhaps more than ever before.

I am proud to say that despite the challenges and difficulties 
that FIFA, the MAs and the confederations all faced in 2020, 
we performed as one strong and united team and we will 
continue to show that solidarity and resilience stand the test of 
time despite trying circumstances. 

Yours sincerely,

Fatma Samoura
FIFA Secretary General

Forewords | Secretary General

Fatma Samoura
FIFA Secretary General
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From FIFA’s finances to assist all 
211 member associations and the 
six confederations, with dedicated 
support for women’s, grassroots 
and other non-elite level football.

USD 

1.5bn
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With the health and safety of players, staff and fans the 
single most important consideration, football competitions 
were suspended around the world as authorities and 
governments enforced social distancing and other public 
health measures. As a result, competition organisers and clubs 
faced considerable financial and professional uncertainty with 
no ready solutions.

As world football’s governing body, FIFA took immediate 
action, collaborating with the World Health Organization and 
enlisting the help of the FIFA Legends to spread crucial health 
and hygiene messages via social media, and providing 
concrete support to the global football community.

That support took the form of the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan: 
a global support scheme designed in close cooperation with 
representatives of the confederations. Over three phases, 
the groundbreaking relief plan would make available 
USD 1.5 billion from FIFA’s finances to assist all 211 member 
associations and the six confederations, with dedicated 
support for women’s, grassroots and other non-elite level 
football.

As FIFA President Gianni Infantino said at the 70th FIFA 
Congress, “FIFA is not facing a crisis, but football is... The 
money goes where it has to go: to football, and to help 
football.”

Health comes first

The rapid spread of COVID-19 brought everyday life to an abrupt halt for 
the majority of the global population in early 2020, reminding humanity 
that nothing is more important than health.

2020 at a glance | COVID-19 Relief Plan
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In a year of disruption caused by the global pandemic, 
which saw all FIFA tournaments postponed or cancelled, 
those competitions that could go ahead had to contend 
with travel restrictions and reduced calendars.  

Fitting more matches into a shorter timeframe brought 
certain risks, not least to the health and fitness of the 
players. To mitigate such risks, FIFA recognised the need  
for extraordinary measures – including a temporary 
amendment to the Laws of the Game allowing each team 
two further substitutions per match – while also making 
practical adjustments to the men’s and women’s 
international match calendars. 

As world football’s governing body, FIFA has a responsibility 
to provide appropriate guidance to its members and their 
stakeholders to mitigate the consequences of disruptions 
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and ensure that any 
response is harmonised in the common interest.  

Following an extensive consultation process with the six 
confederations and stakeholder representatives, FIFA 
developed the Return to Football – International Match 
Protocol: a set of guidelines seeking to protect the health of 
all match attendees, including players and match officials, 
by providing standardised measures and practices to be 
applied in connection with international matches.  

Return to football 

2020 at a glance | Return to football



Technology provided a lifeline 
throughout the COVID-19 
pandemic, facilitating the spread 
of vital public health information 
and keeping families, friends and 
colleagues connected despite 
social distancing measures and 
travel restrictions. It also enabled 
FIFA to continue its daily business 
with the member associations and 
confederations, and hold events 
virtually.

Distant but united

In 2020, all meetings of the FIFA Council and the Bureau of 
the FIFA Council were held online, ensuring that the most 
significant issues facing football could be decided 
unhindered. Likewise, the FIFA Congress, postponed to 
September, was able to go ahead by videoconference for the 
first time ever and it was attended by all 211 member 
associations.

With two years to go to the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™, 
 it was also imperative that the preliminary competitions be 
defined in order to enable continental qualification to go 
ahead. FIFA hosted preliminary draws live online, ensuring 
that the international match calendar would not be 
unnecessarily congested ahead of world football’s showpiece 
event.

Rounding off 2020, the finest performers in an extraordinary 
year were crowned as The Best FIFA Football Awards™ went 
virtual in December. Hosted live from the Home of FIFA in 
Zurich, nominees for each category connected to discover 
who had won.

While the global pandemic may have caused disruption to 
FIFA’s competitions, the organisation’s innovative spirit  
ensured that world football could continue off the pitch.

2020 at a glance | Distant but united
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Football is the only sport played in every corner of the 
world. It has a unique resonance across humanity and, 
beyond being a mere game, it can be a powerful tool to 
engage with people on important social issues.

As part of its increased engagement with civil society 
organisations, in 2020 FIFA signed a memorandum of 
understanding (MoU) with the United Nations Office on 
Drugs and Crime, launching a cooperation agreement to 
tackle crime, corruption and abuse in football and sport. 
The agreement will extend to ensuring that children  
and young athletes are kept safe from violence and 
exploitation, via programmes such as FIFA Guardians™, 
while also harnessing the benefits of sports for women 
and girls in line with UN resolutions. 

FIFA also began a consultation process that includes sports 
organisations, intergovernmental authorities, 
governments and specialist agencies with the objective  
of establishing an independent, multi-sports, multi-agency 
international entity to investigate abuse cases in sports. 

Meanwhile, in December, the football associations of  
the United Arab Emirates (UAE) and Israel signed a  
historic MoU in a ceremony held in Dubai, attended by 
FIFA President Gianni Infantino, who said, 

Football for social progress

”

”It is crucial for the future 
because it shows that 
football is uniting, football 
is bringing people together. 
They can count on the 
support from FIFA to organise 
events, training opportunities 
and other initiatives to bring 
not just Israel and the UAE 
but the whole region closer 
together through football.

2020 at a glance | Football for social progress

FIFA President
Gianni Infantino 
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The 2019 edition in France attracted over one billion viewers 
worldwide and sparked a cultural shift that brought the 
women’s game into the mainstream of global sport. To 
further grow the competition, the FIFA Council expanded 
the FIFA Women’s World Cup from 24 to 32 participating 
teams as of 2023 and doubled FIFA’s investment in women’s 
football to USD 1 billion over four years.

Following a fully transparent bidding process that featured  
a record level of interest from potential hosts, the FIFA 
Women’s World Cup is destined for new frontiers and will  
be the first major FIFA tournament to be hosted by either 
country.

Ahead of the 2023 edition, FIFA has launched a new suite of 
women’s football development programmes that focus on 
key areas of football and structural development with a 
tailored approach that considers each member association’s 
football landscape and needs. In particular, the programmes 
will help all 211 member associations achieve the FIFA 
Forward criteria for women’s football, unlocking further 
funding for investment in the women’s game.

For the first time, a FIFA 
competition will be co-hosted by 
two confederations: in June 2020, 
the FIFA Council awarded  
the hosting of the FIFA Women’s  
World Cup 2023™ to Australia  
and New Zealand.

New frontiers

2020 at a glance | New frontiers
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Acknowledging that a game that is powerful and popular 
around the whole planet cannot be played at its highest 
level in only a few regions, President Gianni Infantino set 
out FIFA’s vision to make football truly global. 

Through The Vision 2020-2023, FIFA will help develop 
football in all regions of the world so that many more can 
compete at the very highest level. The goal is to have at 
least 50 national teams and clubs from all continents 
competing fully against the current elites of the game. 

FIFA’s key mission is to truly globalise, popularise and 
democratise football for the benefit of the entire world. 
The plan to make the game more inclusive and truly 
global – published in February 2020 – is made up of four 
core areas consisting of 11 goals with concrete steps to 
achieve each one, which are, grounded in the day-to-day 
efforts of dedicated football professionals.

Following four years of successful 
reforms that brought FIFA a  
new-found transparency and trust, 
in 2020 the organisation turned its 
attentions to the future of football 
around the world.

 
2020 vision 

2020 at a glance | 2020 vision
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2020 at a glance | 2020 vision
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Without exception, the spread of COVID-19 seriously affected 
football around the world, leading to the suspension of 
leagues and the postponement or cancellation of all FIFA 
tournaments in 2020.

At the peak of the pandemic, football had completely 
stopped in all but four of FIFA’s 211 member associations 
(MAs). FIFA immediately started to gather data from MAs, 
confederations and other stakeholders: the estimated impact 
of the disruption was around USD 14 billion, or roughly one 
third of the USD 40-45 billion generated annually by football 
worldwide.

Helping football 
in its hour of need 

Football united against COVID-19 | COVID-19 Relief Plan



FIFA-Confederations Working Group
A working group comprising representatives of the FIFA 
administration and top executives from all six confederations 
was quickly established to address the consequences of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. In a spirit of unity, solidarity and mutual 
understanding, the FIFA-Confederations Working Group 
advised the FIFA Council on a number of key topics, including 
the men’s and women’s international match calendars, the 
postponement of FIFA competitions, temporary amendments 
to transfer regulations, and the creation of a global fund to 
support football.

Football united against COVID-19 | COVID-19 Relief Plan



In close cooperation with the confederations, FIFA developed 
a three-phase plan, largely funded from the organisation’s 
solid financial reserves, and governed by regulations setting 
strict compliance and audit requirements, as well as clear 
loan repayment conditions, under the supervision of a 
steering committee chaired by Governor of the Bank of 
Finland Olli Rehn.

Stage 1
Remaining amount of FIFA Forward operational cost 
entitlements for 2019 and 2020 released to MAs

Stage 2
MAs able to transform remaining FIFA Forward development 
project grants into COVID-19 operational relief funds, with  
a minimum of 50% of released funds allocated to women’s 
football

FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan

FIFA is not facing a crisis, 
but football is... The money 
goes where it has to go: to 
football, and to help football. 

FIFA President Gianni Infantino

Approved by the FIFA Council on 25 June, FIFA’s groundbreaking 
COVID-19 Relief Plan made USD 1.5 billion available to support all 
211 member associations (MAs) and the six confederations to help 
alleviate the financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

”
”

Stage 3
MAs entitled to:
• a universal solidarity grant of USD 1 million, and an 

additional grant of USD 500,000 allocated specifically  
to women’s football. The full amount would be made 
available by January 2021; and

• interest-free loans amounting to up to 35% of their 
audited annual revenues. In the interest of solidarity,  
a loan entitlement of between USD 500,000 and 
USD 5 million was made available. 

Within the scope of the third phase, all MAs were able to  
use the funds for activities such as restarting competitions, 
implementing return-to-play protocols, the participation of 
national teams in competitions, hiring and re-hiring staff, 
maintaining their football infrastructure, and general 
administration and operating costs.

In addition, a grant of USD 2 million and a loan of up to 
USD 4 million were made available to each confederation.

Football united against COVID-19 | COVID-19 Relief Plan
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Compliance and accountability
Having reformed its governance and auditing structures in 
recent years, FIFA is in a strong financial position and was 
therefore able to implement the COVID-19 Relief Plan. In 
providing the best possible financial support to member 
associations and confederations, it is also committed to 
applying the highest compliance and auditing standards.

All member associations and confederations receiving 
funding from FIFA will be audited by the auditors appointed 
by FIFA under the current system of central reviews as well 
as by FIFA’s statutory auditors. 

The FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan Steering Committee has 
worked hand in hand with the FIFA administration to 
oversee the implementation of the relief plan and to help 
achieve the right social and economic impact in support of 
football.

Football united against COVID-19 | COVID-19 Relief Plan

USD 1.5 billion total 
funding available 
 

USD 1 million grant 
to protect and restart 
football 
 

USD 500,000 
specifically for 
women’s football 
 

Up to USD 5 million 
available in interest-
free loans
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Mexican Football Association
In a strategic move, the Mexican Football Association (FMF) 
decided to use most of the grants through the FIFA COVID-19 
Relief Plan to support women’s football. In particular, the FMF 
is employing the funding to help run the women’s football 
league – the Liga MX Femenil – and to support the women’s 
national teams, including through the implementation of 
safety protocols and COVID-19 tests. 

“We believe that women’s football has huge potential and it 
was important, given the pandemic and the impact on clubs’ 
finances that the FMF, with the support received from FIFA, 
provided funds to allow women’s football to keep growing,” 
said FMF General Secretary Iñigo Riestra. 

“We’re really grateful for the help we received. It helped us 
with our expenses and to support our players and the club to 
keep our environment healthy and free from infections with 
tests and safety protocols,” said Claudia Carrión, Sports 
Director at Club América Femenil. “We would love to have the 
fans here, their support during matches is very important for 
us. But we also know that, right now, people need to stay 
home and use face masks. If we take care of each other, the 
fans will be back soon.” 

“It’s amazing to be back playing, we all needed it. Let’s hope it 
will go on like this, because this is what keeps us healthy and 
makes us happy,” said Ximena Ríos, a player for Club América. 

Football united against COVID-19 | COVID-19 Relief Plan
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The FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan funded the testing of all players 
and match officials prior to the restart of competitive action, 
supported the implementation of the video assistant referee 
(VAR) system in the Thai domestic league, and provided 
players and officials alike with the opportunity to return to 
action.

“It’s been a long time, six months, that football has been 
stopped, but for sure life and football should be going on,” 
said international referee Sivakorn Pu-udom. “We don’t stand 
still. We prepare a lot. We have to change our lives to relate 
to the situation right now, but we are ready. We are ready to 
restart. FIFA is supporting the COVID-19 testing in our 
country. FIFA never left us behind.”

Football Association of Thailand
In many countries, such as Thailand, the relief plan had an 
immediate effect, with the domestic league restarting in 
early September.

“I’m grateful that FIFA sees the importance of football in 
Thailand,” said Somyot Poompanmoung, President of the 
Football Association of Thailand (FAT). “COVID-19’s 
worldwide spread hit the football industry especially hard. 
FIFA funding came at the right time and we were able to use 
it to develop VAR systems, improve organisation and provide 
benefits for the footballers.”

Football united against COVID-19 | COVID-19 Relief Plan
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COSAFA
In December 2020, a new generation of players, coaches 
and administrators took to the pitch and the classroom in a 
series of competitions and workshops organised by the 
Council of Southern Africa Football Associations (COSAFA).

With football postponed as a result of COVID-19, the 
activities – supported by funding from FIFA – represented 
the restart of organised football for many female players 
and officials in the region and provided an important step 
in the development of young players, coaches and a new 
generation of female football leaders in Africa.

The COSAFA U-15 girls’ schools tournament provided 
12 teams from across eight local football associations 
within an 80km radius of Port Elizabeth with the chance to 
return to the fray.

Timothy Shongwe, chairman of the COSAFA Competitions 
Committee, said: “People almost lost hope. If you can 
organise a tournament of this nature, it is very significant. 
They learn to play football, but they also learn how to handle 
themselves during the pandemic.”

Supported by FIFA Forward, female coaches and administrators 
from Southern Africa also took part in a series of workshops 
and courses around the COSAFA senior and U-17 women’s 
championships, including a five-day administration course 
involving 30 participants from local associations in the Eastern 
Cape province.

COSAFA General Secretary Sue Destombes said: “COSAFA’s 
philosophy is not just about playing the game on the pitch – 
it’s about developing women across all spheres. Our 
administration course is specifically for female administrators 
in sport.”

Football united against COVID-19 | COVID-19 Relief Plan
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COVID-19 brought the world to a 
virtual standstill in early 2020.  
No aspect of life was unaffected, 
and the devastating effects were  
a clear reminder that nothing is 
more important than health.

On 11 March, the World Health Organization (WHO) 
declared COVID-19 a pandemic. The next morning, FIFA 
President Gianni Infantino met with WHO Director-General 
Dr Tedros Adhanom Ghebreyesus at the WHO headquarters 
to discuss how football could help the global response and 
what measures sports governing bodies could take.

Building on their existing collaboration to promote healthy 
lifestyles through football globally, WHO and FIFA 
launched a joint awareness-raising campaign and engaged 
in various initiatives to protect and promote the health of 
individuals and their communities.

First responders

FIFA has stood up to the 
coronavirus, and I am delighted 
that world football is supporting 
WHO to kick out the coronavirus. 
I have no doubt that, with this 
type of support, together we  
will win. 
WHO Director-General  
Dr Tedros Adhanom Ghebreyesus

”

”

Football united against COVID-19 | First responders
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Passing on the message
Led by 38 FIFA Legends and current stars, “Pass the message 
to kick out coronavirus” promoted five key steps for people to 
protect their health in line with WHO guidance. The joint 
FIFA-WHO video campaign was published in 16 languages and 
viewed millions of times around the world.

Rivals unite to promote fitness
Teaming up with WHO and the United Nations (UN) for the 
UN International Day of Sport for Development and Peace on 
6 April, FIFA enlisted stars of rival clubs to record unified video 
statements – posted on FIFA, UN and WHO social media 
accounts under the hashtag #BeActive – telling fans how they 
could stay fit and active during lockdown. 

Legends lead applause for frontline heroes
These is no doubt that health workers and other key 
professionals were the real stars of 2020, continuing to work 
and make sacrifices for others despite the worsening 
pandemic. In April, 50 of football’s biggest stars showed 
support by applauding their efforts in a social media clip that 
paid tribute to “humanity’s heroes” helping to keep the rest 
of society running.

Sharing a message of domestic peace
As part of a wider global initiative to support women and 
children who were victims of domestic violence as  
stay-at-home measures put them at greater risk, FIFA joined 
forces with the African Union, the European Commission and 
WHO to launch the #SafeHome campaign in Africa and 
Europe. African and European football stars supported the 
campaign via video messages distributed on social and 
traditional media to raise awareness of this critical issue, and 
multimedia toolkits helped FIFA’s member associations to 
further amplify the message worldwide.

Football united against COVID-19 | First responders

Unrivalled reach: FIFA-WHO COVID-19 campaigns

300m 
social media views 
 

190 
countries 
 

196m 
global TV audience 
 

136 MAs 
amplified the message 

MA

MA

MA
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During an unprecedented time  
of global isolation, FIFA opened  
up its digital archive with the 
#WorldCupAtHome campaign. 

Nine weeks of full-match re-broadcasts, documentary 
premieres and wider engagement on social media saw 
millions of fans flock to FIFA’s platforms to relive some of 
their favourite footballing memories. 

A total of 32 classic matches were re-broadcast from past 
editions of the FIFA World Cup™, FIFA Women’s World Cup™ 
and other FIFA tournaments, along with the official films  
of the 2014 and 2018 World Cups and the 2019 Women’s 
World Cup.
 
Each match was voted for by the fans on social media and, 
over the nine weeks, #WorldCupAtHome garnered over half 
a billion impressions across platforms, captivating 300 million 
fans in 126 countries and going on to win the Content 
Creation Award at the Leaders Sports Awards.

#WorldCupAtHome

Football united against COVID-19 | First responders

300m 
fans in 126 countries 
 

45m+ 
digital views of  
full matches 
 

44m+  
views of short-form 
videos 
 

295,000+ 
new subscribers  
on YouTube 
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Although football came to a 
standstill in early 2020, there was 
no time to be lost in planning 
ahead for the moment the game 
could resume. Players kept fit in 
isolation, coaches reviewed their 
tactics, and FIFA worked to ensure 
the best possible conditions  
for everyone.

#WeWillWin

Planning for a safe return
To facilitate the planning of the safe resumption of football 
activities by competition and match organisers, FIFA worked 
with WHO, UEFA, FIFPRO and other industry stakeholders to 
develop a football risk assessment tool. It was distributed to 
the MAs and confederations together with a set of FIFA 
medical recommendations established by the FIFA COVID-19 
Medical Working Group, WHO and the FIFA Medical Committee.

The aim of the joint effort was to consider the health of 
everyone taking part in football while taking into account the 
risk assessments and the factors that needed to be in place in 
order for football, both at a professional and at an amateur 
level, to resume safely. The recommendations were designed 
for implementation in conjunction with international and 
national guidance on public health and mass gatherings.

Prioritising player welfare
As football restarted, with domestic and continental club 
competitions being played in a condensed period and in 
varying weather conditions, it was important to prioritise 
the welfare of the players. FIFA proposed temporary 
changes to the Laws of the Game – approved by The 
International Football Association Board (IFAB) – to allow 
teams to make up to five substitutions per match in 
competitions scheduled to be completed in 2020.

Following an in-depth review of the successful impact of 
the changes, the IFAB Board of Directors extended the 
option to competitions scheduled to be completed by 
31 July 2021 and to international competitions scheduled in 
July/August 2021.

Return to football | #WeWillWin
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Professional guidance through regulatory uncertainty
Following the publication in April of recommendations and 
guidelines to address the most urgent football regulatory 
issues arising from the COVID-19 pandemic, the FIFA 
administration conducted 13 workshops with more than 
350 representatives from its MAs, the confederations, the 
World Leagues Forum and the European Club Association.

The active consultation process led to the identification of 
a comprehensive set of frequently asked questions (FAQs). 
An FAQs document published in June addressed several 
pertinent questions, particularly in relation to expiring 
employment contracts (agreements terminating at the end 
of the season) and new contracts (those already signed and 
due to commence at the start of the following season), as 
well as employment agreements that could not be 
performed as the parties originally anticipated, and 
transfer windows.

All documents were made publicly available in a dedicated 
COVID-19 resource centre on FIFA.com.

Return to Football – International Match Protocol
Keeping pace with the evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
FIFA developed a blueprint to ensure the safe return of 
international football. The Return to Football – International 
Match Protocol was the result of extensive consultation with 
the six confederations and stakeholder representatives,  
and was shared with FIFA’s 211 MAs and the confederations. 

The FIFA protocol provides important safeguards and 
measures in line with WHO recommendations for the health 
and safety of players and delegates while simultaneously 
facilitating a return to play. A dedicated FIFA team was 
established to support the implementation of the required 
measures and safeguards for all international matches.

The competition regulations for FIFA World Cup 2022™ 
qualifiers were adapted to reflect the new mandatory 
measures and the use of up to five substitutes, and several 
temporary amendments to rules on the release of players in 
the Regulations on the Status and Transfer of Players were 
also made to provide the flexibility and assurance needed for 
all national teams, clubs and players.

33



FIFA Annual Report 2020

International match calendars
With ongoing comprehensive consultation by the FIFA-
Confederations COVID-19 Working Group with football 
stakeholders over the course of the year, the FIFA Council 
passed a series of amendments to the men’s and women’s 
international match calendars, adopting a tailor-made and 
flexible approach for each confederation that reflected the 
varied circumstances of the pandemic around the globe.

Postponement/cancellation of FIFA tournaments
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the competitions scheduled 
for 2020 were either postponed to 2021 (FIFA Club World 
Cup Qatar 2020™) or cancelled (FIFA U-20 Women’s World 
Cup 2020™ and FIFA U-17 Women’s World Cup 2020™). In 
the latter case, the hosting rights for the 2022 editions were, 
however, granted to the respective countries that had been 
due to host the 2020 editions.

Return to football | #WeWillWin
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29
virtual meetings

205
member associations

FIFA virtual summits
In July and August, 29 virtual meetings were held with the 
presidents of FIFA’s MAs, replacing the annual FIFA 
Executive Football Summits. In total, 205 MAs took part in 
the meetings, along with the six confederations.

The agenda was primarily focused on the FIFA COVID-19 
Relief Plan, as well as on other decisions taken by FIFA 
during the COVID-19 pandemic to help the world football 
community at all levels.

Each MA was given the opportunity to provide an update 
on the current status of health and football in their country, 
as well as to discuss topics of strategic importance, such as 
men’s and women’s national team football, club football 
and grassroots youth football.

The MAs identified the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan as 
enabling them to not only cover their own financial losses 
due to the pandemic, but to also support their wider 
football communities.

In these very particular times,  
it is of crucial importance to  
have a direct and open dialogue 
with the member associations,  
in order to assist them in the  
best way we can. 
FIFA President  
Gianni Infantino

”

”

Return to football | #WeWillWin
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Virtually, The Best

The Best FIFA Football Awards™ 
2020, held as a virtual event at the 
Home of FIFA in Zurich, crowned 
two household names, Lucy Bronze 
and Robert Lewandowski, as the 
game’s outstanding women’s and 
men’s players.

Return to football | The Best FIFA Football Awards™ 2020
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Netherlands women’s national-team boss Sarina Wiegman 
was named The Best FIFA Women’s Coach for the second 
time in her career following her 2017 success. Meanwhile, 
Jürgen Klopp claimed The Best FIFA Men’s Coach Award for 
the second consecutive year, having steered Liverpool to the 
English Premier League title for the first time, 30 years after 
their last top-flight success.

Germany and Bayern Munich’s Manuel Neuer was chosen as 
The Best FIFA Men’s Goalkeeper, while France and Olympique 
Lyonnais’ Sarah Bouhaddi capped her amazing career with 
The Best FIFA Women’s Goalkeeper Award.

Return to football | The Best FIFA Football Awards™ 2020
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Lionel Messi 
Barcelona

Trent Alexander-Arnold  
Liverpool

Virgil van Dijk 
Liverpool

Sergio Ramos 
Real Madrid

Alphonso Davies 
Bayern Munich

Joshua Kimmich 
Bayern Munich

Kevin De Bruyne 
Manchester City

Thiago Alcântara 
Bayern Munich 

Liverpool

Cristiano Ronaldo 
Juventus

Robert Lewandowski 
Bayern Munich

The Best FIFA Football Awards™ 2020

Return to football | The Best FIFA Football Awards™ 2020

The Best FIFA Men’s Player 
Robert Lewandowski 
Bayern Munich

The Best FIFA Men’s Goalkeeper
Manuel Neuer 
Bayern Munich

The Best FIFA Men’s Coach
Jürgen Klopp 
Liverpool

The Best FIFA Women’s Coach
Sarina Wiegman 
Netherlands national team

The Best FIFA Women’s Player
Lucy Bronze 
Olympique Lyonnais/Manchester City WFC

The Best FIFA Women’s Goalkeeper 
Sarah Bouhaddi 
Olympique Lyonnais

“I would like to share this trophy with my club, 
my president (Jean-Michel Aulas). It’s thanks to 
them that I am here today. I worked a lot, but 
they gave me everything I needed to reach the 
top level.” Sarah Bouhaddi

Alisson Becker 
Liverpool

FIFA FIFPRO Men’s World 11
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FIFA Puskás Award
Son Heung-min Korea Republic
Tottenham Hotspur v. Burnley,  
Premier League – England (7 December 2019)

FIFA Fan Award
Marivaldo Francisco da Silva Brazil
With no money to pay for transport,  
Marivaldo walks for 12 hours, crossing  
three cities, to watch his team Sport  
Recife’s home matches.

FIFA Fair Play Award
Mattia Agnese Italy
During a game, Mattia, a 17-year-old from 
Ospedaletti (in the Liguria region), saw an 
opponent fall to the ground and lose 
consciousness. He did not hesitate for a 
moment, rushing to the player’s aid, getting 
him into a safe position and ultimately saving 
his life before help arrived.
 
“Often in the football world, there is a 
tendency to see the opponent as the worst 
enemy, but in reality, respect and 
sportsmanship should be the fundamental 
values of this sport.” Mattia Agnese

Pernille Harder 
VfL Wolfsburg 

Chelsea FC Women

Christiane Endler 
Paris Saint-Germain

Millie Bright 
Chelsea FC Women

Wendie Renard 
Olympique Lyonnais

Lucy Bronze 
Olympique Lyonnais 
Manchester City WFC

Verónica Boquete  
Utah Royals 

AC Milan Women

Barbara Bonansea 
Juventus Women

Tobin Heath 
Portland Thorns 

Manchester United WFC

Megan Rapinoe 
OL Reign

Delphine Cascarino 
Olympique Lyonnais

Vivianne Miedema 
Arsenal WFC

FIFA FIFPRO Women’s World 11
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Football in 2020 vision

On the fourth anniversary of 
Gianni Infantino’s election as  
FIFA President, FIFA published his 
action plan for the organisation 
over the course of the coming 
years: Making Football Truly 
Global: The Vision 2020-2023.

Following the successful reform of FIFA, it was time to look  
at the whole football landscape and identify the areas on 
which world football’s governing body should focus. 
Ultimately, FIFA’s key mission is to truly globalise, popularise 
and democratise football for the benefit of the entire world.

“This document lays out a plan to further modernise the 
football world, make it increasingly inclusive and pave the 
way to a landscape in which, one day, we will have at least 
50 national teams and 50 clubs from all continents at a top 
competitive level,” said President Infantino. 

The global game | The Vision 2020-2023
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1.  Modernise the football  
regulatory framework
The rules governing football are established to protect the 
game in its entirety. To fulfil this purpose, it is crucial to 
continuously modernise the regulatory framework, thereby 
ensuring that its transparency is safeguarded on a global scale 
and that the interests of all football stakeholders around the 
world are taken into account.

2.  Grow revenues sustainably for 
further reinvestment in football
Investing in football is FIFA’s chief priority; it is the ultimate 
goal behind a number of programmes dedicated to 
supporting the member associations and other football 
stakeholders. Building on the solid foundation provided by the 
FIFA World Cup™, new sustainable revenue streams need to 
be achieved in order to ensure the continuous flow of such 
investment.

3.  Increase the efficiency and  
efficacy of the organisation
It is FIFA’s duty to serve the football movement and meet  
the needs of its members. To do so, it should adopt a  
service-oriented approach and continuously increase its 
organisational capabilities to become increasingly efficient 
and effective.

Making Football Truly Global: The Vision 2020-2023 is a blueprint for  
FIFA to pursue its stated objective while navigating a fast-changing 
world. It revolves around 11 key goals, each comprising four pillars, 
which range from delivering sustainable tournaments to creating more 
opportunities for member associations to host a FIFA tournament; from 
creating unique experiences for fans and global audiences to fighting 
racism and all other forms of discrimination.

11 goals to make football truly global

The global game | The Vision 2020-2023
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4.  Ensure the success of  
our iconic competitions
FIFA competitions are the perfect stage to showcase top 
football talent from around the world and to make billions of 
football fans dream. The outstanding success of the FIFA 
World Cup™, the FIFA Women’s World Cup™ and FIFA’s new 
global club football tournament is pivotal to keeping this 
virtuous cycle running.

5.  Globalise our competitions
Football is becoming more and more global. In the same 
vein, FIFA strives to ensure that its competitions are 
genuinely global events in terms of inclusivity, location, 
audience and, most of all, impact.

6.  Increase global competitiveness
When it comes to the level of football, the disparity between 
different regions of the world has been steadily widening.  
FIFA should take concrete steps to bridge this gap, with the 
long-term ambition of bringing at least 50 national teams  
and 50 clubs from all continents to a top competitive level.

The global game | The Vision 2020-2023
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7.  Maximise our impact on  
global football development
FIFA’s statutory objective is to improve the game constantly 
and promote it globally. This involves enhancing the football 
development landscape so that it has a positive impact around 
the globe, across all disciplines – whether men’s football, 
women’s football, youth football, futsal or beach soccer.

8.  Accelerate the growth  
of women’s football
All over the world, girls and women play football with great 
passion. Bolstering the women’s game, as well as the 
participation of women in football governance at all levels, is 
at the top of the game’s agenda around the world. FIFA will 
continue to support this process by structurally boosting the 
participation of women in the game and its governance.

9.  Harness technology in football
Over the course of the past few years, technology has 
permeated the football world, reshaping the way people think 
about the sport and presenting a wide array of possibilities. 
FIFA should ensure that technology is used to the best of its 
potential with the aim of improving the quality of the football 
experience on and off the pitch.

The global game | The Vision 2020-2023
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10.  Protect positive values in football
Football’s core values are the reason why it is more than a 
game. It is FIFA’s duty to protect and foster these values, 
ensuring that they remain strong around the world and 
maximising their potential to positively impact the football 
movement as a whole.

11.  Impact society through  
the power of football
The power of football in society is on display every day around 
the world. It is a game that brings people together, inspires 
generations and promotes team spirit. FIFA is dedicated to 
harnessing this power in order to have a positive social impact 
and address global challenges such as climate change, thereby 
contributing tangibly to the UN Sustainable Development 
Goals.

The global game | The Vision 2020-2023
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The global game | The Vision 2020-2023

Making football 
truly global, at 
every level, is the 
core task for FIFA  
to pursue over  
the coming years.
Gianni Infantino 
FIFA President

”

“
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The global game | Beyond the pitch

As well as working with the World Health Organization to help limit the 
spread of the coronavirus in the football community, in 2020, FIFA 
engaged with a number of institutional partners on many fronts, using 
football to address important social issues far beyond the pitch.

Social impact

FIFA and UNODC launch joint initiative tackling crime and 
abuse
FIFA and the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime 
(UNODC) jointly reiterated their commitment to address 
threats posed by crime to sport through a landmark 
memorandum of understanding (MoU).

UNODC Executive Director Ghada Waly specifically identified 
FIFA as an ideal partner to help in safeguarding football and 
sporting events from both corruption and crime. “Strength 
and cooperation between UNODC and FIFA will support 
governments and sports organisations to pursue effective 
anti-corruption action, building on the strong foundation 
provided by the UN Convention against Corruption.”

In addition to tackling crime and corruption, the wide-ranging 
MoU also pledges to consider ways in which football can be a 
vehicle to strengthen youth resilience to crime and substance 
use through the provision of life-skills training.

The cooperation between FIFA and UNODC will also extend 
to ensuring that children and young athletes are kept safe 
from violence and exploitation, via programmes such as FIFA 
Guardians™, while also harnessing the benefits of sports for 
women and girls in line with UN resolutions.

FIFA launched a consultation process that includes sports 
organisations, intergovernmental authorities, governments 
and specialist agencies with the objective of establishing an 
independent, multi-sports, multi-agency international entity 
to investigate abuse cases in sport. 

“I believe that the world’s game and the United Nations – the 
world’s organisation – make formidable allies in striving for 
development and peace.” 

Ghada Waly,  
UNODC Executive Director
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The global game | Beyond the pitch

Partnership with AFD for African development
As part of its partnership with the French Development 
Agency (AFD), FIFA announced the list of successful projects 
following a call for proposals under the Sport & Health – 
Africa 2020 initiative, launched in July 2020 in response to the 
crisis caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.

The funding allows the participating associations to roll out 
their respective projects, which seek to guarantee access to 
football in countries where the grassroots game is hamstrung 
by a lack of infrastructure or challenging circumstances.  
The initiative is one of a host of projects to have been 
implemented since FIFA and the AFD signed a framework 
agreement in 2019.

FIFA Guardians™ continues momentum  
with PACE child safeguarding panel
FIFA representatives joined leading policymakers and youth 
ambassadors in June to discuss the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on child protection and safeguarding.

Speaking at a webinar organised by the Parliamentary 
Assembly of the Council of Europe (PACE), FIFA Chief Social 
Responsibility and Education Officer Joyce Cook shared 
FIFA’s ongoing safeguarding work.

“Since the launch of FIFA Guardians last year, FIFA is 
continuing to introduce a range of measures to strengthen 
child safeguarding standards within football, including 
developing a FIFA Guardians training and education 
programme and capacity-building opportunities for 
member associations, establishing a dedicated FIFA 
safeguarding unit and launching the #SafeHome campaign 

during the COVID-19 pandemic to mobilise the power of 
football to help end domestic violence, which affects 
millions of women and children each year,” she explained.

#SafeHome campaign in Africa and Europe
The campaign was a joint response from FIFA and the World 
Health Organization (WHO) to spikes in reports in 2020 of 
domestic violence as stay-at-home measures to prevent the 
spread of COVID-19 put women and children experiencing 
abuse at greater risk.

FIFA and the WHO teamed up with the European 
Commission, the African Union and CAF to tackle the issue 
on the two continents via social media campaigns featuring 
FIFA Legends and present footballers, who shared 
important  
video messages offering support and practical advice to 
anyone experiencing violence.

Innovation and the potential for replication were central 
considerations within the assessment process. Besides 
tackling issues such as gender, youth and the environment, 
another requirement was for the projects to be geared 
towards mobilising citizens in the target countries.

A total of eight football projects were selected from the 
15 proposals submitted from across 12 English-, French- and 
Portuguese-speaking countries across sub-Saharan Africa. 
The successful projects use football to address issues ranging 
from education and social inclusion to sexual health and 
environmental awareness.
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The global game | Beyond the pitch

FIFA and the European Commission together against racism
The European Commission launched its new Anti-racism 
Action Plan with the support of FIFA, a long-term partner on 
anti-discrimination matters. 

As well as helping to organise the event, FIFA was 
represented by former Belgium striker and FIFA Legend  
Mbo Mpenza, who shared his experience of racism in Europe 
during a round-table discussion. “This initiative is very 
important for me. I am proud to be a true Belgian, a Belgian 
of colour. Sport has given me so many things in life. But 
unfortunately, racism exists in sport.”

Mpenza expressed his faith in the impact of the action plan: 
“When you see that the European Commission is involved, 
along with FIFA, it shows sport can make a difference. 
Together we can do great things.”

European Commissioner for Equality Helena Dalli was clear 
about the aims of the action plan. “We need to put an 
emphasis on sports and the school curriculum. We need to 
work with schools so kids can ‘unlearn’ the stereotypes they 
hear from society and people around them.”

The fight against discrimination 
Against the backdrop of Black Lives Matter protests around 
the world, FIFA used its considerable platform to reiterate the 
message that discrimination in any form has no place in 
football or society, with a series of digital campaigns in 2020. 
No fewer than 40 FIFA Legends and current professionals, 
each sporting a black jersey, posted messages including 
#StopRacism and #StopDiscrimination on social media, 
reaching tens of millions of fans worldwide.
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The global game | Beyond the pitch

Kick-off meeting for the implementation of ASEAN-FIFA MoU
The inception workshop for the development of the 
collaboration plan under the ASEAN-FIFA memorandum of 
understanding, which aims to leverage football as a catalyst 
for social development and healthy lifestyles in South East 
Asia, took place in August.

Participants included representatives from Ministries of Sport 
and Education of ASEAN member states, the ASEAN 
secretariat and FIFA.

The virtual workshop was an opportunity to provide 
participants with an overview of FIFA’s activities, ranging from 
cooperation with international and regional 
intergovernmental organisations through the fight against 
match manipulation, anti-doping, stadium safety and security, 
and child safeguarding to football development, via the FIFA 
Foundation Football for Schools Programme.

A landmark Middle East peace accord
FIFA added its support to peace efforts in the Middle East, 
with President Gianni Infantino attending the signing of a 
landmark agreement between Bahrain, Israel and the United 
Arab Emirates in Washington DC, USA.

Commenting on the historic initiative, President Infantino 
said: “We want football to continue contributing to positive 
change across the world, especially during the uncertain 
times that we are facing on account of the COVID-19 
pandemic. I am delighted that FIFA can be here to play its 
part in supporting these positive developments.”

While in the US capital, the FIFA President also paid a 
courtesy visit to the offices of the US Department of Justice 
(DOJ) and met the US Attorney General, using the 
opportunity to personally thank the US authorities, and 
especially the DOJ, for their work in the fight against 
corruption in football.

... and a historic agreement between UAE and Israel FAs
The United Arab Emirates Football Association (UAEFA) and 
the Israel Football Association (IFA) signed a historic 
memorandum of understanding (MoU) at a ceremony held in 
Dubai, which was attended by FIFA President Gianni 
Infantino, UAEFA President Sheikh Rashid bin Humaid Al 
Nuaimi and IFA President Oren Hasson. 

Among several joint activities, the MoU will see the 
organisation of friendly matches for national teams and 
clubs, the establishment of joint workshops for the technical 
and administrative members of the two associations, as well 
as the launch of development initiatives that contribute to 
supporting the game in the two countries.
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A new executive chairman
In January, the FIFA Foundation Board appointed Mauricio 
Macri as its Executive Chairman. Macri arrived with an 
extensive track record as a leader at the highest echelon of 
both politics and football, serving as the President of 
Argentina from 2015 to 2019 and the President of Boca 
Juniors from 1995 to 2007, overseeing the most glittering 
period in the club’s history, which yielded 17 trophies, 11 of 
them international.

FIFA President Gianni Infantino, who is also the President of 
the FIFA Foundation Board, said, “Mauricio is the perfect fit 
to lead this project, which aims to harness football to benefit 
society. His experience and vision will undoubtedly enable our 
foundation to step up its efforts and widen its scope of action 
in order to foster social improvements all over the world.”

Partnership for sustainable development 
In August, the FIFA Foundation and UPL Ltd., one of the top 
five agriculture solutions companies worldwide, signed a 
memorandum of understanding, under which they will work 
together to use football as a platform to raise awareness 
about several key social and environmental issues, including 
the positive impact that sustainable development, 
environmental protection, educating young people and 
leading a healthy and active lifestyle can have on society.

In particular, UPL will collaborate with FIFA on the FIFA 
Foundation’s Football for Schools Programme, coordinating 
access to the programme for up to 30 schools in rural areas in 
Brazil, as well as engaging with local authorities in key 
markets.

Together, UPL and the FIFA Foundation will also support 
sustainable development objectives and environmental 
protection efforts through a ten-year programme that  
will enable the reduction of carbon dioxide emissions  
and reward smallholder farmers in developing markets  
for adopting sustainable agricultural practices.

Solid foundations

The FIFA Foundation strengthened its position in 2020 as an influential 
international actor capable of promoting positive social change around 
the world.

As I stated during my presidency 
of the G20, education is a tool that 
can level the playing field in terms 
of opportunities, and it can, hand 
in hand with football, help to build 
bridges and contribute to global 
progress. 
 
Mauricio Macri,  
FIFA Foundation Executive Chairman

”

”

The global game | FIFA Foundation
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Marcus Rashford wins inaugural FIFA Foundation Award 
Manchester United and England star Marcus Rashford’s 
commitment to charitable causes was recognised at The Best 
FIFA Football Awards™ 2020 ceremony, in which he was 
named the first FIFA Foundation Award recipient for his 
outstanding humanitarian work to combat child poverty.

The Manchester-born forward successfully campaigned for 
the UK government to provide over one million school 
children with access to free lunch vouchers. Importantly too, 
Rashford’s profile helped bring greater awareness of the need 
to support charity and community organisations.

In conjunction with the award, the FIFA Foundation 
committed to donate USD 100,000 to support his inspiring 
social and charity work.

”I wanted to make change and  
to give people a better chance at 
life. The kids are looking forward 
instead of behind, they have got 
their heads up instead of down, 
so thank you very much.

Marcus Rashford ”

FIFA Foundation calls for technology to support children’s 
educational needs
The FIFA Foundation called on governments and private 
organisations to harness technological solutions in a 
coordinated way to support children’s educational needs 
across the globe during the coronavirus pandemic, and for 
such solutions to remain part of the curriculum of the future.

“Technology has a place in the curriculum, never more so than 
now,” said FIFA Foundation CEO Youri Djorkaeff. “Through 
the Football for Schools education programme, the FIFA 
Foundation is committed to making lasting changes for 
children across the world. Our mission is to increase and 
promote these new technological realities in schools 
everywhere, with a focus on the most vulnerable because we 
believe that education should provide an equal opportunity 
for all.”

The FIFA Foundation also believes that such technological 
changes should be matched with teacher training at all levels, 
to support the educators and to provide them with both the 
skills and the tools that allow them to best teach and evaluate 
students who are now isolated and not part of a formal class 
environment.

The global game | FIFA Foundation
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Funding  
guaranteed

With the introduction of Forward 2.0 in 2019, the member 
associations saw their development funding entitlement rise 
to five times what it was before the inception of the Forward 
Programme in 2016.

Football landscape | FIFA Forward Programme

Despite the financial threat 
presented by COVID-19 to many 
revenue sources for the football 
industry, Forward Programme 
development funding was 
protected against any such threats 
and remains a guaranteed source 
of investment for FIFA’s member 
associations.

Dedicated entitlements through FIFA football development  
programmes have increased fivefold since 2015 (USD million)

2019 2020 2021 20222015 2016 2017 20182011 2012 2013 2014

Forward 2.0

Forward 1.0

Financial Assistance Programme

328

1,161

1,746

82
82

82
82

82

324

391

364

404

361

437

544
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Football landscape | FIFA Forward Programme

A window on Forward development projects
In a move to bring greater transparency and recognition to 
the groundbreaking work being carried out through Forward 
Programme funding, FIFA introduced a new interactive tool 
on FIFA.com in 2020.

Offering easier access to the stories behind the development 
projects and initiatives, the interactive FIFA Forward Impact 
Map allows users to visualise the latest data related to 
projects and development initiatives being undertaken by  
the 211 member associations across the six confederations, 
including funding allocations.

An array of different case studies can be accessed by  
clicking on member association territories. The stories  
cover the full range of project types offered under the 
Forward Programme, from new pitches in Mongolia and  
a technical centre in Honduras to youth competitions in 
Poland and a whole suite of projects in Botswana.

The map also provides a breakdown of each member 
association’s funding by project type, helping to build a 
picture of their specific needs.
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Football  
Australia

Football landscape | FIFA Forward Programme

Bringing more inclusion and diversity into the game is one  
of FIFA’s main objectives, which is why world football’s 
governing body has been actively supporting Football 
Australia and the Pararoos team in their activities. The 
Pararoos are Australia’s senior men’s national football team 
for athletes with cerebral palsy, acquired brain injury, or 
symptoms induced by stroke.

At the end of 2019, they played their first match on home 
soil since the 2000 Paralympic Games. Taking place in Sydney, 
100% of ticket sales were directly redistributed to support 
the team’s activities. The match had the look and feel of a 
FIFA senior international game, something that Football 
Australia was committed to ensuring in order to make sure 
that the players experienced exactly what the Socceroos and 
Matildas enjoy on a regular basis.

Utilising project funding under Forward 2.0, as well as being 
able to play their first home match in 19 years, the Pararoos 
organised training camps in preparation for the IFCPF 
(International Federation of Cerebral Palsy Football) Nations 
Championship in June 2020.

As well as attracting record crowds, the Pararoos realised the 
highest merchandise spend per fan of any Australian national 
team match in 2019. Matchday activities included 
approximately 200 disabled children getting involved as flag 
bearers, mascots and ball kids, as well as participating in 
half-time mini-games.
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Botswana  
Football Association

Football landscape | FIFA Forward Programme

Developing football in a holistic and sustainable manner  
is the aim of the Botswana Football Association (BFA).  
The foundations were laid in 2016 with the adoption of  
a football strategy promoting grassroots and youth football 
at regional level and focusing on growing women’s football.
 
With the support of FIFA Forward, the BFA has had the 
opportunity to bring its strategy to life and roll out projects 
to nurture more talent, professionalise football 
administration and boost the women’s game.

The organisation of three grassroots festivals and the 
introduction of national U-15 and U-17 leagues with a total 
of 40 participating teams have both improved the level of 
play and enabled coaching and refereeing initiatives.

Meanwhile, the construction of an artificial-turf pitch at the 
BFA’s technical centre in Gaborone has enabled the country’s 
national teams to train regularly in the best possible 
conditions. The pitch also hosts the senior women’s league 
every week and is a focal point for grassroots training and 
coaching/refereeing courses several times per week.

The BFA appointed Tsholofelo Sethoko as its Women’s 
Football Manager, who worked with FIFA’s Women’s Football 
Division to develop a women’s football strategy that includes 
increased coaching opportunities and development 
programmes for young women in the country, which is 
already paying dividends.

The country made it to the second stage of the African 
qualifying competition for the FIFA U-20 Women’s World 
Cup™ for the first time and also reached the semi-finals of 
the inaugural COSAFA Women’s U-17 Championship.

FIFA Forward enabled us to 
start dreaming that Botswana 
can also take its rightful place 
in the world of football.

Maclean Letshwiti, Botswana 
Football Association President

”
”
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Brazilian  
Football Association

Football landscape | FIFA Forward Programme

Despite the difficulties presented by COVID-19, the Brazilian 
Football Association (CBF) inaugurated new headquarters for 
the national Superior Sports Court for Football (STJD).
 
The STJD is the highest instance in Brazilian football law 
matters, and discusses and rules on the legality of events in 
domestic football. It is composed of six disciplinary 
committees, an appeals body, prosecutors and administrative 
staff, with a total of 81 people serving the STJD. 

“We are very pleased with the modernisation of the STJD, 
supported by FIFA’s Forward Programme,” said CBF President 
Rogério Caboclo. “It will bring the necessary innovation and 
most modern technology to the processes and decisions 
related to all parties involved, such as players, clubs and 
competitions, in a country where the football community has 
continental dimensions.”

Since 2012, the number of national competitions has 
expanded from seven to 19, significantly increasing the 
workload and the number of employees needed to deal 
with disciplinary cases.

The innovative offices provide employees and authorities 
with a fit-for-purpose working environment to further 
boost their efficiency and better serve Brazilian football. 
The FIFA Forward funds were crucial to the remodelling of 
the property, equipping it with ample offices and meeting 
rooms, as well as state-of-the-art technology to protect the 
STJD from any possible cyberattacks.
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Canadian  
Soccer Association

Football landscape | FIFA Forward Programme

Despite difficulties resulting from the pandemic, the Canadian 
Premier League (CPL) showed resilience and adaptability by 
organising a highly competitive and safe environment in 
collaboration with the Canadian Soccer Association (CSA) and 
the relevant public health authorities.

The 2020 season was not only designed and implemented in  
a bubble model that allowed the competition to be played  
in a safe manner, it also saw an increase in the number of 
teams that participated in the “Island Games” on Prince 
Edward Island from 14 August to 19 September.

Safety was the top priority and a strict health-and-safety 
protocol developed in consultation between the CSA and 
public health authorities was applied to all players, coaches, 
club and league personnel, match officials, and broadcast 
staff. 

As part of the CSA’s 2019-2021 strategic plan – Canada Soccer 
Nation, the CPL was identified early on as a key FIFA Forward 
project in Canada. Since 2017, FIFA and the CSA have 
collaborated to support this new league aimed at growing  
the top part of Canada’s football pyramid to support the 
national teams’ performance on the international stage. 

The CPL offers a pathway for Canadian players and is a key 
element for football development in the country, with 51 new 
professional Canadian players registered after its first season 
in 2019.
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Papua New Guinea  
Football Association

Football landscape | FIFA Forward Programme

Regular gold medallists at the Pacific Games and perennial 
silver medal winners at the OFC Women’s Nations Cup, 
women’s football was already strongly embedded in Papua 
New Guinea.

However, with their regional hegemony challenged in recent 
years, the Papua New Guinea Football Association (PNGFA) 
has put a renewed focus on developing the local game 
further. With support from FIFA Forward, a revamped 
National Women’s Soccer League kicked off in November 
2020. 

The 13-team competition features seven sides in a  
Lae City-based hub and six teams centred in the capital Port 
Moresby, with some of the FIFA U-20 Women’s World Cup 
2016 venues being utilised.

Accelerating impetus for women’s football in the Pacific is  
the FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023™ to be hosted by Australia 
and New Zealand – another first for the region.
 
“There is huge interest in women’s football and it has grown 
massively over the years,” said PNGFA General Secretary  
Pius Letenge. “Our aim now for 2020 is to identify talented 
women and girls in football for development. These are 
hugely exciting times for female football and as the country’s 
flagship women’s competition, the revamped women’s league 
will have a key role to play in furthering this growth.”
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Swiss  
Football Association
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With the support of FIFA Forward, in mid-2019, the Swiss 
Football Association (SFV) started a 12-month project focusing 
on referee training. 

There are around 4,800 qualified and licensed referees and 
assistant referees in the association, and to maintain high 
standards across all levels of the game, each referee has to 
attend a refresher and/or further training course at least 
twice a year. This is the SFV’s way of ensuring that referees 
and assistant referees keep abreast of the latest changes to 
the Laws of the Game.

“With the help of the project and the support of FIFA, we 
have managed to secure the long-term education and further 
training of Swiss referees via the measures that we have 
taken, and made sure that our investments are sustainable in 
the coming years,” explained Sascha Amhof, who is head of 
the SFV’s refereeing department.

“Overall, we have come away with a positive impression of 
our progress and we are proud of the fact that, as part of the 
FIFA project, we have been able to make an important step 
towards further establishing and maintaining the levels of 
our training structures.”
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Democratising development

FIFA made major progress with a number of initiatives in 2020 aimed  
at helping to raise technical standards in football across the globe.

MAs’ got talent
Over 200 member associations (MAs) signed up for FIFA’s 
first-ever Talent Development Programme, setting a new 
benchmark for technical development initiatives. 

Launched in January 2020 by FIFA’s Chief of Global Football 
Development, Arsène Wenger, the programme aims to 
provide MAs with a thorough analysis of their high-
performance ecosystem in both men’s and women’s football, 
including all national teams, domestic leagues, scouting 
projects and academies, in order to ensure that every 
talented player gets a chance to reach their potential.

“The whole world has signed up for the FIFA Talent 
Development Programme. We are very proud of the high 
number of participants and the trust that all member 
associations have given us,” said Wenger.

“Football has a huge educational responsibility. I hope the 
programme can help children to become top-level players, 
or if not, at least give them the opportunity to follow their 
dreams and play the game that they love,” concluded 
Wenger.

”The FIFA Talent Development 
Programme is aimed at giving 
a chance to every child in 
the world who wants to play 
football and help him or her  
to improve and experience 
positive emotions. 
Arsène Wenger,  
FIFA Chief of Global Football Development”
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FIFA Basic
Spanning ten days of seminars and information sessions,  
FIFA’s third Quality Programme Conference and Research 
Symposium focused on the presentation of FIFA Basic,  
the new quality standard. 

In line with the FIFA President’s vision of making football  
truly global, the FIFA Quality Programme team has created  
a suitable framework for the industry to provide products, 
playing surfaces and technologies that meet the growing 
needs of football at all levels. In addition to the  
well-established FIFA Quality and FIFA Quality Pro standards, 
the new FIFA Basic standard emphasises cost efficiency and 
durability while protecting player safety.

VAR “light” concept taking shape
The Working Group for Innovation Excellence embodies the 
commitment to staying ahead of the curve in a technology 
sector that is rapidly evolving and part of FIFA’s innovation 
road map to 2022.

One of its key topics in 2020 was the development of the VAR 
“light” concept, which aims to create more affordable VAR 
systems to enable the use of VARs at all levels of the game. 

The working group – which comprises 13 competition 
organisers experienced in the use of VAR technology – 
identified variable cost factors and talked about the potential 

quality decrease and the minimum requirements for such a 
technology set-up. 

The next development steps for VAR “light” operations were 
presented at The IFAB’s annual business meeting in 2020 
based on tests that had already seen the total number of 
competitions using VARs grow to 106 worldwide. 

New preparation cycle for FIFA elite referees
Following the success of Russia 2018 and France 2019, a new 
cycle began for FIFA elite referees. In January, nine female 
and 17 male referees joined Pierluigi Collina, chairman of 
FIFA’s Referees Committee, and a team of FIFA instructors in 
Lisbon.

The programme included theory lessons, fitness sessions and 
practical exercises, as well as the subject of video assistant 
referees (VAR). The joint preparation of male and female 
officials is a further step towards FIFA’s objective of reaching 
uniformity in refereeing at a high level.

“How do you stay at the top? Hard work – nothing more, 
nothing less. The new names were able to show how they 
had improved in all areas of refereeing, to hopefully make 
the shortlist to officiate matches at the highest level: the 
FIFA World Cup and the FIFA Women’s World Cup,” said 
Collina.
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FIFA has a commitment to protect the most important actors in football: 
the players. FIFA took bold steps in 2020 to ensure that a safety net  
is in place so that they can focus on what is important: playing the 
beautiful game.

For the players

A global fund for player salary protection
FIFA and world players’ union FIFPRO reached an agreement 
to establish the FIFA Fund for Football Players (FIFA FFP), 
which aims to provide financial support to players who have 
not been paid and have no chance of duly receiving the wages 
agreed with their clubs.

FIFA set aside USD 16 million for the fund, which will be 
distributed over three years up to 2022 and includes an 
amount for the retroactive protection of players’ salaries for 
the period between July 2015 and June 2020.

The agreement envisages the establishment of a monitoring 
committee composed of FIFA and FIFPRO representatives to 
process, assess and act on applications for grants from the 
FIFA FFP. While these grants will not cover the full amount of 
salaries owed to players, the fund will provide an important 
safety net.

Football landscape | Professional football

Football Stakeholders Committee transfer reform
The FIFA Football Stakeholders Committee took further steps 
to reform the transfer system with the establishment of a  
new system for training rewards and, as of July 2020, the 
introduction of limits on player loans to ensure that they  
have a valid sporting purpose for youth development. 

The committee endorsed the establishment of a fund to 
partly finance the payment of training compensation. The 
fund will be financed by an additional 1% levy on transfer 
fees. The modernised system will encourage and reward the 
training efforts of clubs and, as payments become automated 
via the new FIFA Clearing House, will ensure that training 
compensation is paid, which has often not been the case.

Following approval on the principle, a consultation process 
was started with stakeholders to agree on concrete 
parameters for the categorisation of clubs and calculation of 
training costs before the proposal is submitted to the FIFA 
Council with a view to coming into force in 2022.  
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The organisation made support for women’s football a central 
condition of the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan, with USD 500,000 
of funding in the third stage dedicated specifically to 
women’s football initiatives.

As well as financial assistance, FIFA provided a wealth of 
practical and moral support to women’s football around the 
world in 2020.

On to new horizons

Playing for the Matildas in 
Australia will be the highlight 

of my career and an opportunity 
to inspire girls, both in Australia 

and New Zealand, and all over 
the world to play football. 

Australia captain  
Sam Kerr

This will be a chance of a 
lifetime to connect with fans. 
We barely play any home 
games – because we are so far 
away from everywhere else – 
so this is so epic.

New Zealand captain 
Ali Riley

” ”

” ”

The FIFA Women’s World Cup™ heads down under
The FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023™ will be staged in 
Australia and New Zealand, the first edition to be played 
in the southern hemisphere.

In a vote taken by the FIFA Council in June, the joint bid 
submitted by Football Australia and New Zealand Football 
prevailed, receiving 22 of the 35 votes cast by the Council 
members, with the Colombian Football Association having 
obtained 13 votes. The full voting results were published 
on FIFA.com.

Following on from the astounding success of the FIFA 
Women’s World Cup 2019™ in France and the subsequent 
unanimous decision by the FIFA Council, the FIFA Women’s 
World Cup 2023 will be the first edition to feature 
32 teams and it will also be the first to be hosted by 
Australia and New Zealand and across two confederations 
(AFC and OFC).

After a year of explosive growth 
and exposure for the women’s 
game with France 2019, it was 
important for FIFA to keep the 
momentum.
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The biggest FIFA Women’s World Cup™ ever
Following the amazing success of the 2019 edition, the 
decision was taken to expand the FIFA Women’s World Cup™ 
from 24 to 32 teams. FIFA worked closely with the 
confederations to formulate the allocation of slots for the 
2023 edition, confirmed by the Bureau of the FIFA Council.

Direct slot allocation (29 of the 32 participation slots)
The two host countries, Australia and New Zealand, qualify 
automatically and their slots have been taken directly from  
the quotas allocated to their respective confederations:  
the AFC and the OFC.

Women’s Development Programme
Eight new initiatives related to the Women’s Development 
Programme were launched in 2020, including access to 
tailored expertise in conjunction with the publication of the 
new FIFA Women’s Football Administrator Handbook. 
Workshops with over 80 MAs have taken place to support 
women’s football experts to implement many of these 
projects, and women’s football programmes on technical 
leadership are also being delivered to MA technical directors.

Case study: Tongan Football Association
In March 2020, the Tongan Football Association (TFA) 
inaugurated a new FIFA Forward-funded technical centre  
on the Vava’u archipelago, which is the centrepiece of  
the country’s plan to grow and develop the game outside  
of the capital of Nuku’alofa.

Thanks to a pilot project launched under the FIFA Women’s 
Development Programme, the focus turned to supporting 

Direct slot allocations

Play-off slot allocations

Play-off tournament slot allocation (3)
The three remaining slots will be decided through a ten-team 
play-off tournament with the following play-off slot 
allocation.

The play-off tournament will be used as a test event in 
Australia and New Zealand for the FIFA Women’s World Cup.

x6

x2

x4

x2

x4

x2

x3

x2

x1

x1

x11

x1

women’s football on six islands. Participants from the four 
main islands (‘Eua, Tongatapu, Vava’u and Ha’apai) took 
part in the entire programme, while those from two more 
remote ones (Niuafo’ou and Niuatoputapu) took part in the 
Coach Education certificate in Vava’u and received training 
equipment, as well as benefited from a customised training 
programme.

“The start of the programme in ‘Eua, Vava’u and Tongatapu 
was tremendous. We’re doing everything possible in terms 
of working with the clubs and football associations for a 
successful outcome,” said Adelaide Tuivailala, Head of 
Women’s Football at the TFA.

In the absence of football activity due to the pandemic,  
the TFA work with FIFA’s Women’s Football Division 
between April and June to develop a tailored women’s 
football strategy, before completing the tournament 
between the participating islands at the end of the year.
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Women’s Football Administrator Handbook
A key part of The Vision 2020-2023 is to develop the women’s 
game and enhance its professionalisation. Another milestone 
on this journey is the publication of the first-ever Women’s 
Football Administrator Handbook.

The handbook offers a better understanding of how 
strategies, practices and procedures can reinforce the 
objectives of growing women’s football, and aims to foster 
gender equality. It proposes good practices learned from 
experience and directs the reader towards further and specific 
support.

FIFA Chief Women’s Football Officer Sarai Bareman said,  
“This handbook offers guidance and inspiration to enhance 
the support for women’s football, both on and off the pitch, 
and to develop the women’s game further.”

France 2019 Club Solidarity Fund
A year after the USA won their fourth FIFA Women’s  
World Cup™, FIFA published the final report on the solidarity 
funding distributed to clubs from the FIFA Women’s World 
Cup France 2019™.

Following the distribution of FIFA funding via member 
associations (MAs), 822 professional and grassroots clubs from 
39 MAs received a total of USD 8.46 million of solidarity 
funding, to be used to support dedicated youth football and 
development programmes for women and girls.

France 2019 was the first FIFA Women’s World Cup™ where 
professional and grassroots clubs benefitted from receiving 
solidarity funding, which was introduced by FIFA to directly 
support and reward clubs in the development of players who 
play at the tournament.

Based on the principle of rewarding clubs for providing 
players with a professional football pathway, 50% of the 
funding was distributed to clubs that released players for the 
FIFA Women’s World Cup France 2019; the remaining 50% was 
distributed to eligible clubs, including grassroots and amateur 
teams, that trained players between the ages of 12 and 22.
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Momentum grew in FIFA and Qatar’s preparations two years ahead of 
the first-ever FIFA World Cup™ in the Middle East, with major milestones 
achieved in labour conditions and sustainability reporting.

Everything in its right place

First sustainability progress report published
The FIFA World Cup 2022™ First Sustainability Progress Report 
provides an update on the progress made by FIFA, the 
Supreme Committee for Delivery & Legacy (SC) and FIFA 
World Cup Qatar 2022 LLC (Q22) in 2019 regarding their five 
sustainability commitments, including human rights, diversity 
and environmental protection.

“Sustainability remains at the core of our infrastructure and 
tournament operational planning, and by delivering a fully 
carbon neutral FIFA World Cup through these various 
initiatives, we hope to set new standards for sustainable 
mega-event hosting,” said the engineer Bodour Al-Meer, 
SC Sustainability & Environment Senior Manager.

Mahmoud Qutub, the SC’s Workers’ Welfare Executive 
Director, said: “We are driven by a commitment to ensure  
the people building our stadiums and venues are treated with 
the utmost dignity and respect. Tangible changes in worker 
standards on our projects now serve as benchmarks across 
Qatar and the region.”

Earlier in the year, FIFA, Q22 and the SC published the 
development process for the FIFA World Cup 2022 
Sustainability Strategy. The SC also released the FIFA World 
Cup 2022 Sustainable Stadiums report, outlining the 
sustainability features of each tournament venue in relation 
to design, construction and legacy.

The organisers will continue reporting on their progress and 
publish a full sustainability report of the tournament in 2023.

Football landscape | FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™

Groundbreaking legal changes strengthen protection  
of workers’ rights
FIFA welcomed major steps announced by Qatar in the area of 
workers’ rights in September. The adoption of a new law 
removes the need for migrant workers to obtain their 
employer’s permission to change jobs while also establishing, 
for the first time in the region, a non-discriminatory minimum 
wage.

The International Labour Organization (ILO), which played a 
crucial role in bringing about these important changes, 
commented that the reform “effectively dismantles the 
‘kafala’ sponsorship system and marks the beginning of a  
new era for the Qatari labour market.”

“Since the FIFA World Cup 2022 was awarded to Qatar, there 
has been a major collective effort from the local authorities, 
our partner the Supreme Committee for Delivery & Legacy 
and the ILO to bring about positive change, and we are really 
pleased to see that this has materialised into concrete major 
progress in the area of workers’ rights,” said FIFA President 
Gianni Infantino.

The new law was also acknowledged by other international 
organisations such as the International Trade Union 
Confederation, Amnesty International and the Centre for 
Sport and Human Rights.
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23 national teams confirmed for the FIFA Arab Cup 2021™
FIFA President Gianni Infantino confirmed in November that 
22 national teams from the Arab region (since increased to 23 
teams) had signed up to participate in the FIFA Arab Cup™, 
which will be staged from 1 to 18 December 2021. 

Speaking during a visit to Lusail Stadium, which will host the 
FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ final, President Infantino said: 
“We are delighted that all 22 teams from across the Arab 
world have agreed to take part in the FIFA Arab Cup 2021.  
We are confident that the FIFA Arab Cup will help to build 
excitement across the region as we edge ever nearer to 
hosting the first FIFA World Cup in the Middle East and Arab 
world in 2022.”

Two new stadiums unveiled
Two years ahead of the world’s biggest single-sport event, 
Qatar inaugurated two FIFA World Cup stadiums: Education 
City Stadium in June and Ahmad Bin Ali Stadium on Qatar 
National Day in December. 

Secretary General of the SC HE Hassan Al Thawadi, said, 
“Looking ahead to 2021, we look forward to unveiling more 
stadiums in the new year, as we ensure that all tournament 
venues are delivered well in advance of the big kick-off in 
2022.”

Qatar 2022 qualifying takes shape
The qualifying campaign for the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ 
was hit by a number of organisational challenges in 2020. But 
with the action under way in South America, and draws held 
by UEFA, CAF and Concacaf, the path to the global finals has 
started to take shape in every confederation.
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The FIFA eClub World Cup 2020™ was just one of five 
tournaments held over the year, including the FIFA eNations 
StayandPlay Friendlies, the FIFA eChallenger Series, the FIFAe 
season and the brand-new FIFAe Continental Cup™.

Lockdown legends
Over 100 games were played as part of the FIFA eNations 
StayAndPlay Friendlies, with nations from across the world 
competing in EA SPORTS FIFA 20. Each nation nominated two 
players to battle it out against representatives from other 
countries in their respective region. Many famous eSports and 
football players took part in this unique activation.

Teams consisted of two players: one footballer – or celebrity 
– teaming up with a FIFA eSports player. Some of the biggest 
names in the competitive FIFA scene took part, such as  
wcurrent top ten players “WestHamYago”, “Zezinho” and 
“RomaDamie” as well as 2018 FIFA eWorld Cup Champion 
“Msdossary” and the Colombian FIFA eSports legend “Janoz”.

There were plenty of big names from the football world, too, 
with stars like Sergio Agüero, Shinji Okazaki, Diogo Jota, and 
many more showcasing their skills on the virtual pitch.

Purple Mood crowned Asia’s top eFootballers
An exciting final at the FIFAe Continental Cup 2020™ saw 
Purple Mood esport crowned the inaugural FIFAe Continental 
champions. 

The team consisting of “PLMxTANTAY”, “PLMxBRIGHT777” 
and “PLMxBAS69” showcased their consistency throughout 
the group stage, the knockout stage and the finals and 

Stay and play

Football landscape | FIFAe

In a year when most of FIFA’s competitive gaming competitions  
could not go ahead as planned, the FIFAe team had to get creative in  
its engagement of gamers, players and fans.

emerged victorious against 15 other FIFA Online 4 teams from 
China PR, Vietnam, Korea Republic and Thailand.

Victory in the final earned the team ultimate glory and 
USD 100,000 in prize money.

Earlier in the year, FIFA had introduced the FIFAe Continental 
Cup to cater to the millions of passionate FIFA Online 4 players 
and to create a new stage for the most talented players and 
teams in the region.

“As we are continuously looking for new and exciting ways  
to engage with the global FIFAe community, we are grateful 
to host such a competition despite the challenging 
circumstances. The incredible passion shown by the 
competitors and fans made the event a special occasion in 
these times,” said Adrian Rölli, Head of eFootball at FIFA.

Complexity conquer the world
The last FIFAe event to be held IRL before lockdown, the FIFA 
eClub World Cup 2020™ saw Complexity Gaming triumph in a 
dramatic finale in Milan to be named the leading club team 
on competitive EA SPORTS FIFA.

The North American side, consisting of “Joksan” and “MaXe”, 
edged Ellevens on penalties after the final showdown went to 
the third leg decider. As well as lifting the trophy, the winning 
duo claimed the top cash prize of USD 40,000.

Complexity become just the third team to claim the eClub 
World Cup, following in the footsteps of two-time winners 
Brondby and KING eSports.
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Despite the COVID-19 crisis and the 
resulting closure of the FIFA World 
Football Museum in Zurich for 
several months, as well as further 
reduced opening hours and a 
significant decline in international 
visitors to the city, 766,834 people 
either enjoyed a trip to the facility 
or engaged with its digital content 
during the year.

Museum  
goes digital  
in pandemic-
dominated 2020

While a total of 88,997 visitors were welcomed to the home 
of football history and culture in 2020, in light of COVID-19, 
the FIFA Museum focused on expanding the range of content 
available via its digital channels, enabling 677,837 people to 
engage with its online resources in 2020.

88,997
visitors in Zurich

677,837
visitors online
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Football governance | Foreword by the chairperson of the Audit and Compliance Committee 

Tomaž Vesel
Chairperson of the Audit and Compliance Committee

However, the serious impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on 
football necessitated an unprecedented response from FIFA. 
Due to its sound financial results, FIFA was in a position to 
react to COVID-19 by rapidly coming to the aid of its member 
associations in need, which took the form of a comprehensive 
USD 1.5 billion support package. Addressing many of the 
most pressing needs of the member associations entailed a 
huge responsibility – to ensure that the funds are spent wisely 
and properly and that a structure is in place to control the 
various steps of the process in distributing funds under the 
FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan. A steering committee was set up 
to oversee and supervise the administration of this plan and 
its impact on beneficiaries and football in general. The final 
control will bring everything full circle with the Audit and 
Compliance Committee. 

In addition, FIFA has continued to lead the way in the fields 
of governance and compliance in sports by holding the 
third edition of its Compliance Summit and by publishing 
the Compliance Handbook, a practical guide for member 
associations to support them in building and strengthening 
their own compliance structure. 

FIFA continues to set the bar high not just for its members, but 
also for other sports organisations. We must not forget that 
the funds that FIFA has entrusted the member associations 
with will always belong to football and we do not want to see 
any misuse; that would be an own goal for the game, which 
we all hope will soon be back to full strength worldwide.

The Audit and Compliance 
Committee is aware that  
although 2020 started well,  
it was a completely different  
ball game for everyone.

FIFA has worked tirelessly since 2016 to become a leading 
exponent of best practices by redesigning its audit and control 
environment. The year 2020 was a test of this system but 
thanks to the efforts of all concerned, the various mechanisms 
proved to be workable and efficient. 

Although at the beginning it was challenging, the Audit and 
Compliance Committee continued its supervisory activities with 
the same high level of quality, in particular for the Forward 
funding. The judicial bodies showed no decrease in their level 
of scrutiny, the Governance Committee discussed pending 
issues, and the Review Committee carried out eligibility tests 
without delay. The standing committees also proved that 
their functions were well embedded in the organisation. At 
the same time, Internal Audit as well as the statutory auditor 
contributed further to the effectiveness of this robust system. 
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Unwavering support for football

As the FIFA Congress convened 
remotely for the first time ever in 
September 2020, President 
Infantino restated FIFA’s support 
for the football community through 
the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan.

Football governance | 70th FIFA Congress

Addressing member association presidents and delegates in 
every time zone, President Infantino referred to FIFA’s 
recently signed memorandum of understanding with the 
UNODC to combat match-fixing, corruption and child abuse, 
as well as other partnerships with major international 
institutions including the World Health Organization, the 
World Food Programme, UNESCO, UN Women, the Council of 
Europe, the African Union, the Association of Southeast Asian 
Nations, and the members of the G20.

The FIFA President also highlighted football’s power as a force 
for good in society, citing the unprecedented move by Qatar 
to improve workers’ rights.

Originally scheduled for a May gathering in Ethiopian  
capital Addis Ababa, the 70th FIFA Congress approved 
regulatory amendments to allow future FIFA Congress 
meetings to be held remotely and to cover exceptions to the 
general prohibition on changing associations and access to  
national-team football for stateless players.
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The Council made important decisions for the future of 
football, chief of which was the selection of Australia 
and New Zealand as hosts of the FIFA Women’s World 
Cup 2023™. 

The Council approved several measures responding to 
COVID-19 and helping football around the world in  
the face of the pandemic and its aftermath, namely the 
FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan, as well as the 2021 annual 
budget and the revised budget for the 2019-2022 cycle, 
following a comprehensive assessment of the financial 
impact of the pandemic.

Strategic oversight

With FIFA stepping up to 
support the global football 
community in a time of 
unprecedented crisis,  
the organisation’s strategic 
body provided expert 
oversight to ensure the 
maximum impact of that 
support. Like much of  
the world, as a result of  
the global pandemic, the  
FIFA Council had to adapt  
its working practices and  
met exclusively by 
videoconference in 2020.

Football governance | FIFA Council

25 June
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On the eve of the 70th FIFA Congress, the Council 
ratified a number of decisions taken by the Bureau of 
the Council, including the approval of the regulations 
governing the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan, which set out 
the conditions for accessing the relevant financial 
support from FIFA, and important changes to the men’s 
and women’s international match calendars.

President Infantino also reported on the virtual summits 
with the member association presidents that had taken 
place in July and August.

The Council passed groundbreaking reforms to better 
protect female players and football coaches. The new 
rules established new global minimum standards  
for female players, particularly in relation to maternity, 
while specific provisions set minimum standards for the 
employment conditions of coaches, recognising the 
crucial role they play in the game.

Following a comprehensive consultation process by the 
FIFA-Confederations COVID-19 Working Group with 
football stakeholders, the Council passed a series of 
additional amendments to the men’s and women’s 
international match calendars.

The Council also heard a report from the FIFA Medical 
Committee, which has established a working group to 
advise on the strategy to tackle concussion in football.

17 September 4 December
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Fit for purpose

Despite the impact of the pandemic 
on everyday working practices, 
with a renewed mission to make 
football truly global, the 
organisation continued to expand 
its workforce in 2020.

A new FIFA Team Handbook was launched digitally to define 
improved rules of play and working conditions for the 
administration, including more opportunities to work from 
home (mandatory, where possible, during the pandemic) and 
an extension of maternity leave from 14 to 16 weeks. 

The new handbook also implements the HR & Services 
strategy of establishing a “new normal” by reducing the use 
of office space and modifying FIFA’s approach to travel, 
potentially reducing its carbon footprint in the process.
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1,055

855

58% 42%

40

86

65 108 27

Total full-time 
employees

President

President’s Office

Public Affairs

Tournaments & Events

Technical Development

Member Associations

Refereeing

Women’s Football

DSG Football Office

Communications

Commercial

Finance

HR & Services

Legal & Compliance

Independent Committees

Internal Audit & Risk 
Management

Executive Office

Male

16-25  |    2.2%  

26-35  |  36.0%  

36-45  |  37.3%  

46+  |  24.5%  

Female

Average  
age

nationalities

Secretary General

FIFA Foundation

FootballAdministration
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Fair and transparent

The organisation wasted no time in doing just that in 2020, 
pushing ahead with a range of reforms and initiatives aimed 
at making the rules and regulations of football work better 
for stakeholders and increasing the wealth of information 
available to the football family.

3rd FIFA Compliance Summit
Bringing together governance and compliance experts and 
practitioners, the 3rd FIFA Compliance Summit opened with 
keynote speeches on best practice and emerging trends in 
compliance and good governance from such notable speakers 
as former US Attorney General Loretta E. Lynch and Director 
of the Ethics Office of the United Nations Secretariat Elia Yi 
Armstrong.

The week-long summit saw over 380 individual participants 
from more than 150 member associations (MAs) take part in 
practical working sessions on the first-ever FIFA Compliance 
Handbook.

Lynch highlighted FIFA’s commitment to compliance:  
“It was not too long ago that the world of football found 
itself in a state of upheaval and chaos as a result of the 
systemic corruption and misconduct over decades. Since 
then, together with all of you, FIFA has made great efforts 
to educate, train and promote a culture of compliance. 
Thank you, President Infantino, for your acknowledgement 
of the importance of compliance.”

FIFA Compliance Handbook
The first-ever FIFA Compliance Handbook is an interactive 
tool that aims to provide MAs and the confederations with 
practical guidance and scalable building blocks that can be 
used to develop a tailored compliance programme within 
their organisation. It covers the basic principles and benefits 
of adopting compliance guidelines and financial governance 
best practices.

One of FIFA’s key goals under The Vision 2020-2023 is to modernise  
the football regulatory framework. 

I am heartened to hear of 
FIFA’s renewed commitment 
to transparency and ethical 
behaviour and its desire 
to improve the compliance 
environment throughout all 
of football.

Former US Attorney General  
Loretta E. Lynch

”

”
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Compliance 3.0
In 2020, FIFA rolled out a more dynamic compliance 
programme. Compliance 3.0 is based on two pillars: the first 
is about making compliance processes and resources more 
relevant and accessible to all stakeholders in a simplified and 
interactive format. The second pillar focuses on technology 
for a more efficient compliance function tailored to the 
needs of FIFA, as exemplified by a new compliance portal that 
forms a one-stop shop for all compliance-related topics. 

Reporting for transparency
FIFA continued to bring greater openness and transparency to 
its internal processes in 2020 by publishing all of its 
statements, reports and decisions on its dedicated platform, 
legal.FIFA.com. 

The most important publications included the first-ever 
annual report of the Players’ Status Department, as well as 
reports on the activities of the two main independent judicial 
bodies, the Disciplinary and Ethics Committees, and on FIFA’s 
anti-doping activities.

FIFA also published the comprehensive new FIFA Legal 
Handbook, which gathers all of the latest FIFA regulations, 
statutory documents and relevant circulars in one place 
electronically for the first time.

Delayed due to the pandemic, the 2nd edition of the Football 
Law Annual Review was held by FIFA as an open online event 
that was streamed live on FIFA.com.

FIFA developed a toolkit of new and updated integrity 
resources that present the best practices that member 
associations and confederations should use as a day-to-day 
reference tool to promote integrity and protect football 
competitions from match manipulation.

FIFPRO and FIFA signed a collaboration agreement endorsing 
a smartphone app that allows professional footballers to 
anonymously report match-fixing approaches, complementing 
existing confidential reporting platforms already introduced 
by FIFA.1

PLAYERS’ STATUS  
DEPARTMENT  
REPORT 2019/2020
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Labour protection for female players and football coaches
In December, the FIFA Council approved groundbreaking 
reforms to better protect female players and football 
coaches. The new rules, resulting from extensive 
consultations with football stakeholders, establish new 
global minimum standards for female players, particularly 
in relation to guaranteed maternity leave, protection from 
dismissal and the right to return to work. 

FIFA also introduced specific provisions establishing 
minimum standards for the employment conditions of 
coaches, recognising the crucial role they play in the game. 
The new provisions bring greater clarity to the form and 
stability of coaches’ employment contracts.

The additions to the Regulations on the Status and Transfer 
of Players set a minimum standard globally, with each 
member association free to offer higher protection.

Manual on third-party influence and ownership
Published in September, the Manual on Third-Party 
Influence and Third-Party Ownership in Football 
Agreements aims to inform football stakeholders and the 
general public about how FIFA interprets and applies 
articles 18bis and 18ter of the Regulations on the Status 
and Transfer of Players.

The manual addresses long-standing interest in the two 
provisions, the development of the football transfer system, 
the increasing complexity of employment- and transfer-related 
agreements, and the need to provide legal certainty.

2nd FIFA Data Protection Summit
This one-day virtual conference brought together more than 
300 attendees, representing MAs, confederations, clubs, 
leagues and players, who heard from a broad selection of 
speakers discussing critical matters for the world of sport. The 
main discussion points included the management of health 
data, the introduction of new technologies and their impact 
on data protection, the use of data across borders and the 
protection of players’ data.

The summit provided an opportunity for FIFA to present its 
latest tools in the field of data protection, in particular the 
new FIFA Data Protection Portal, a one-stop shop for all of 
FIFA’s potential counterparts. 

First-ever pro bono counsel workshop
The 2019 editions of the FIFA Disciplinary Code and Code of 
Ethics provide for individuals with limited financial means to 
request legal aid and apply for pro bono counsel to assist 
them in their defence during proceedings before the relevant 
FIFA judicial bodies.
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In November 2020, 21 experienced lawyers from around the 
world selected for this service refreshed their knowledge 
about the procedures before FIFA’s judicial bodies in the 
first-ever pro bono counsel workshop.

Education for the win
In 2020, for the first time, FIFA launched two long-term, 
high-level legal education initiatives, with plans for more in 
the near future. 

The FIFA Diploma in Football Law marks a new chapter in 
the long partnership between FIFA and the International 
Centre for Sports Studies. With five modules taking place 
across five different continents over 13 months, the first 
edition commenced its opening module at the Concacaf 
headquarters in Miami in February.

The vocational programme will give the 26 participants a 
deep insight into football structures and transfer 
regulations as well as disciplinary, doping and integrity 
matters and proceedings.

The Executive Programme on Sports Arbitration is tailored 
towards lawyers with an interest in sports law and/or 
in-house legal counsel of international and national 
federations, clubs, leagues and player unions. It provides an 

introduction to the Court of Arbitration for Sport (CAS), the 
fundamental aspects of CAS proceedings and its high-profile 
cases.

The programme is aimed at providing a hands-on approach 
to all aspects related to proceedings before CAS.

legal.FIFA.com
Launched in late 2019, FIFA’s legal portal was further 
enriched in 2020 to provide more in-depth information 
about the activities of the Legal & Compliance Division.

As well as publishing every single decision, along with its 
grounds, issued by FIFA’s judicial bodies, legal.FIFA.com also 
features all football-related awards made by CAS  
immediately after their issue. 

This sub-section of FIFA.com provides a catalogue of all FIFA 
Legal publications, presents the organisation’s various 
activity areas from compliance to anti-doping, and is also a 
hub for webinars with distinguished speakers.

Legal.FIFA.com is an indispensable tool for anyone working 
in football administration.

Football governance | Legal and compliance
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As part of FIFA’s statutory 
commitment to transparency,  
the annual compensation paid 
to the key members of FIFA 
senior management, the 
chairpersons of its committees 
and the members of the FIFA 
Council is published below.

Compensation

*      Net amounts may vary depending on the taxation situation of the individual Council member.

**    An annual pension payment is made to long-serving FIFA Council members not falling under the FIFA Compensation, Expenses and Benefits Regulations  
for Senior Officials, which entered into force in March 2017. Previous pension entitlements are limited to a maximum of the number of years that the 
member has served on the Council.

***  This total covers the compensation of the President and the Secretary General, the two Deputy Secretaries General and the 11 division Chief Officers.  
It also includes separation costs for former members of the FIFA management paid during 2020.

The gross salary (variable) awarded in 2020 will be paid in 2021. The amounts listed above are before taxes payable by the President and the Secretary General. 
As with all of its employees, FIFA contributes to the Swiss social charges, pension fund, accident insurance and other employee benefits for both the President 
and the Secretary General.

FIFA Council
According to the rules and principles in place for 2020,  
FIFA Council vice-presidents who are also confederation 
presidents each receive a net annual compensation  
of USD 300,000* (USD 300,000 in 2019). FIFA Council  
vice-presidents who are not confederation presidents, and 
FIFA Council members each receive a net annual 
compensation of USD 250,000* (USD 250,000 in 2019).  
Each member also receives a daily allowance while on duty  
of USD 250, or USD 150 if FIFA covers breakfast and lunch  
or dinner.

Under the FIFA Compensation, Expenses and Benefits  
Regulations for Senior Officials, FIFA covers the employer’s 
and employee’s social security contributions. Withholding 
taxes are deducted from the compensation and paid directly 
by FIFA to the tax authorities. FIFA does not cover social 
security contributions or taxes that may also be due in the 
Council member’s country of residence.

FIFA Council members and FIFA senior management

FIFA President and FIFA Secretary General

All figures in USD Without pension contributions With pension contributions

FIFA Council members** 12,710,389 12,766,309

FIFA management*** 17,829,777 19,376,035

Total 30,540,166 32,142,344

All figures in CHF Gross salary (base) Gross salary (variable) Flat-rate allowances

FIFA President Gianni Infantino 1,950,000 1,030,000 24,000

FIFA Secretary General Fatma Samoura 1,300,000 300,000 24,000
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Members of the FIFA Council*

Name Nationality Member since

President Gianni Infantino Switzerland/Italy 2016

Senior Vice-President Shk. Salman bin Ebrahim Al Khalifa Bahrain 2013

Vice-presidents

Alejandro Domínguez Paraguay 2016

Vittorio Montagliani Canada 2016

Aleksander Čeferin Slovenia 2016

Sándor Csányi Hungary 2017

Lambert Maltock Vanuatu 2018

Members

Hany Abo Rida Egypt 2009

Sunil Gulati USA 2013

Lydia Nsekera Burundi 2012

Tarek Bouchamaoui Tunisia 2015

Constant Omari Congo DR 2015

Kohzo Tashima Japan 2015

Sonia Fulford Turks and Caicos Islands 2013

Fernando Sarney Brazil 2015

Pedro Chaluja Panama 2016

Luis Hernández Cuba 2016

María Sol Muñoz Altamirano Ecuador 2016

Evelina Christillin Italy 2016

Almamy Kabele Camara Guinea 2016

Ramón Jesurún Colombia 2016

Dejan Savićević Montenegro 2017

Mahfuza Akhter Kiron Bangladesh 2017

Mariano Araneta Philippines 2017

Alexey Sorokin Russia 2017

Fernando Gomes Portugal 2017

Georgios Koumas Cyprus 2018

Walter Nyamilandu Malawi 2018

Johanna Wood New Zealand 2019

Rajesh Patel Fiji 2019

Du Zhaocai China PR 2019

Praful Patel India 2019

Saoud Al Mohannadi Qatar 2019

Noël Le Graët France 2019

Ignacio Alonso Uruguay 2019

*    As at 31 December 2020, the FIFA Council comprised 35 members, with two vacant positions still to be filled.
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FIFA committees
Chairpersons, deputy chairpersons and all members of 
independent committees and the independent members of 
all standing committees receive flat-rate compensation as 
outlined below.

Members of the Audit and Compliance Committee and of 
the investigatory chamber of the Ethics Committee receive 
annual compensation of USD 15,000. Members of the other 
independent committees and the independent members of 
all standing committees receive annual compensation of 
USD 7,300, with the exception of the independent member 
of the Compensation Sub-Committee, who receives annual 
compensation of USD 35,000. As of March 2020, members of 
the Dispute Resolution Chamber and single judges of the 
Players’ Status Committee also receive annual compensation 
of USD 7,300.

In addition to the annual flat-rate compensation paid to 
chairpersons and deputy chairpersons, members of 
independent committees and independent members of all 
FIFA standing committees are granted a daily allowance 
while on duty of USD 250, or USD 150 if FIFA covers 
breakfast and lunch or dinner.

Members who do not receive annual compensation are 
granted a daily allowance while on duty of USD 300, or 
USD 200 if FIFA covers breakfast and lunch or dinner. In 
addition, members of FIFA’s committees may be separately 
compensated for special assignments given to them by the 
respective committee. No bonuses of any kind are granted.

The following figures represent the total gross compensation 
in USD dollars, excluding daily allowances and employees’ 
social security contributions covered by FIFA, due in 2020.

Audit and Compliance Committee
The total costs of the Audit and Compliance Committee in 
2020 were USD 105,042, which includes daily allowances, 
travel/transport, accommodation and meals, external 
services and staff-related costs.

Judicial bodies
The total costs of FIFA’s judicial bodies in 2020 were 
USD 1,937,766, which includes daily allowances,  
travel/transport and security, accommodation and meals, 
freelance contractors, translation/interpreting, printed 
materials, IT hardware/software and communications, legal 
consultancy and staff-related costs.

The costs were as follows:
• Ethics Committee:  USD  1,219,542
• Disciplinary Committee:  USD  409,008
• Appeal Committee:  USD  309,216

Committee chairpersons and deputy chairpersons
The annual compensation for the chairpersons and deputy 
chairpersons of the independent and standing committees  
is detailed in the table opposite.

Transactions with related parties
FIFA’s related-party policy requires FIFA officials to disclose 
related parties and related-party transactions in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  
Each year, all Council members renew their Related-Party 
Declarations, thereby identifying any relevant possible 
conflicts of interest. Any such disclosures are managed on a 
case-by-case basis.

External audits
Under the FIFA Statutes, the external auditors (currently PwC) 
are appointed by the FIFA Congress, and are responsible for 
auditing the annual consolidated financial statements of  
FIFA and submitting an audit report to the FIFA Council. In 
addition to the statutory audit, PwC also provided other 
assurance-related and non-audit services to FIFA.

All figures in USD 2020

Statutory audit fees* 750,760

Fees for other assurance-related audit services 621,000

Fees for non-audit services 544,499

*  Total statutory audit fees are based on PwC engagement letters in the 
2020 financial year and exclude out-of-pocket expenses.
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*    Tomaž Vesel is also the chairperson of the Compensation Sub-Committee but did not receive any compensation for this role.

**  Members of the FIFA Council do not receive additional compensation for their roles as chairpersons and deputy chairpersons of FIFA committees.

Individuals ending or starting their terms during the year were compensated on a pro-rata basis.

As at 31 December 2020

Committee Role Name

Annual gross base
compensation
in 2020 (USD)

Independent committees

Audit and Compliance
Chairperson Tomaž Vesel* 246,000

Deputy chairperson Chris Mihm 35,000

Ethics – investigatory chamber

Chairperson María Claudia Rojas 246,000

Deputy chairperson Bruno De Vita 75,000

Deputy chairperson Martin Ngoga 75,000

Ethics – adjudicatory  

chamber

Chairperson Vassilios Skouris 215,000

Deputy chairperson Fiti Sunia 53,000

Disciplinary
Chairperson Anin Yeboah 160,000

Deputy chairperson Alejandro Piera 26,000

Appeal
Chairperson Thomas Bodström 160,000

Deputy chairperson Neil Eggleston 26,000

Standing committees

Development
Chairperson Shk. Salman bin Ebrahim Al Khalifa** -

Deputy chairperson Lydia Nsekera** -

Finance
Chairperson Alejandro Domínguez** -

Deputy chairperson Sandra Fruean 26,000

Football Stakeholders
Chairperson Vittorio Montagliani** -

Deputy chairperson Evelina Christillin** -

Governance Committee and 

Review Committee

Chairperson Mukul Mudgal 160,000

Deputy chairperson Olli Rehn 35,000

Medical Chairperson Michel D’Hooghe 53,000

Member Associations
Chairperson Vacant -

Deputy chairperson Sonia Fulford** -

Organising Committee for 

FIFA Competitions

Chairperson Aleksander Čeferin** -

Deputy chairperson María Sol Muñoz Altamirano** -

Players’ Status
Chairperson Raymond Hack 53,000

Deputy chairperson Mahfuza Akhter Kiron** -

Players’ Status – Dispute  

Resolution Chamber

Chairperson Geoff Thompson 160,000

Deputy chairperson Cliff Hendel 75,000

Deputy chairperson Omar Ongaro 75,000

Referees
Chairperson Pierluigi Collina 215,000

Deputy chairperson Hany Taleb Al-Raeesi 7,300
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Foreword by the chairman of the Finance Committee | 2020 financials in review

Alejandro Domínguez 
Chairman of the Finance Committee

Unprecedented financial support  
to alleviate the impact of COVID-19
 

At year end, FIFA’s financial position remained healthy and 
robust with sufficient reserves, maintaining FIFA’s ability to 
react quickly to unexpected circumstances alongside its 
regular commitments. By way of example, FIFA was able to set 
up the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan without dropping its 
commitment to invest USD 1 billion in women’s football over 
the current four-year cycle.

As far as planned investment was concerned, FIFA’s total 
investments in 2020 amounted to USD 774 million. FIFA’s 
revenue in 2020 was in line with its revised budget. At the end 
of the year, contracted revenue amounted to 
USD 5,125 million, representing 80% of the total budgeted 
revenue for the 2019-2022 cycle. FIFA is well on track to 
achieve its revenue target.

In life, it is a truism that we never know what is coming 
around the corner. We can be thankful that this 
administration is working hard to ensure that, whatever life 
brings us, our sport will withstand it.

The event that dominated life around the world in 2020 also 
inevitably had a significant effect on FIFA’s operations. 
COVID-19 devastated lives and livelihoods everywhere, and 
our sport was not immune. At the peak of the pandemic, 
football had stopped in 207 of FIFA’s 211 member associations.

However, COVID-19 also highlighted the solidarity in our 
football family. FIFA reacted quickly to alleviate the impact of 
the crisis and set up a global financial relief plan with a 
budget of USD 1,500 million to help members of the football 
community. 

This was an unprecedented mobilisation of emergency 
funding in sport that could not have been possible without 
the expert financial management of recent years. It should be 
recognised that FIFA had been working hard long before the 
coronavirus came along to develop the reserves for just such a 
threat to our sport.

FIFA’s proactive approach to tackling the pandemic also 
included a donation of USD 10 million to the World Health 
Organization’s COVID-19 Solidarity Response Fund to help 
FIFA’s institutional partner continue its work in all corners of 
the world.





94 FIFA Annual Report 2020

Revenue | 2020 financials in review

FIFA remains on track 

COVID-19 severely disrupted 
football at all levels in 2020, with 
the cancellation or postponement 
of leagues and FIFA’s football 
tournaments around the world. 
Despite the impact of the 
pandemic on the international 
match calendar and global 
economy, FIFA’s revenue in 2020 
exceeded its revised budget. In 
addition, preparations for its 
flagship tournament, the FIFA 
World Cup Qatar 2022™, are 
proceeding as planned. 

Due to the lack of tournaments played in 2020, the sale of 
licensing rights amounting to USD 159 million produced the 
lion’s share of the revenue generated, and was a significant 
24% above budget. A key source of revenue in the licensing 
rights area was brand licensing for video games. In contrast 
to the many economic sectors that were drastically affected 
by COVID-19, the video game industry proved far more 
resilient to the pandemic. Besides the FIFA eClub World 
Cup™, the FIFA eChallenger Series and the FIFA eNations 
StayAndPlay Friendlies, FIFA also successfully launched the 
FIFA eContinental Cup™. In addition, 2020 saw the 
introduction of FIFAe, a new eSports tournament brand 
designed to create a substantial stage for players, clubs and 
nations. 

The second largest source of revenue was the sale of 
marketing rights amounting to USD 74 million, 76% of which 
came from FIFA Partners. Following on from Qatar Airways 
becoming an Official Partner and the Official Airline of FIFA 
in 2017, another Qatar-based company, GWC, was 
announced as the first Regional Supporter and Official 
Logistics Provider for the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022. 

The decision to postpone or cancel FIFA competitions that 
were scheduled to be hosted in 2020 meant that revenue 
from television broadcasting rights remained low for the 
year, in line with the revised budget. As at the end of 2020, 
92% of the budget for these rights had been contracted for 
the 2019-2022 cycle, so FIFA is well on track to deliver its 
four-year revenue budget. 

Other revenue and income of USD 32 million included 
USD 9 million from the FIFA Quality Programme and 
USD 6 million from penalties and appeals, with the 
remainder coming from rental income, the FIFA World 
Football Museum, income from the sale of films and video 
rights and revenue from prior cycles. No revenue was 
recognised from the FIFA Club World Cup Qatar 2020™, the 
largest contributor to the budget for this category. The 
tournament, originally due to be held in December 2020, 
was rescheduled for February 2021 due to the disruptive 
effect of the COVID-19 pandemic.

FIFA is on track to reach its projected total revenue of 
USD 6,440 million for the 2019-2022 cycle. At the end of 2020, 
contracted revenue amounted to USD 5,125 million, 
representing 80% of the total budgeted revenue for the 
2019-2022 cycle. Specifically, 92% of the 2019-2022 budget for 
FIFA’s largest revenue source, the sale of TV broadcasting 
rights, had already been contracted by 31 December 2020, with 
several international regions having been completely sold. 

The pandemic severely disrupted football around the world, 
with the postponement or cancellation of numerous 
international matches and the majority of FIFA’s tournaments 
in 2020. Nevertheless, 2020 revenue still totalled 
USD 267 million, being 7% above the revised budgeted 
revenue. 

267
+7% versus budget

Total revenue in 2020  
(in USD million)

159
+24% versus budget

Revenue from licensing 
rights in 2020 (in USD million)

80%
Revenue contracts  

signed of  
2019-2022 budget

6,440
Well on track to reach  

cycle budget  
(in USD million)
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Actual revenue 2015-2018 versus revised budget 2019-2022 (USD million)

59%

12%

28%

1%

100% =
USD 267 million

Other revenue and income   32

Licensing rights   159Marketing rights 74

FIFA Quality Programme 9
Penalties/appeals 6
Income from sales of film/video rights 4
Rent from real estate  2
FIFA World Football Museum 2
Revenue from prior cycles and other 9

Television broadcasting rights 2

Other broadcasting revenue  2

Brand licensing rights 157
Other licensing rights 2

FIFA Partners 56
FIFA World Cup Sponsors 17
FIFA Regional Supporters 1

2020 revenue by category (USD million)

Revised budget
2019-2022

Actual revenue
2015-2018

544

80% contracted

6,421 6,440
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Football’s return to action assisted  
by FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan

2020 was without a doubt a 
challenging year, one that required 
a rapid response and extraordinary 
measures to alleviate the impact  
of the crisis and to help the 
football community. The most 
important of these measures was 
a USD 1,500-million relief plan that 
was unanimously approved by the 
FIFA Council. This COVID-19 Relief 
Plan was funded partly from the 
previously agreed budget and 
partly from FIFA’s excess reserves 
in the form of a special budget. 
In the same spirit, FIFA adapted  
its operations to the changing 
situation as quickly as possible,  
in particular by ensuring that the 
Forward Programme continued 
without interruption and with full 
funding, despite the global 
pandemic. 

Together with its member associations, FIFA is committed to 
enabling more and more people to participate in and enjoy 
football. Unfortunately, due to COVID-19, 2020 was a 
particularly challenging year for the game. As the pandemic 
took root, football stopped completely in all but four of FIFA’s 
211 member associations.

FIFA’s total investments in 2020 were fully dedicated to FIFA’s 
overarching goals and to easing the impact of the pandemic. 
Investments amounted to USD 1,045 million, comprising 
planned investments of USD 774 million and USD 271 million 
as emergency investment through stage 3 of the FIFA 
COVID-19 Relief Plan. Furthermore, FIFA adapted quickly to 
COVID-19-related lockdowns and introduced working from 
home as a requirement. Reduced travel and a large-scale 
switch to online meetings and training resulted in a significant 
amount of cost savings, in line with the organisation’s 
continued focus on cost efficiency.

 

Looking ahead
 
In 2020, the FIFA President announced his vision for the 
period of 2020-2023. FIFA’s core mission over the coming 
years is to make football truly global across every level of 
the game. Under the vision, FIFA is taking its investment in 
football development to new heights. By continuing to 
focus on this area, FIFA anticipates that 87% of its net 
revenue after sales costs will be reinvested in football by 
end of the cycle.

FIFA can look back on a successful year, in which it was able 
to implement both focus points in full, as will be examined in 
more detail in the following chapters.
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Emergency investment via the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan Stage 2 – provision of additional support to MAs
In addition to the release of operational-cost entitlements,  
it was decided that MAs should be given the opportunity 
to transform their remaining Forward project funds into 
“COVID-19 relief funds”. These options were approved by  
the Development Committee and Finance Committee in  
May 2020. The existing Forward 2.0 regulatory framework 
continues to apply and MAs are required to inform FIFA of 
how the funds will be used in response to COVID-19 issues. 
The subsequent use of the funds by MAs will be fully 
audited as per the FIFA Forward Regulations.

Stage 3 – support for MAs and the wider football 
community
The third aspect of the relief plan was designed so as to 
provide MAs and confederations with additional financial 
support to help protect football from the adverse 
economic effects of COVID-19 in their individual countries 
and regions.

Since each MA and confederation has different needs, a 
grant-and-loan system was established to allow the 
tailored use of funds available under stage 3 of the relief 
plan. Each MA will be given the opportunity to illustrate 
where the funds are used to ensure the continuous 
development of football in all its forms (including futsal 
and beach soccer) – from grassroots to elite level, for girls 
and boys, women and men – as well as to maintain their 
governance, management and administration systems.

Under stage 3, a universal solidarity grant of USD 1 million 
was made available to each MA to protect football and 
enable its resumption, and an additional grant of 
USD 0.5 million per MA was allocated specifically for 
women’s football. In addition, each confederation was 
entitled to receive a grant of USD 2 million. Furthermore, 
in the interests of solidarity, loans of between 
USD 0.5 million and USD 5 million were made available to 
MAs and confederations. MAs are able to apply for 
interest-free loans of up to 35% of their audited annual 
revenues. In addition, each confederation has access to a 

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, FIFA has 
continuously stressed the need to put health first. 
Safeguarding the public and ensuring the well-being of 
players, officials – indeed, everyone involved in football –  
is of primary importance.

The resultant suspension of all football activity in almost 
every country led to enormous financial distress for each 
member association (MA) and its respective football 
infrastructure. FIFA quickly recognised the need and 
obligation to implement a COVID-19 relief plan aimed at 
alleviating this distress and ensuring the provision of  
financial support to assist with football’s resumption as 
well as protect the future welfare of the game across the 
globe.

FIFA’s very strong financial position enabled a substantial 
financial relief plan to be put in place, amounting to 
USD 1,500 million. A measured approach was adopted, with 
the aim of establishing an effective and meaningful plan 
capable of offering support to the whole football 
community across all 211 MAs. Extensive analysis and 
consultations took place, along with careful consideration 
with regard to establishing an appropriate governance and 
operational structure for the plan.

This work resulted in the implementation of the following 
three-stage approach:

Stage 1 – provision of immediate liquidity relief to MAs
The most urgent priority established was the need for an 
instant injection of liquidity to assist MAs in the immediate 
short term. As a result, in April 2020, the Development 
Committee and Finance Committee approved the 
immediate release of remaining 2019 and 2020 Forward 2.0 
operational-cost entitlements to MAs under the FIFA 
Forward Programme. The subsequent use of these funds by 
MAs will be fully audited as per the FIFA Forward 
Regulations.

1,500
Funds available for the  

FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan  
(in USD million)

1
Solidarity grants for each 

single MA 
(in USD million)

0.5
Grants per MA specifically 

for women’s football  
(in USD million)

Up to 5
Interest-free loans per 
member association  

(in USD million) 
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The implementation of the COVID-19 Relief Plan got off to a 
good start, a key feature being the provision of strong 
compliance and auditing standards. Every single member 
association and confederation that receives funding from 
FIFA will be audited twice: once by the auditors sent by FIFA 
under the current system of central reviews and once by its 
own statutory auditors. 

Olli Rehn, who is the Governor of the Bank of Finland as 
well as deputy chairman of the FIFA Governance Committee, 
was appointed as chairman of the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan 
Steering Committee. Under his leadership, this independent 
body follows and monitors the execution of the FIFA 
COVID-19 Relief Plan, its economic administration, and its 
effective and efficient implementation all over the world.

To speed up the release of the loans, the FIFA administration 
provided support throughout the loan application process 
to ensure good financial governance and continuity across 
all beneficiaries. The subsequent use of the loans by MAs 
will also be fully audited during the annual central review.

For more detailed information, please see the Annexe to 
this report.

loan of up to USD 4 million. Both grants and loans can be 
distributed by MAs to the wider football community in their 
respective territories, including clubs, players, leagues, or 
others that have been affected.

In order to finance stage 3 of the relief plan and provide 
assistance to MAs, the confederations and other football 
stakeholders, an allocation of part of FIFA’s existing excess 
reserves was required.

STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3

Provision of immediate liquidity  
relief to MAs

Provision of additional support  
to MAs

Support for MAs and  
the wider football community

Release of 2019 and 2020  
Forward 2.0 operational-cost 

entitlements to MAs

Transformation of Forward-specific 
project allocations into COVID-19  

relief funds

Grant-and-loan facility to provide 
assistance to MAs, the confederations 

and the wider football community

Financed from existing  
Forward budgets

Financed from existing  
Forward budgets

Financed from FIFA’s excess reserves  
of the 2015-2018 cycle

USD 152 million USD 465 million USD 884 million

USD 1.5 billion
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Regularly budgeted investments in football and 
administration

FIFA’s total investments in 2020 for its regular operations 
amounted to USD 774 million, comprising USD 564 million in 
football activities and USD 210 million in administrative and 
commercial activities, well below the revised budget of 
USD 1,044 million. Due to COVID-19 and the resultant 
restrictions on movement, FIFA introduced working from 
home as a requirement. Travel was reduced to the bare 
minimum, and a large-scale switch to online meetings and 
training produced significant cost savings, which was in line 
with the organisation’s continued focus on cost efficiency.

In 2020, FIFA tournaments, with the exception of its eFootball 
competitions, had to be postponed or cancelled due to the 
global pandemic. As a result, budgets were revised, based on 
the updated international match calendar. Planning and 
preparations, however, continued apace for the FIFA World 
Cup Qatar 2022™, the FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023 and the 
venue selection process for the FIFA World Cup 2026. Overall, 
FIFA invested USD 63 million in Competitions & Events, 
accounting for 52% of the revised budgeted amount. The 
reduced expense compared to the revised budget relates 
mainly to the decision to postpone the FIFA Club World Cup 
Qatar™, which was originally planned for 2020 and budgeted 
in that year. Another reason was the fact that the Best FIFA 
Football Awards™ 2020 were held in a virtual format for  
the first time, as a result of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. 
This new format reduced costs by 76% compared to budget 
and generated cost savings of USD 5 million. Further cost 

savings of USD 16 million were achieved thanks to successful 
negotiations with a new partner for the FIFA Club Protection 
Programme and the significant reduction in international 
matches.

Investments in Development and Education amounted to 
USD 471 million, of which USD 361 million was granted directly 
to FIFA’s MAs, the confederations and the zonal/regional 
associations through the FIFA Forward Programme. In 
addition, the FIFA Council agreed to extend the deadline for 
any of the unused funds allocated under Forward 1.0 to MAs, 
confederations and zonal/regional associations in order to take 
account of time constraints in terms of implementation that 
had arisen due to the pandemic for many of the beneficiaries. 
For more detailed information regarding the FIFA Forward 
funds released, please see the Annexe to this report. 

Investments in refereeing, technical development programme, 
women’s football promotion, education, sustainability, 
human rights and anti-discrimination, audit and financial 
education, medicine and science and other projects came to 
USD 35 million, 49% below budget. These reductions were 
mainly the result of travel restrictions, lower on-site project 
activities and a marked shift towards the use of online  
courses and meetings. FIFA also allocated USD 5 million and 
USD 4 million to the FIFA Foundation and the FIFA World 
Football Museum respectively. 

In 2019, the World Health Organization (WHO) and FIFA had 
agreed a four-year collaboration to promote healthy lifestyles 
through football globally. In response to the worldwide 

 USD 4 billion
In 2016, FIFA President Gianni Infantino pledged to invest USD 4 billion until 2026 in football development through FIFA’s 
211 member associations under the FIFA Forward Programme and additional funding initiatives. Under the new leadership, 
FIFA successively launched FIFA Forward Programmes 1.0 and 2.0, the Football for Schools Programme, the FIFA Women’s 
Football Development Programme, the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan and other football development programmes, and 
established the FIFA Foundation. FIFA’s investment via its 211 member associations will exceed 80% of the pledged amount  
by the end of the 2019-2022 cycle, with four years still to go. In other words, the target will be well surpassed by the end  
of 2026. 

2016-20262023-20262019-20222016-2018

FIFA expects to clearly exceed the
committed investment of USD 4,000 million

100%
Target to invest USD 4,000 million in 2016-2026

81%
Up to USD 3,231 million to be invested in 2016-2022

1,179

2,052 4,000
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 Fivefold increase
In 2020, FIFA’s implementation of Forward 2.0, its signature development programme, was unaffected by the pandemic. 
Accordingly, it is expected that the full-cycle budget of USD 1,746 million will be invested to the benefit of FIFA’s 211 member 
associations, the six confederations and the zonal/regional associations. Since Forward was launched in 2016, the annual 
entitlements are now five times greater than they were under the previous programme. In addition to the increase in 
development funds, Forward has strengthened their impact thanks to far stricter controls on how they are spent, with a view 
to ensuring that they are deployed for the development of football.

2019 2020 2021 20222015 2016 2017 20182011 2012 2013 2014

Forward 2.0

Forward 1.0

Financial Assistance Programme

328

1,161

1,746

82
82

82
82

82

324

391

364

404

361

437

544

774
Total investments in 2020  

(in USD million)

361
Investments in Forward 2.0 

(in USD million)

169
-20% versus budget

Expenses in FIFA Governance 
& Administration
(in USD million)

10
Donation to the WHO  

(in USD million) 

pandemic and in addition to the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan, 
FIFA donated USD 10 million to the WHO COVID-19 Solidarity 
Response Fund. FIFA worked with the WHO to ensure that 
these funds were used to support the fight against the virus 
in all corners of the world. 

Football Governance expenses amounted to USD 30 million, 
which mainly comprised personnel expenses for establishing 
and monitoring football governance policies at USD 18 million 
and USD 10 million for football governance bodies (the 
Disciplinary, Ethics and Appeal Committees and the Player’s 
Status Committee) and third-party services (preventing match 
manipulation, the Transfer Matching System, The International 
Football Association Board and general professional football 
services).  

Expenses for FIFA Governance and Administration stood at 
USD 169 million, USD 42 million lower than that budgeted for 
2020. The reduction was mainly attributable to two items: 

strict cost containment measures taken in FIFA’s internal 
organisation, which saw administration expenses (travel and 
accommodation, public relations, advertising, value in kind, 
consultancy, audit, translation and insurance as well as office 
supplies and administrative activities) decrease by 
USD 25 million, and legal costs in relation to litigation and 
compliance fall by USD 6 million. In addition, expenses for 
communications, the online FIFA Congress and committee 
meetings, and buildings and maintenance were all well below 
budget. In 2020, the FIFA Congress convened remotely for the 
first time ever, a successful initiative that proved FIFA could 
host videoconferences with a global scope and control event 
costs at the same time. 

USD 41 million was invested in Marketing and TV 
Broadcasting to fulfil contractual obligations in relation to  
TV broadcasting rights, marketing rights and licensing rights 
as well as related sales commission, personnel expenses and 
depreciation of property and equipment. 
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8%

5%

61%

22%

4%

100% =
USD 774 million

FIFA Governance & Administration 169

Competitions & Events 63

Development & Education 471

Football Governance 30 Marketing & TV Broadcasting 41
Marketing rights 10
Broadcasting and media rights 5
Licensing rights 3
Sales commission and other 1
Personnel expenses 21
Depreciation of property and equipment 1

FIFA Club Protection Programme 10
FIFA eFootball tournaments 2020 8
The Best FIFA Football Awards™ 2020 2
Other FIFA events 3
Personnel expenses 36
Depreciation of property and equipment 4

Information technology 25
Communications 16
Legal costs 12
Buildings and maintenance 6
Annual FIFA Congress and committees 4
Other  9
Personnel expenses 90
Depreciation of property and equipment 7

Football governance bodies and third-party services 10
Personnel expenses 18
Depreciation of property and equipment 2

FIFA Forward  361
Other projects  12
Technical development programmes 11
WHO solidarity fund 10
FIFA Foundation 5
Refereeing 4
Education 4
FIFA World Football Museum 4
Audit and financial education 2
Women’s football programmes 1
Medicine and science 1
Personnel expenses 34
Depreciation of property and equipment 22

2020 investments/expenses by category (USD million)

774

1,044

2020
Actual

2020
Budget

27126%
Investments in COVID-19 Relief Plan – 
grants (stage 3), which are paid from FIFA’s 
excess reserves of the 2015-2018 cycle.

1,045

Actual investments/expenses 2020 versus budget 2020 (USD million)
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Robust financial position

The balance sheet as at 
31 December 2020 reflects FIFA’s 
healthy and sustainable financial 
position. Thanks to its high level  
of short-duration financial assets, 
FIFA was able to respond flexibly  
to the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic, setting up the FIFA 
COVID-19 Relief Plan and reaffirming 
its commitment to investing 
USD 1 billion in women’s football. 

or services. Contract liabilities are naturally expected to be 
significantly lower at the end of the 2019-2022 cycle. 

Having sufficient reserves increases FIFA’s ability to react 
quickly to unexpected circumstances. As at 31 December 2020, 
FIFA’s reserves came to USD 1,881 million, a reduction of 
USD 705 million or 27% compared to 2019. This reduction was 
mainly accounted for by the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan and 
FIFA’s global football development programmes. The equity 
ratio of 41% shows that FIFA still retains a solid level of 
reserves.

Asset management
In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic precipitated the sharpest and 
deepest economic contraction since the Great Depression. 
Most countries committed to fiscal and monetary stimulus 
packages in an attempt to soften the effects of the pandemic. 
As a result, the historically low interest rates fell yet further. 
This extreme low-rate environment presents challenges for 
fixed-income investments.

Back in October 2018, the FIFA Council had decided on a new 
investment strategy. Following this decision, FIFA appointed 
reputable and well-known financial institutions through an 
open bidding process to manage its money-market, 
government-bond, global-bond and equity portfolios. This 
new investment strategy is being implemented via a 
staggered approach, under which the portfolios were set to 
reach the target investment amount by mid-2021. 

Guided by the updated FIFA Financial Asset Management 
Regulations, the FIFA Finance Division adheres to the main 
objectives of FIFA’s asset management: to preserve the real 
value of the financial assets and to ensure that financial 
obligations can be met at all times. As at 31 December 2020, 
total assets under management produced a return of 1.1% 
with a modified duration of 1.29.

In summary, FIFA’s financial position is robust, with sufficient 
reserves to react quickly to unexpected circumstances. The 
excellent asset management returns achieved in 2020 
strengthened this position yet further. 

As at the balance sheet date, FIFA’s total assets amounted to 
USD 4,535 million, of which 77% or USD 3,494 million was in 
the form of cash and cash equivalents and financial assets. 
FIFA actively increased its liquidity, which can also be seen in 
the proportion of cash and cash equivalents to total assets, 
which increased from 17% in 2019 to 25% in 2020. This high 
level of liquidity enabled FIFA to respond with great 
flexibility to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the 
global football community. 

Current assets and current liabilities stood at USD 3,312 million 
and USD 913 million respectively. This ratio shows that  
FIFA is in good financial health and can adequately meet its 
short-term obligations. 

Current and non-current contract liabilities totalled 
USD 1,446 million, accounting for 54% of total liabilities. Under 
IFRS 15, contract liabilities are derecognised and revenue is 
recognised when FIFA delivers the contractually agreed goods 

4,535
Total assets at  

31 December 2020  
(in USD million)

3,494
77% of total assets

Cash and financial assets  
(in USD million)

1,881
Reserves  

(in USD million)

363%
Current ratio  

(current assets over  
current liabilities)
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1,741

1,881

Assets

+1%

Non-current
assets

Current
assets

Non-current
assets

Current
assets

Liabilities
and reserves

4,535

1,223

3,312

Liabilities
and reserves 

913

Assets

4,535

Current 
liabilities

Non-current 
liabilities

Reserves

Current 
liabilities

Non-current 
liabilities

Reserves

2011

1,432

2,745

1,523

930

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

1,048

1,4101,378
1,293

2019 2020

2,586

1,881

945

2,586

4,504

857

3,647

973

4,504

1,741

1,881

Assets

+1%

Non-current
assets

Current
assets

Non-current
assets

Current
assets

Liabilities
and reserves

4,535

1,223

3,312

Liabilities
and reserves 

913

Assets

4,535

Current 
liabilities

Non-current 
liabilities

Reserves

Current 
liabilities

Non-current 
liabilities

Reserves

2011

1,432

2,745

1,523

930

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

1,048

1,4101,378
1,293

2019 2020

2,586

1,881

945

2,586

4,504

857

3,647

973

4,504

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2020 versus 31 December 2019 (USD million)

Development of reserves 2011-2020 (USD million)

As at 31 December 2019 As at 31 December 2020

In FIFA’s financial statements for 2011-2014, revenue was recognised according to a proportional timing method. To further strengthen the transparency 
of FIFA’s financial statements and to help its stakeholders better understand its financial position, FIFA decided to adopt IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers – early, for 2015 onwards. Compared to the previous accounting system, the IFRS 15 standard leads FIFA to adopt a later pattern of 
revenue recognition because its flagship tournament, the FIFA World Cup™ – which delivers the majority of contractual performance obligations – takes 
place in the final year of the financial cycle.
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2022 budget confirms  
full-cycle targets

FIFA remains well on course to 
achieve the overall revenue 
budget figure for the full cycle 
of USD 6,440 million. As at the 
end of 2020, 80% of the full 
cycle budget had been already 
contracted. The 2022 annual 
budget thus underlines the 
expectation that the 2019-2022 
budget, as approved by the  
70th Congress, will be achieved  
in full.

2022 revenue in detail

The total revenue budget for 2022 amounts to 
USD 4,666 million, of which USD 3,807 million (82%) had been 
contracted at the balance sheet date of 31 December 2020.

Of the five core revenue categories, television broadcasting 
rights remains the largest contributor with an overall share of 
56%, followed by marketing rights at 29%. Hospitality rights 
and ticket sales, licensing rights and other revenue make up 
the remaining 15% of the total 2022 revenue budget.

The revenue target for television broadcasting rights 
amounts to USD 2,640 million. The remaining broadcasting 
rights territories are expected to be contracted within the set 
time frames. 

The total budget for marketing rights sales is USD 1,353 million, 
of which 71% had already been contracted at balance sheet 
date. Two Regional Supporter contracts had been signed in 
relation to the FIFA World Cup 2022™. Commercial Affiliates 
are still due to be contracted in the Partner, Sponsor and 
Regional Supporter categories.

The licensing rights budget is USD 140 million for the year, 
mainly in the area of brand licensing, where there has been  
a positive development in royalty-based income payments 
received. It is expected that licensing rights targets will also 
be in line with the full-cycle target. 

The budgeted revenue from hospitality rights and ticket  
sales totals USD 500 million. Income from this stream is solely 
sourced from the FIFA World Cup. 

Other revenue and income is recognised in the period in 
which the services are rendered. For 2022, revenue income 
will be generated from the FIFA Quality Programme, the sale 
of video rights, the FIFA World Football Museum, penalties 
and appeals, and rental income. The other revenue and 
income budget is USD 33 million for the year.

This is a major accomplishment, considering that the COVID-19 
pandemic has continued to severely impact the global 
economy, which has subsequently led to delays in FIFA rights 
sales. Despite the prolonged economic slowdown, the overall 
impact on FIFA’s financials has been minimal. It is expected 
that the remaining rights will be sold in the course of the next 
two years and that the impact of the pandemic will soften as 
2021 progresses.

The FIFA World Cup™ is the main driver of FIFA’s income and 
takes place at the end of the four-year cycle, resulting in a 
delayed pattern of revenue recognition. Therefore, the 2022 
budget is of particular importance to the full-cycle budget, as 
revenue from our flagship tournament is recognised in the 
2022 financial statements.

The 2022 revenue budget was prepared in accordance with 
IFRS rules and principles. By applying IFRS 15, FIFA recognises 
the respective revenue (and expenses) in the year when the 
tournament or event is delivered.

This budget is presented using the same structure as that of 
the full four-year cycle budget and takes into account the 
changes to the international match calendar caused by the 
global pandemic. It has been approved by the FIFA Finance 
Committee and the FIFA Council, with final approval due to 
be provided by the FIFA Congress in May 2021.
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2022 revenue budget by category

1%

11%

3%

56%

29%

100% =
USD 4,666 million

Licensing rights 140

Hospitality rights and ticket sales 500

Other revenue and income 33

Television broadcasting rights 2,640

Marketing rights 1,353



108 FIFA Annual Report 2020

2022 investments/expenses | 2022 budget

Detailed investments and expenses budget for 2022 

Competitions & Events
The 2022 budget takes into account the delivery of 
competitions and events that will take place in 2022:
• With a total investment of USD 1,696 million, the FIFA 

World Cup Qatar 2022™ is the crowning event of the 
2019-2022 cycle. Preparations are in full swing, and 
despite a more challenging working environment caused 
by COVID-19, important milestones have been achieved 
and further progress made. The proximity of the venues 
to each other and Qatar’s advanced infrastructure will 
allow FIFA to achieve economies of scale and keep 
operational costs under control.

• Following the 2020 cancellations due to the global 
pandemic, the 2022 edition of the FIFA U-20 Women’s 
World Cup™ will be hosted by Costa Rica, and the FIFA 
U-17 Women’s World Cup™ will be hosted by India. Both 
tournaments will feature 16 teams in the final 
competition. Investment in these women’s youth 
tournaments is budgeted at USD 21 million each.

• For the first time, FIFA will organise a play-off tournament 
for the FIFA Women’s World Cup™. A total of ten teams 
will participate in the new tournament, with the three 
group winners qualifying for the FIFA Women’s World 
Cup Australia/New Zealand 2023™.

• The FIFA eWorld Cup™, which has been enjoying rapid 
growth, is included under “Other tournaments and 
events”, with total investment in the e-tournament 
amounting to USD 11 million.

Development & Education
Over the 2019-2022 cycle, FIFA will invest a total of 
USD 1,746 million under FIFA Forward 2.0. For 2022, the 
figures are as follows:
•  Each member association will be entitled to receive 

USD 1 million for operational expenses in 2022: 
USD 500,000 for operational expenses in January, and  
a further USD 500,000 in July, subject to fulfilment of 
certain conditions as outlined in the Forward 2.0 
regulations.

• Member associations are also entitled to receive 
USD 2 million for specific projects at any point in the  
cycle. These funds are also available for each member 
association to convert their entitlement into operational 
funds for use as immediate relief to counter the impact  
of COVID-19 (stage 2 of the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan). 

• Each confederation will receive USD 12 million in 2022.
• Additional funds for travel costs, other programmes  

and zonal/regional associations will be available at a total 
of USD 61 million.

The total annual Forward 2.0 budget for 2022 amounts to 
USD 544 million.

Since the introduction of the VAR system at the 2018 FIFA 
World Cup™, FIFA has continued to train referees in new 
technologies through the Refereeing Assistance Programme 
(RAP). The total investment for 2022 in Refereeing is 
USD 11 million.

The FIFA Foundation is an independent entity whose aim is to 
help promote positive social change around the world and 
raise support for the recovery and reconstruction of damaged 
or destroyed sports infrastructure worldwide. The 2022 
budget to help achieve these objectives is USD 18 million.

In 2022, FIFA will invest a total of USD 15 million to develop its 
women’s football programmes. FIFA’s Women’s Football 
Strategy focuses on promoting the women’s game, supporting 
it financially and giving women and girls the opportunity to 
become actively involved in football as players, coaches, 
referees and officials. In addition, FIFA will continue to adhere 
to its commitment to invest a total of USD 1 billion in the 
women’s game over a four-year period, of which 
USD 500 million will be funded from FIFA’s excess reserves.

Football Governance
Football Governance covers costs such as those of the football 
judicial bodies, preventing match manipulation and the 
Transfer Matching System, including the newly created TMS 
Clearing House and electronic player passport. Investment for 
2022 will amount to USD 21 million.

FIFA Governance & Administration 
FIFA Governance & Administration costs will be continue to be 
closely scrutinised and kept in line with budget.

At USD 17 million, the legal costs budget for 2022 is lower than 
in the previous year due to lower provisions for legal cases.

Investment in FIFA’s communications operations will increase 
to USD 26 million in 2022, with the main focus on the FIFA 
World Cup Qatar 2022 and enhancing the digital experience 
for fans all around the world.

The information technology budget is in line with previous 
years, covering the costs of FIFA’s continuous improvement in 
its operating tools.

The buildings and maintenance budget for 2022 will increase 
slightly to cover planned renovation work of the FIFA’s facilities. 

The amount budgeted for personnel expenses in 2022 reflects 
an increase for additional Competitions & Events staff to be 
recruited to deliver FIFA’s flagship event: the FIFA World Cup 
Qatar 2022.

Marketing & TV Broadcasting
FIFA’s expense allocation for Marketing & TV Broadcasting 
mainly focuses on commercialising the marketing rights, 
media and TV broadcasting rights for the FIFA World Cup, 
along with continued enhancements to FIFA’s digital 
landscape, in order to deliver first-class services and 
experiences to MAs, partners, and football fans globally. With 
the adoption of IFRS 15, FIFA recognises the revenue and the 
costs of the events in the year that they take place. For this 
reason, the sales commission costs relating to the FIFA World 
Cup Qatar 2022 are reflected in the 2022 budget.
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2% 3%

2%

6%
76%

8%

3%

100% =
USD 714 million

Other development 
and educational programmes 54

Development offices, 
Executive Football Summits 
and administration 23

Personnel expenses 45

FIFA Foundation 18
Women's football development 15
FIFA World Football Museum 8
Education 5
Sustainability, human rights and
anti-discrimination 3
Audit and financial education 3
Medicine and science 2

Member associations 411
Confederations           72
Travel/equipment/other 48
Regional/zonal           13

Refereeing  11 Technical development programmes 20

FIFA Forward Programme 544
Depreciation of property
and equipment 17

12%
15%

12%

7%

19%

3%

2%

100% =
USD 1,696 million

Other FIFA World Cup™ items 72

Marketing rights delivery  33

Team services  117

Event transport  53
Ticketing  41
Competition management  38
Insurance 29
Hospitality  27
Commercial  22
Special events  20
Referee services  17
Legal  15
Guest management  12
Communications  10
Sustainability 10
Logistics 10
Football technology 10
Technical services  8

Club Benefits Programme 209

Operational expenses 322

ICT   49

TV operations  247

Workforce management  207

Prize money 440

26%

4%

Investment budget for Development & Education in the year 2022 (USD million)

Investment budget for the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ (USD million)





111FIFA Annual Report 2020

Total revenue and investment budget for the year 2022 (USD million)

2022 IFRS

Total revenue  4,666 

FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™  1,696 

FIFA youth tournaments  42 

Other tournaments and events  33 

Value in kind and other  79 

FIFA Club Protection Programme  29 

Personnel expenses  54 

Depreciation of property and equipment  5 

Competition & Events  1,938 

FIFA Forward Programme  544 

Technical development  20 

Refereeing  11 

Development offices, Executive Football Summits and administration  23 

Other Development & Education programmes  54 

Personnel expenses  45 

Depreciation of property and equipment  17 

Development & Education  714 

Football governance bodies and third-party services  21 

Personnel expenses  21 

Depreciation of property and equipment  2 

Football Governance  44 

Legal and governance costs related to investigations  17 

Annual FIFA Congress and committee meetings  23 

Communications  26 

Information technology  27 

Buildings and maintenance  8 

Other (including finance, Executive Office, ERP costs, insurance and auditors’ fees, VIK)  31 

Personnel expenses  112 

Depreciation of property and equipment  7 

FIFA Governance & Administration  251 

Broadcasting and media rights  45 

Marketing rights 19 

Licensing rights  3 

Sales commission and other  94 

Personnel expenses  28 

Depreciation of property and equipment  2 

Marketing & TV Broadcasting  191 

Total investment  3,138

Result before taxes and financial result  1,528 

2022 investments/expenses | 2022 budget



2020 
financial 
statements
Consolidated financial statements 114

Notes 120

Reports to the FIFA Congress 166

112 FIFA Annual Report 2020





114 FIFA Annual Report 2020

Consolidated financial statements  
according to IFRS

Consolidated financial statements Page

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 116

Consolidated balance sheet 117

Consolidated cash flow statement 118

Consolidated statement of changes in reserves 119

Notes

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 120

A General information and statement of compliance 120

B Basis of presentation 120

C Basis of consolidation 121

D Foreign currency 121

E Revenue recognition 121

F Expenses from football activities 122

G Expenses from administrative activities 123

H Other expenses 123

I  Leases 123

J Financial income and financial costs 124

K Taxes and duties 124

L Cash and cash equivalents 124

M Derivatives and hedge accounting 124

N Inventories 125

O Property and equipment 125

P Intangible assets 125

Q Non-derivative financial assets 126

R Non-derivative financial liabilities 126

S Impairment 126

T Employee benefit obligations 127

U Provisions 127

V Reserves 127

W Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 127

Consolidated financial statements | 2020 financial statements



 115FIFA Annual Report 2020

Notes to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 129

  1 Revenue from television broadcasting rights 129

  2 Revenue from marketing rights 130

  3 Revenue from licensing rights 130

  4 Revenue from hospitality/accommodation rights and ticket sales 131

  5 Other revenue and income 131

  6 Competitions & Events 132

  7 Development & Education 134

  8 Football Governance 137

  9 FIFA Governance & Administration 138

10 Marketing & TV Broadcasting 139

11 COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3) 140

12 Financial costs 140

13 Financial income 141

14 Taxes and duties 141

Notes to the consolidated balance sheet 142

15 Cash and cash equivalents 142

16 Receivables 142

17 Prepaid expenses and other accrued income 143

18 Contract assets 143

19 Inventories 144

20 Property and equipment 145

21 Intangible assets 146

22 Financial assets 147

23 Payables 147

24 Accrued expenses 148

25 Contract liabilities 148

26 Provisions 149

27 Leases 150

28 Reserves 151

Other disclosures 152

29 Financial risk management 152

30 Hedging activities and derivative financial instruments 158

31 Personnel expenses 160

32 Contingent liabilities 164

33 Capital commitments 164

34 Related-party transactions 164

35 Consolidated subsidiaries 165

36 Post-balance-sheet events 165

These consolidated financial statements are published in English, German, French and Spanish. If there is any divergence in  
the wording, the English text is authoritative.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

in TUSD Note 2020 2019

REVENUE

Revenue from television broadcasting rights 1  1,724  342,602 

Revenue from marketing rights 2  74,450  164,848 

Revenue from licensing rights 3  158,881  159,527 

Revenue from hospitality/accommodation rights and ticket sales 4  0  7,931 

Other revenue and income 5  31,486  90,766 

Total revenue  266,541  765,674 

EXPENSES

Competitions & Events 6  –63,385  –239,203

Development & Education 7  –470,603  –512,700

Football Governance 8  –30,276  –32,765

Total expenses from football activities  –564,264  –784,668

FIFA Governance & Administration 9  –168,901  –217,943

Marketing & TV Broadcasting 10  –40,928  –43,643

Total expenses from administrative activities  –209,829  –261,586

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3) 11  –270,500 0

Total other expenses  –270,500 0

Result before taxes and financial result  –778,052  –280,580

Taxes and duties 14  –471  –623

Financial costs 12  –214,241  –93,954

Financial income 13  309,770  189,870 

Net result for the year  –682,994  –185,287

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations 31  –6,214  17,016 

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Foreign currency translation differences  377  398 

Net gain / (loss) on cash flow hedges 30  –18,887  9,132 

Net gain / (loss) on debt instruments at FVOCI  2,565 0

Total other comprehensive income  –22,159  26,546 

Total comprehensive income for the year  –705,153  –158,741

Net result for the year  –682,994  –185,287

Allocation to restricted reserves  682,994  185,287 

Result for the year after allocation 0 0

The notes on pages 120 to 165 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated financial statements | 2020 financial statements
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Consolidated balance sheet

in TUSD Note 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15 1,155,191 779,516

Receivables 16 417,403 236,942

Derivative financial assets 30 9,079 13,204

Financial assets 22 1,577,333 2,469,911

Contract assets 18 112,489 62,828

Prepaid expenses and other accrued income 17 36,303 84,905

Inventories 19 4,450 0

Current assets 3,312,248 3,647,306

Property and equipment 20 324,932 333,120

Intangible assets 21 2,826 4,603

Derivative financial assets 30 5,988 17,665

Financial assets 22 761,880 432,627

Contract assets 18 0 12,074

Prepaid expenses and other accrued income 17 126,687 56,449

Non-current assets 1,222,313 856,538

Total assets 4,534,561 4,503,844

Liabilities and reserves

Payables 23  62,668 76,886

Contract liabilities 25  229,210 223,482

Accrued expenses 24  573,172 641,335

Derivative financial liabilities 30  39,230 20,659

Lease liabilities 27  8,998 10,113

Current liabilities 913,278 972,475

Contract liabilities 25 1,216,362 463,456

Accrued expenses 24 47,177 16,782

Post-employment benefit obligation 31 93,022 67,616

Provisions 26 185,768 217,256

Derivative financial liabilities 30 9,008 3,240

Lease liabilities 27 189,118 177,038

Non-current liabilities 1,740,455 945,388

Total liabilities 2,653,733 1,917,863

Association capital 28 4,104 4,104

Cash flow hedge reserves 30 –9,755 9,132

Foreign currency translation reserves 543 166

Fair value reserves of financial assets at FVOCI 2,565 0

Restricted reserves 28 1,883,371 2,572,579

Total reserves 1,880,828 2,585,981

Total liabilities and reserves 4,534,561 4,503,844

The notes on pages 120 to 165 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated financial statements | 2020 financial statements
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Consolidated cash flow statement

in TUSD Note 2020 2019

Net result for the year –682,994 –185,287

Depreciation 20–21 37,304 36,174

Net financial result 12–13 –95,529 –95,916

Gain on disposal of investment properties 5 0 –17,162

Other non-cash items 28 3,596

Taxes and duties 14 471 623

(Increase)/Decrease in receivables –174,241 –24,533

(Increase)/Decrease in prepaid expenses and accrued income –26,712 114,870

(Increase)/Decrease in derivative financial assets and liabilities 2,008 –9,132

(Increase)/Decrease in inventories –4,450 0

(Increase)/Decrease in contract assets –37,586 –26,979

Increase/(Decrease) in payables –19,080 –39,859

Increase/(Decrease) in accrued expenses –25,700 –152,626

Increase/(Decrease) in contract liabilities 756,721 348,725

Increase/(Decrease) in provisions 3,035 7,368

Taxes and duties paid –3,467 –5,608

Net cash (used)/generated by operating activities –270,192 –45,746

Purchase of property and equipment 20 –4,656 –6,388

Purchase of intangible assets 21 –575 –1,900

Purchase of investment properties 0 –19

Sale of investment properties 0 38,257

Investment in financial assets –6,672,586 –5,581,815

Repayments of financial assets 7,288,238 5,500,211

Interest received 41,041 58,748

Net cash (used)/generated in investing activities 651,462 7,094

Interest paid –9,657 –10,342

Repayment of the lease liabilities –7,484 –6,392

Net cash (used)/generated in financing activities –17,141 –16,734

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 364,129 –55,386

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 15 779,516 832,397

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations 11,546 2,505

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 364,129 –55,386

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 15 1,155,191 779,516

The notes on pages 120 to 165 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated financial statements | 2020 financial statements



 119FIFA Annual Report 2020

Consolidated statement of changes in reserves

in TUSD
Association  

capital

Cash flow 
hedge  

reserves
Translation 

reserves

Fair value 
reserves of  

financial  
assets at 

FVOCI
Restricted 

reserves Total reserves

Balance as at 1 January 2019 4,104 0 –232 0 2,740,850 2,744,722

Net result for the year 0 0 0 0 –185,287 –185,287

Remeasurement of post-employment benefit 
obligations 0 0 0 0 17,016 17,016

Foreign currency translation differences 0 0 398 0 0 398

Fair value gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges 0 9,132 0 0 0 9,132

Total comprehensive income for the year 0  9,132 398 0 –168,271 –158,741

Balance as at 31 December 2019 4,104 9,132 166 0 2,572,579 2,585,981

in TUSD
Association  

capital

Cash flow 
hedge  

reserves
Translation 

reserves

Fair value 
reserves of  

financial  
assets at 

FVOCI
Restricted 

reserves Total reserves

Balance as at 1 January 2020 4,104 9,132 166 0 2,572,579 2,585,981

Net result for the year 0 0 0 0 –682,994 –682,994

Remeasurement of post-employment benefit 
obligations 0 0 0 0 –6,214 –6,214

Foreign currency translation differences 0 0 377 0 0 377

Fair value gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges 0 –18,887 0 0 0 –18,887

Fair value gain/(loss) on debt instruments at 
FVOCI* 0 0 0 2,565 0 2,565

Total comprehensive income for the year 0  –18,887 377 2,565 –689,208 –705,153

Balance as at 31 December 2020 4,104 –9,755 543 2,565 1,883,371 1,880,828

*No debt instruments were measured at FVOCI in 2019. The fair value reserves therefore represent a new component of equity in 2020.
The notes on pages 120 to 165 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Please see Note 31 – Personnel expenses for detailed 
information relating to the remeasurement of  
post-employment benefit obligations.

Please see Note 30 – Hedging activities and derivative 
financial instruments for detailed information on the hedge 
accounting.

Consolidated financial statements | 2020 financial statements
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Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements

Significant accounting policies

A General information and statement of compliance

in the year following the final competition of the FIFA World 
Cup™. While these consolidated financial statements cover 
the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020, FIFA’s 
current financial reporting cycle extends from 1 January 2019 
to 31 December 2022.

Some figures cannot be compared on a year-on-year basis, 
in particular revenue and expenses from Competitions & 
Events. Due to its nature as a not-for-profit organisation and 
the distribution of revenue across various financial years, 
FIFA’s financial figures are best analysed considering the full 
four-year cycle. The first three years of each cycle structurally 
produce a negative result, while year four produces a 
significant positive result.

Consequently, a comparison of a single year against figures 
for the previous year is, in some cases, not meaningful.

The Fédération Internationale de Football Association 
(FIFA), domiciled in Zurich, Switzerland, is an international 
non-governmental, non-profit organisation in the form of 
an association under Swiss law. FIFA’s members comprise 
211 associations affiliated to six confederations. FIFA’s 
principal mission is to promote the game of football, protect 
its integrity and bring the game to all.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the 
FIFA Council on 19 March 2021, and will be submitted to the 
71st  FIFA Congress on 21 May 2021 for approval.

FIFA prepares the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the IASB. The scope of consolidated 
subsidiaries is set out in Note 35. Other football associations 
are not consolidated. Based on the FIFA Statutes, the 
financial cycle of FIFA is four years and begins on 1 January, 

B Basis of presentation
The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
US dollars (USD), which is the reporting currency of FIFA.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a 
historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments 
and certain financial assets that are stated at fair value.

New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted 
Several IFRS amendments and interpretations were applied 
for the first time in 2020, but did not have an impact on the 
financial statements, whether individually or in aggregate.

FIFA has not adopted any standards, interpretations or 
amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective.

Standards or amendments issued but not yet effective
The following standards and amendments had been issued 
but were not mandatory for the reporting period ending 
31 December 2020:
 • Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 –

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2, effective date
1 January 2021

 • Amendments to IAS 37 – Onerous Contracts – Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract, effective date 1 January 2022

 • Amendments to IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment –
Proceeds before Intended Use, effective date 1 January 2022

 • Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020,
effective date 1 January 2022

 • Amendments to IAS 1 – Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current, effective date 1 January 2023

 • IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts, effective date 1 January 2023

FIFA does not expect the standards or amendments that have 
been issued but are not yet effective to have a significant 
effect on the consolidated financial statements.
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The term “FIFA” is hereafter also used for the consolidated 
group, which represents FIFA and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which FIFA has control. FIFA 
controls an entity when FIFA is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the group. They are 
deconsolidated from the date on which that control ceases.
 

The individual subsidiaries included in this consolidation are 
shown in Note 35.

Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised 
gains arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised 
gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of 
impairment.

D Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions and balances 
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted on the date of 
the transaction into the functional currency of the respective 
entity. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies on the balance sheet date are converted at the 
foreign exchange rate ruling on that date. Foreign exchange 
differences arising from conversion are recognised in profit or 
loss.

Financial statements of foreign subsidiaries
For FIFA’s foreign subsidiaries, assets and liabilities including 
fair value adjustments arising on consolidation are converted 
into USD at the foreign exchange rate ruling on the balance 
sheet date. The revenue and expenses of foreign subsidiaries 
are converted into USD at the monthly average foreign 
exchange rates of the period. Exchange differences arising 
from conversion of the accounts of foreign subsidiaries are 
recognised in other comprehensive income.

The main foreign exchange rates used are as follows  
(USD per 1 unit/100 units):

31 Dec
2020

Average
2020

31 Dec
2019

Average
2019

1 CHF 1.1226 1.0446 1.0227 0.9957

1 EUR 1.2288 1.1308 1.1209 1.1227

1 GBP 1.3617 1.2798 1.3127 1.2735

100 RUB 1.3452 1.4148 1.6135 1.5368

100 BRL 19.2593 20.0811 24.8855 25.5809

E Revenue recognition
The main revenue streams for FIFA relate to the sale of the 
following rights:
 • Television broadcasting rights
 • Marketing rights
 • Licensing rights
 • Hospitality rights
 • Ticket sales

The transaction price of a contract consists in general of fixed 
and variable consideration as well as, infrequently, non-cash 
components (value-in-kind).

Nature of performance obligations
The following is a description of the principal activities with 
which FIFA generates revenue:

Television broadcasting rights are granted primarily to TV 
stations and other broadcasting institutions. These rights are 
granted to broadcast the television signal for a defined period 

in a particular territory. The performance obligation is defined 
as the right to access intellectual property. Revenue related 
to television broadcasting rights is recognised over the rights 
period measured based on the pattern of broadcasting of the 
contractual events.

Marketing rights provide the FIFA Partners, FIFA World Cup 
Sponsors, Regional Supporters and National Supporters with 
access to intellectual property by enabling them to enter into 
a long-term strategic alliance with FIFA which also includes 
a set of predefined rights. The performance obligations 
under marketing rights contracts consist of both tangible and 
intangible marketing rights, which are separated. The tangible 
rights include event-related media and advertising rights which 
result in revenue recognition as the contractual events are 
broadcast. The intangible right is attributed to the promise to 
benefit from a strategic association with FIFA, its competitions 
and brand, resulting in a straight-line recognition of revenue 
over the contractual rights period.

C Basis of consolidation
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Expenses from football activities are separated into 
Competitions & Events, Development & Education and Football 
Governance:

Competitions & Events expenses are the outflow of economic 
benefits that arise in the ordinary activity of organising an 
event. Incurred costs related to the FIFA World Cup™ and 
other FIFA events are deferred and recognised in profit or loss 
in the period in which the event takes place.

An integral part of FIFA’s development path is the FIFA Forward 
Programme, which provides 360-degree, tailor-made support 
for football development in each of FIFA’s member associations 
and the six confederations. Following the successful 
implementation of the first edition of FIFA Forward 1.0, the 
second edition, FIFA Forward 2.0, came into force on 1 January 
2019 and will run until 31 December 2022. The core principles, 

Hospitality rights provide the licensee with the right to 
provide hospitality/accommodation and ticketing services 
for selected FIFA competitions. The amount of revenue 
for the FIFA World Cup™ includes both fixed and variable 
considerations, whereas all other events have variable 
considerations only. Contractually determined fixed payments 
are recognised in the period in which the FIFA World Cup 
takes place. Revenue based on profit-share agreements is 
recognised once the profit share for the event has been 
determined by the licensee.

Ticket sales in connection with the FIFA World Cup or other 
FIFA events are recognised in the year the event takes place.

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised in the 
accounting period in which the services are rendered.

Value-in-kind revenue consists of promises to receive  
pre-determined services and the delivery of goods to be used 
in connection with the FIFA World Cup or other FIFA events. 
The revenue related to value-in-kind forms part of the overall 
consideration receivable and is recognised applying the same 
measure of progress as the performance obligation to which 
it relates. Value-in-kind consideration is measured at fair 
value.

F Expenses from football activities

Licensing rights are granted to licensees to both associate the 
licensee with FIFA and the FIFA competitions and to obtain 
the right to use FIFA marks and brand elements as a platform 
to brand its related products and services. As the licensee 
has access to intellectual property, the amount of revenue is 
recognised over the rights period and is further determined by 
categorising each licensing right contract as follows:
1) For the right to consideration of fixed fees only, revenue is 

recognised over the rights period on the basis of fixed-fee 
amounts.

2) For the right to consideration of sales- or usage-based 
royalties with specified minimum guarantee amounts, 
FIFA assesses at each reporting date whether the royalty 
amounts to be received will exceed the contractual 
minimum guarantee threshold.
a. If the sales-based royalty is not expected to clearly 

exceed the minimum guarantee threshold, revenue is 
recognised over the rights period measured on the basis 
of the fixed guaranteed consideration. Any royalties 
received in one period in excess of the minimum 
guarantee due are deferred and recognised only when 
total royalties received exceed the contractual minimum 
guarantee threshold.

b. When FIFA has a reasonable expectation that royalty 
amounts to be received will clearly exceed the 
contractual minimum guarantee threshold, fixed and 
variable considerations are estimated and revenue is 
recognised as the performance obligation is satisfied. 
The amount of revenue recognised for the reporting 
period is subject to the royalty constraint (i.e. cumulative 
revenue amounts cannot exceed cumulative royalty 
amounts).

approach and procedures of FIFA Forward 1.0 largely remain 
intact, whilst certain elements have been adapted to reflect 
the increase in the member associations’ entitlements along 
with the need for greater football development and more 
reports on the programme’s achievements, its legacy and 
impact. The expenses are recorded in profit or loss under 
Development & Education. 

Football Governance expenses comprise all expenditure in 
relation to FIFA’s statutory objective to govern association 
football and related matters. The costs mainly include the 
judicial bodies (Disciplinary, Ethics and Appeal Committees), 
plus the costs of the Players’ Status Committee as part of 
administrating player regulations. It also includes expenses 
with regard to preventing match manipulation as part of the 
agreement with Sportradar, and players’ status proceedings 
as part of the Transfer Matching System.
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G Expenses from administrative activities 

Expenses from administrative activities are separated into 
FIFA Governance & Administration and Marketing & TV 
Broadcasting:

FIFA Governance & Administration expenses comprise all costs 
related to the governance of FIFA itself and are recognised 
in profit or loss as incurred. Expenses from administrative 
activities include, in particular, costs related to information 

technology, buildings and maintenance, communications, the 
annual FIFA Congress and legal costs.

Marketing & TV Broadcasting expenses are costs incurred by 
the FIFA Commercial Division for the commercialisation of 
marketing and broadcasting rights, mainly costs relating to 
oversight of and assistance to Commercial Affiliates.

H Other expenses 
In order to alleviate the impact of COVID-19 on the football 
world, FIFA set up a COVID-19 Relief Plan, which was approved 
by the FIFA Council on 25 June 2020. The relief plan consists of 
three stages, with stages 1 and 2 being linked to the existing 
Forward Programme, and stage 3 providing further financial 

support via a system of grants and loans enabling member 
associations and confederations to tailor their use of the 
funds, thus helping to safeguard football from the adverse 
economic effects of COVID-19. 

FIFA is a lessee and holds leases for various buildings as well as 
offices, other equipment and land, all of which are recognised 
as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets
FIFA recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement 
date of the lease (i.e. the date on which the underlying asset 
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, 
less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost 
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities 
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date less any lease 
incentives received.

Unless FIFA is reasonably certain of obtaining ownership of  
the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised 
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease 
term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. FIFA 
presents right-of-use assets in property and equipment in the 
consolidated balance sheet.

I Leases
Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, FIFA recognises lease 
liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to 
be made over the lease term. In calculating the present value 
of lease payments, the group uses the incremental borrowing 
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate 
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is 
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for 
the lease payments made.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
FIFA applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to all 
classes of underlying assets (i.e. those leases that have a lease 
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and 
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease 
of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that are 
considered of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expenses on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Financial income comprises interest income from cash and cash 
equivalents, income from deposits and debt securities, foreign 
exchange gains, and gains from financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss.

Financial costs consist of interest expenses on financial 
liabilities, expenses from debt securities, foreign exchange 
losses, losses from financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss, and other financial expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, post and 
bank accounts, as well as call accounts and short-term deposits 
with an original maturity of three months or less.

FIFA uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure 
to foreign exchange rate risks arising from operating and 
investing activities. In 2019, FIFA started to apply hedge 
accounting.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair 
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives 
are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive 
and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

For the purposes of hedge accounting, FIFA designates some of 
these hedges as cash flow hedges. At the inception of a hedge 
relationship, the group formally designates and documents 
the hedge relationship to which it wishes to apply hedge 
accounting and the risk management objective and strategy 
for undertaking the hedge.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss using the 
effective interest rate method. Dividend income is recognised 
in profit or loss on the date that the dividend is declared.

K Taxes and duties 
FIFA was established in the legal form of an association in 
accordance with articles 60ff. of the Swiss Civil Code.

FIFA’s vision as stated in FIFA 2.0 is to promote the game of 
football, protect its integrity and bring the game to all.

FIFA is a non-profit organisation and is obliged to spend its 
reserves for the above-mentioned purpose.

FIFA is taxed in Switzerland according to the ordinary taxation 
rules applying to associations. The non-profit character of FIFA 
and the four-year accounting cycle are thereby taken into 
account.

The subsidiaries are taxed according to the relevant tax 
legislation. This position includes all non-recoverable taxes and 
duties borne by FIFA and its subsidiaries.

L Cash and cash equivalents 

M Derivatives and hedge accounting 
The documentation includes identification of the hedging 
instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being 
hedged and how the group will assess whether the hedging 
relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements. A 
hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets 
all the following effectiveness requirements:
 • There is an economic relationship between the hedged item 

and the hedging instrument.
 • The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value 

changes that result from that economic relationship.
 • The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as 

that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that 
the group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging 
instrument that the group actually uses to hedge that 
quantity of hedged item.

J Financial income and financial costs 
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Hedges that meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge 
accounting are accounted for as cash flow hedges. The 
effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
is recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) in the cash 
flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in the statement of profit or loss. The cash flow 
hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of the cumulative gain 
or loss on the hedging instrument and the cumulative change 
in fair value of the hedged item. For these cash flow hedges, 
the amount accumulated in OCI is reclassified to profit or loss 
as a reclassification adjustment in the same period during 

which the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss. If cash flow 
hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that has been 
accumulated in OCI must remain in accumulated OCI if the 
hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur. Otherwise, 
the amount will be immediately reclassified to profit or loss as 
a reclassification adjustment.

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is their market 
price at the balance sheet date, being the present value of the 
quoted forward price.

N Inventories
Inventories are stated at cost or net realisable value, whichever 
is the lower. The net realisable value is the estimated selling 
price less costs incurred in connection with completion and sale 
of the asset.

O Property and equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at acquisition cost or at 
cost for right-of-use assets (as defined in Note I – Leases), less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
of property and equipment. Repairs and maintenance costs are 
recognised in profit or loss as an expense as they are incurred.

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful lives of property and equipment. 

Depreciation is allocated to FIFA’s key activity expenses. Land 
is not depreciated. The right of use assets are depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life 
and the lease term. The estimated useful lives are 20-50 years 
for operational buildings and 3-20 years for office and other 
equipment.

For the accounting treatment of right-of-use assets, please also 
refer to Note I – Leases.

P Intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on 
initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, they 
are carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. The estimated useful life of intangible 
assets consisting of software is three years.
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The carrying amounts of FIFA’s property and equipment, 
intangible assets and financial assets measured at amortised 
cost are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine 
whether there is any indicator of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the non-financial 
asset or its cash-generating unit, being the greater of its fair 
value less costs of disposal and its value in use, is estimated. 
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever the 
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 
the respective recoverable amount.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, an impairment 
allowance is determined using a forward-looking expected 
credit loss (ECL) approach that is based on the difference 
between the contractual cash flows due under the contract 

and all of the cash flows that FIFA expects to receive. The 
shortfall is then discounted at an approximation of the asset’s 
original effective interest rate.

For contract assets and trade and other receivables, FIFA has 
applied a simplified approach and calculated ECLs based on 
lifetime ECLs. For other debt financial assets (debt securities), 
the ECL is based on the 12-month ECL, as it is assumed to have 
a low credit risk. However, when there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be 
based on lifetime ECLs.

Changes in the impairment allowance are recognised in profit 
or loss and reflected in an allowance account against the 
respective financial asset measured at amortised cost.

Non-derivative financial liabilities such as payables are 
measured at amortised cost, which equals nominal value for 
short-term payables.

S Impairment 

FIFA classifies its non-derivative financial assets into the 
following categories: financial assets measured at amortised 
cost, financial assets measured at fair value through profit or 
loss and financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI).

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are:
• loans and receivables created by FIFA as a result of pursuing 

its business activity;
• FIFA’s investment in debt securities and deposits.

Regarding these financial assets, FIFA’s business model is to 
hold and collect contractual cash flows for them. The cash 
flows are comprised solely of principal and interest payments. 
These financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus 
any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequently, they 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method less impairment losses.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are certain 
debt securities and global equities held for trading, essentially 
in the event of a need for liquidity or positive market changes. 

Such financial assets are measured at fair value with changes 
thereto recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVOCI represent investments in debt 
securities where the contractual cash flows are solely principal 
and interest and the objective of FIFA’s business model is 
achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets. For debt securities at FVOCI, interest income, 
foreign exchange revaluation, and impairment losses or 
reversals are recognised in profit or loss and determined in the 
same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised 
cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
is presented in the balance sheet when FIFA has a legally 
enforceable right to offset the recognised amount and the 
transactions are intended either to be settled on a net basis or 
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on settlement date, being the date that an asset is 
delivered to or by FIFA.

R Non-derivative financial liabilities 

Q Non-derivative financial assets 
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The Swiss pension plan is accounted for as a defined benefit 
plan. The financial impact of this plan on the consolidated 
financial statements is determined in accordance with 
the projected unit credit method and applying actuarial 
assumptions based on best estimates at the balance sheet date.

Actuarial gains and losses on the post-employment obligation, 
comprising the effects of changes in assumptions and 

experience adjustments, as well as the difference between 
the theoretical and the actual income from plan assets, are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. Costs relating to 
the administration of the pension plan are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

U Provisions
A provision is recognised when FIFA has a legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that 
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined 

by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time, value 
of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability.

V Reserves

T Employee benefit obligations

Reserves consist of association capital, restricted reserves, 
translation reserves, fair value reserves of financial assets 
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
and cash flow hedge reserves. As FIFA is an association, no 
dividends are paid.

Based on article 62 of the FIFA Statutes, the revenue and 
expenditure of FIFA are managed so that they balance out 
over the financial cycle. FIFA’s major duties in the future will be 
guaranteed through the creation of reserves.

Therefore, the net result for the year is allocated to the 
reserves. Such reserves are presented as restricted reserves in 
the balance sheet.

In the event of the dissolution of FIFA, its funds shall not 
be distributed, but transferred to the supreme court of the 
country in which the headquarters are situated. The supreme 
court shall invest them in gilt-edged securities until the  
re-establishment of the federation.

W Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
The preparation of financial statements requires the 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. The consolidated financial statements 
of FIFA include estimates and assumptions that could 
influence the financial statements of subsequent financial 
years.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and 
in any future periods affected:

Revenue recognition
As set out in Note E, IFRS 15 – Revenue Recognition from 
Contracts with Customers requires judgements and estimates. 
“Judgements” relate to the determination of performance 
obligations in each of the major revenue streams, having the 
potential to impact the revenue recognition pattern under 
the contract. Furthermore, the allocation of consideration to 
different performance obligations requires estimation of the 
stand-alone selling price of each of these. Assumptions are 
required to determine an appropriate measure of progress 
when determining how control over promised services 
transfers to the customer. All of the above have the potential 
to result in a different revenue recognition pattern.
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Competitions & Events expenses
Competitions & Events expenses are the outflow of economic 
benefits that arise in the ordinary activity of organising an 
event. Incurred costs related to the FIFA World Cup™ and 
other FIFA events are deferred and recognised in profit or loss 
in the period in which the event takes place. Assumptions are 
required to determine an appropriate measure of allocation 
related to the FIFA World Cup and other FIFA events 
expenses. All assumptions have the potential to result in a 
different cost recognition.

Defined benefit plans (pension benefits)
The cost of the defined benefit pension plan and the 
present value of the pension obligation are determined 
using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves 
making various assumptions that may differ from actual 
developments in the future. These include the determination 
of the discount rate, future salary increases, credit rate, 
mortality rates and future pension increases.

Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its 
long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly 
sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are 
reviewed at each reporting date (see also Note 31 – Personnel 
expenses).

Leases
Leases require judgement in determining the lease term 
of contracts with renewal options. FIFA specifies the lease 
term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with 
any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is 
reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by 
an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain 

not to be exercised. FIFA has options to extend the lease term 
under some of its real estate leases. It applies judgement in 
evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the 
option to renew, i.e. it considers all relevant factors that 
create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. 
After the commencement date, FIFA reassesses the lease term 
if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that 
is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not 
to exercise) the option to renew. Furthermore, when there is 
no implicit rate in the lease, FIFA determines the incremental 
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the 
rate of interest that FIFA would have to pay to borrow over a 
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to 
obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in 
a similar economic environment. FIFA estimates the IBR using 
observable inputs (such as market interest rates, depending 
on the duration and underlying currency of the contract) 
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific 
estimates (such as FIFA’s credit rating).

Legal matters
FIFA is currently involved in a number of legal disputes arising 
from its operating activities. In some legal disputes, FIFA is 
the defendant and thus these proceedings may – depending 
on the respective outcome – result in payment or other 
obligations. Provisions are recorded where a reliable estimate 
can be made of the probable legal outcome. For provisions for 
legal matters, reference is made to Note 26.

For ongoing investigations conducted by the Swiss Office of 
the Attorney General (“OAG”), the US Department of Justice 
(“DoJ”) and contingent liabilities relating to other legal 
matters, reference is made to Note 32.
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Notes to the consolidated statement  
of comprehensive income

1 Revenue from television broadcasting rights

in TUSD 2020 2019

Europe 0 27,963

Asia and North Africa 0 102,735

South and Central America 0 75,478

North America and the Caribbean 0 92,090

Rest of the world 0 3,263

Total revenue from television broadcasting rights by region 0 301,529

Other broadcasting revenue 1,626 12,807

Other FIFA event revenue 98 28,266

Total revenue from television broadcasting rights 1,724 342,602

Television broadcasting rights are granted primarily to TV 
stations and other broadcasting institutions. These rights are 
granted to broadcast the television signal for a defined period 
in a particular territory. Revenue from television broadcasting 
rights by region is recognised when the actual broadcasting 
of the event in question takes place and is contingent on 
the number of broadcasting hours. As a consequence, a 
comparison against previous years is not meaningful. Revenue 
should be analysed considering the full four-year cycle of FIFA.

Other broadcasting revenue reflects additional revenue for 
services in order to fulfil FIFA’s broadcasting obligations.
 
Revenue from broadcasting rights contracts, which include the 
right to broadcast other FIFA events, but excluding the FIFA 
World Cup™, is presented as other FIFA event revenue.

The spread of COVID-19 affected football tournaments around 
the world and across the entire football family. As a result, 
FIFA was forced to postpone or cancel tournaments that were 
originally scheduled to take place in 2020, and accordingly, no 
revenue was recognised for them.

For the same reason, the value of services or goods included in 
the above-mentioned television broadcasting rights (i.e.  
value-in-kind revenue) in 2020 amounted to USD 0 million 
(2019: USD 1 million).

Revenue from television broadcasting rights for 2020 is limited 
to consideration received relating to prior-year events and 
other additional broadcasting revenue.
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2 Revenue from marketing rights

in TUSD 2020 2019

FIFA Partners 56,723 139,090

FIFA World Cup Sponsors 17,138 17,379

FIFA Regional Supporters 589 0

FIFA National Supporters 0 8,379

Total revenue from marketing rights 74,450 164,848

Marketing rights provide the FIFA Partners, FIFA World 
Cup Sponsors and FIFA Regional Supporters with access to 
intellectual property by enabling them to enter into a  
long-term strategic alliance with FIFA, which also includes a set 
of predefined rights. These rights are further split into tangible 
and intangible rights. Revenue for tangible marketing rights 
is recognised when the event in question is broadcast and is 
entirely dependent on the number of broadcasting hours. 
Since few online events were staged in 2020 due to COVID-19, 
no revenues were recognised for tangible marketing 
rights, which explain the significant variance to 2019. The 
only revenue from marketing rights in 2020 was therefore 
from intangible rights. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no 

meaningful direct comparison can be made of two consecutive 
years due to the different nature and number of broadcasting 
hours of FIFA competitions held in those years. Revenue should 
be analysed considering the full four-year cycle of FIFA.
 
FIFA National Supporters only have the contractual right for 
one single other FIFA event. As a consequence, revenue for 
these contracts is recognised in the period in which the event 
takes place.

In 2020, the value of services or goods included in the  
above-mentioned marketing rights (i.e. value-in-kind revenue) 
amounted to USD 5.8 million (2019: USD 16.8 million).

3 Revenue from licensing rights

in TUSD 2020 2019

Brand licensing rights  157,302 153,433

Other licensing rights  1,579 6,094

Total revenue from licensing rights 158,881 159,527

Brand licensing rights are related to FIFA marks and brand 
elements in connection with FIFA World Cup™ products and 
other services.

Licensing rights from products and services for other FIFA 
events are presented as other licensing rights.

The majority of the licensing rights contracts consist of royalty 
payments with a specified minimum guarantee threshold. 
FIFA reassesses these contracts after each reporting period, 

whether or not the royalty amounts to be received will exceed 
the contractual minimum guarantee threshold. Where the 
expected total royalties to be received for significant contracts 
clearly exceed the minimum threshold, these have been 
estimated and included in the transaction price.

In 2020, the value of services or goods included in licensing 
rights (i.e. value-in-kind revenue) amounted to USD 0.5 million 
(2019: USD 4.3 million).
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4 Revenue from hospitality/accommodation rights and ticket sales

in TUSD 2020 2019

Revenue from hospitality/accommodation rights – FIFA World Cup™ 0 0

Revenue from hospitality/accommodation rights – other FIFA events 0 0

Revenue from ticket sales – FIFA World Cup™ 0 0

Revenue from ticket sales – other FIFA events 0 7,931

Total revenue from hospitality/accommodation rights and ticket sales 0 7,931

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, FIFA tournaments 
originally scheduled for 2020 were either cancelled or 
postponed. Accordingly, no revenue from  
hospitality/accommodation rights and ticket sales was 

recognised in 2020.
In 2019, “Revenue from ticket sales – other FIFA events” 
consisted of ticket sales for the FIFA U-20 World Cup Poland 
2019 and the FIFA Club World Cup Qatar 2019™.

5 Other revenue and income

in TUSD 2020 2019

FIFA Quality Programme  9,441 16,493

Penalties/appeals  6,029 7,571

Income from the sale of film and video rights  3,524 1,899

Rent from real estate  2,466 4,320

FIFA World Football Museum  1,518 3,492

FIFA Club World Cup™  0 23,118

Gain on sale of investment properties  0 17,162

Revenue from prior cycles and other  8,508 16,711

Total other revenue and income 31,486 90,766

Other revenue is recognised in the accounting period in  
which the services are rendered. In 2020, it mainly comprised 
revenue generated from the FIFA Quality Programme,  
penalties/appeals, and prior cycles and other.

The “FIFA Quality Programme” item contains revenue in 
connection with test programmes for footballs, football turf 
and goal-line technology.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the FIFA Club World 
Cup™, originally planned to be held in December 2020, was 
rescheduled for February 2021. No revenues were therefore 
recognised for 2020.

In 2019, FIFA sold the Hotel Ascot investment property, a 
non-strategic investment of FIFA, recognising a gain on sale of 
USD 17.2 million.

Revenue from prior cycles and other includes various smaller 
sources of revenue, such as revenue generated from players’ 
status-related proceedings, donations and revenue from prior 
cycles.

Notes | 2020 financial statements
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6 Competitions & Events

in TUSD 2020 2019

FIFA World Cup™ 0 0

FIFA eFootball tournaments 2020 8,411 0

The Best FIFA Football Awards™ 2020 1,642 0

FIFA Club World Cup Qatar 2020™ 0 0

FIFA U-20 Women`s World Cup Costa Rica 2020™ 0 0

FIFA U-17 Women`s World Cup India 2020™ 0 0

FIFA Futsal World Cup Lithuania 2020™ 0 0

Olympic Football Tournaments Tokyo 2020 0 0

Blue Stars/FIFA Youth Cup 2020 0 0

FIFA Beach Soccer World Cup Paraguay 2019™ 610 5,510

FIFA U-17 World Cup Brazil 2019™ 256 25,971

The Best FIFA Football Awards™ 2019 92 9,108

FIFA U-20 World Cup Poland 2019 79 23,840

FIFA eWorld Cup 2019™ 19 5,616

FIFA Club World Cup Qatar 2019™ –44 22,069

FIFA Women`s World Cup France 2019™ –1,463 156,891

Blue Stars/FIFA Youth Cup 2019 0 1,076

FIFA events from previous cycles –222 –90,897

Value-in-kind and other 3,690 18,192

Total other FIFA events 13,070 177,376

FIFA Club Protection Programme 10,194 24,814

Personnel expenses 35,667 33,760

Depreciation of property and equipment 4,454 3,253

Total Competitions & Events 63,385 239,203

FIFA World Cup™
Preparations for hosting the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ 
are in full swing. With four stadiums inaugurated and fully 
operational in 2020 and a further four in the final stages of 
construction, Qatar anticipates that all eight stadiums will 
be completed well in advance of the tournament in 2022. 
The infrastructure is also in place, including a state-of-the-art 
underground railway system and the expansion of the Hamad 
International Airport to accommodate 53 million passengers 
in 2022.

Expenses relating to the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022 
incurred up to the end of 2020 have been deferred and will 
be recognised in profit or loss in 2022, the year in which 
the event will take place. These expenses have arisen in 
the process of organising the tournament, and amounted 
to USD 115 million as at the end of 2020. The main costs 
related to TV production at USD 48.5 million, staffing and 
office management at USD 26.1 million, financing of the 
FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022 Local Organising Committee 
at USD 13.7 million, competition management in the form 
of qualifying matches at USD 6.1 million, insurance fees at 
USD 4.6 million and general event-management expenses at 
USD 16 million, which includes marketing and legal costs.

Other FIFA events
Other FIFA events for 2020 include FIFA eTournaments (such 
as the FIFAe Club World Cup 2020™, the FIFAe Continental 
Cup 2020™ and FIFA eNations StayAndPlay Friendlies) and the 
Best FIFA Football Awards™ 2020, which was held virtually 
in December 2020. The expenses for other FIFA events are 
recognised in the year in which the event takes place, and 
include the event organising costs, such as promotion, 
production, prize money, accommodation and operations. 

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, FIFA’s other football 
tournaments, qualifiers and football-related events scheduled 
for 2020 were either cancelled or postponed. For those 
tournaments that were postponed, expenses incurred up to 
the end of 2020 have been deferred and will be recognised in 
profit or loss in the year in which the event takes place. This 
applies to the FIFA Club World Cup Qatar 2020™, the FIFA 
Futsal World Cup Lithuania 2020™ and the Olympic Football 
Tournaments Tokyo 2020. If a tournament is cancelled, the 
deferred cost will be released immediately.
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For the cancelled women’s youth tournaments – the FIFA 
U-20 Women’s World Cup Costa Rica 2020™ and FIFA U-17 
Women’s World Cup India 2020™ – the Bureau of the Council 
decided that the hosting rights for the 2022 editions would 
be offered to the same countries that were due to host the 
2020 editions. As a consequence, accumulated expenses will 
be applied to the 2022 editions, resulting in their deferral and 
the recognition of costs in profit or loss in 2022.

In 2020, the line item “FIFA events from previous cycles” 
mainly benefited from the release of accruals in connection 
with cost savings relating to the FIFA events staged in 
previous cycles.

“Value-in-kind and other” relates to expenses for overall 
operations as well as for value-in-kind costs, which include 
predetermined services and the delivery of goods to be used 
in connection with other FIFA events.

FIFA Club Protection Programme
Under the FIFA Club Protection Programme, clubs will be 
compensated for any injuries due to an accident sustained by 
their players while on duty with senior men’s representative 
“A” teams for matches on dates listed in the international 
match calendar for the period between 1 January 2020 and 
31 December 2020. FIFA provides compensation up to a 
maximum amount for losses incurred by the football club 
during the period that the football player is temporarily totally 
disabled. Costs for the FIFA Club Protection Programme are 
costs for FIFA and are recognised in the year they are incurred.

Since the number of international matches was reduced in 
2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the total incidents 
reported by clubs under the programme in respect of accidents 
fell to 32. As a consequence, expenses in the FIFA Club 
Protection Programme line item amounted to USD 10.2 million 
(2019: USD 24.8 million). 
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7 Development & Education

in TUSD 2020 2019

FIFA Forward project costs member associations 43,166 73,628

FIFA Forward operational costs member associations 211,000 211,000

FIFA Forward confederations 72,000 72,000

FIFA Forward travel and equipment 21,600 32,400

FIFA Forward zonal/regional associations 13,000 13,000

FIFA Forward other football associations 0 2,400

Other projects 11,676 8,363

Technical development programmes 10,745 9,140

WHO solidarity fund 10,000 0

FIFA Foundation 4,768 1,919

Education 4,666 4,645

Refereeing 3,694 12,727

Audit and financial education 1,843 2,876

Women’s football promotion 1,317 9,192

Sustainability, human rights and anti-discrimination 699 473

Medicine and science 689 1,280

Total Development & Education programmes 410,863 455,043

FIFA World Football Museum 3,765 6,322

Personnel expenses 34,319 30,747

Depreciation of property and equipment 21,656 20,588

Total Development & Education 470,603 512,700

In 2020, expenses related to the FIFA Forward Programme for 
the member associations, for zonal/regional associations and 
confederations, travel and equipment and for other football 
associations totalled USD 360.8 million.

FIFA Forward project costs member associations
Each of the 211 member associations is entitled to receive up 
to USD 2 million for projects over the 2019-2022 cycle. In 2020, 
FIFA provided resources and assistance for projects totalling 
USD 43.2 million (2019: USD 73.6 million).

FIFA Forward operational costs member associations 
Each member association is entitled to receive up to 
USD 1 million per year for operational costs under Forward 2.0. 
Such expenses are associated with normal business operations 
and include those relating to administration, national teams,  
running domestic competitions and permanent administrative 
and technical staff.

FIFA Forward confederations
The six confederations recognised by FIFA are entitled to 
receive USD 12 million per year each, totalling USD 72 million 
in investment per year. The purpose of these funds is to enable 
the confederations to provide support and resources for all its 
members and to further promote the interests of football.

FIFA Forward travel and equipment
The aim of this funding category is to cover the costs of 
national team travel and football equipment for those 
member associations that are identified as being in need 

of the most assistance and whose annual revenues do not 
exceed USD 4 million. In accordance with the Forward 2.0 
regulations, in the 2019-2022 cycle, those member associations 
are entitled to receive up to USD 0.2 million per year for travel 
and accommodation, and up to USD 0.2 million for equipment. 
In 2020, 108 member associations fulfilled the criteria for the 
relevant funding, producing a total of USD 21.6 million in 
expenses (2019: USD 32.4 million).

FIFA Forward zonal/regional associations
The 13 zonal/regional associations (recognised by the respective 
confederation) are entitled to receive up to USD 1 million per 
each year to pay for the cost of organising regional youth 
competitions for men, women and young players.

FIFA Forward other football associations
Other football associations benefiting from the FIFA Forward 
Programme are overseas territories that are not FIFA member 
associations but members of a confederation recognised by 
FIFA. In 2020, no investments were made under this initiative 
(2019: USD 2.4 million).

Other projects
“Other projects” relates to the support services of the  
Member Associations Division, which can be used for  
capacity-building and educational purposes through training 
activities, workshops, targeted missions, pilot projects and 
consulting activities. To this end, FIFA uses platforms and tools 
for sharing good practices such as the FIFA Connect Programme, 
which gives members complete visibility of their football 
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landscape and also has a significant impact on their governance. 
Other initiatives include statutes revision missions or the Football 
Executive Programme in collaboration with the International 
Centre for Sports Studies (CIES). The Member Associations 
Division is supported by the FIFA’s Regional Development Offices, 
which are situated in strategic locations around the world to 
further improve interaction with member associations.

Expenses relating to the Regional Development Offices 
amounted to USD 0.5 million (2019: USD 1.4 million), the FIFA 
Connect Programme to USD 2.1 million (2019: USD 1.8 million), 
and other general expenses (which include programmes from 
previous years) to USD 9.1 million (2019: USD 5.2 million).

Technical development programmes
The COVID-19 pandemic gave rise to a whole new way of 
providing technical support to member associations. Over 
360 coach educators were mentored online on an individual 
basis. In total, 179 forums and online workshops were 
organised for technical directors to become stronger leaders, 
and 36 technical directors received individual mentoring.

FIFA’s Talent Development Programme was launched in the 
reporting year by FIFA’s Chief of Global Development Arsène 
Wenger. The initial focus of the programme was to gain a 
full understanding of the talent pathways for boys and girls 
and high-performance set-up at all member associations, over 
200 of whom responded positively by opening their doors 
to participate. Extensive surveys were completed, over 1,000 
online interviews conducted with key personnel and more 
than 1,500 academies assessed. Individual and global reports 
with benchmarks will provide the basis for a targeted support 
programme starting in 2021.

Performance analysis was intensified, the aim being to deliver 
a whole new experience for fans and participants at future 
FIFA World Cups™. A new online FIFA training centre will be 
launched in 2021 and feature regular innovative content in 
the technical football domain. This content will be accessible 
by the public as well as by dedicated communities of football 
technicians.

Expenses for educational campaigns and workshops amounted 
to USD 1.7 million (2019: USD 3.9 million). Analysis, consultancy 
and technical service expenses increased due to the global 
ecosystem analysis and totalled USD 8.5 million (2019: 
USD 3.2 million). Other development programme expenses, 
such as for grassroots and youth development initiatives, 
amounted to USD 0.5 million (2019: USD 1.4 million).

WHO solidarity fund
FIFA joined forces with the World Health Organization (WHO) 
in the fight against the COVID-19 pandemic by pledging 
USD 10 million to the WHO’s COVID-19 Solidarity Response 
Fund. Donations support the WHO’s work to track and 
understand the spread of the virus, to ensure that patients 
receive the necessary care and frontline workers obtain 
essential supplies and information, and to accelerate the 
research and development of a vaccine and treatments for all 
who need them.

FIFA Foundation
The purpose of the FIFA Foundation is to help promote 
positive social change around the world and raise support 
for the recovery and reconstruction of damaged or destroyed 
sports infrastructure worldwide. To this end, there is an 
array of programmes in place, such as the FIFA Foundation 
Community Programme, which supports organisations that use 

football as a tool for social change and improve the lives of 
underprivileged young people around the world, and the FIFA 
Foundation Recovery Programme, which supports communities 
hit hard by natural disasters or unforeseen events with 
solidarity and emergency funding. FIFA also makes a general 
contribution by bringing together FIFA Legends to visit and 
interact with communities and create memorable moments.

In 2020, the expenses of the FIFA Foundation amounted to 
USD 4.8 million (2019: USD 1.9 million).

Education
FIFA provides annual financial support to CIES, which is based 
in Neuchâtel, Switzerland. With its multidisciplinary approach, 
CIES provides research, educational and consulting services for 
the world of sport.

FIFA’s contributions to CIES amounted to USD 4.7 million 
in 2020 (2019: USD 4.6 million). The figure includes the 
FIFA Master along with several post-graduate programmes 
worldwide, including scholarships for deserving students.

Refereeing
Refereeing activities focus on improving the quality of 
referees, assistant referees, video match officials, instructors, 
futsal and beach soccer referees in all member associations via 
different activities. Due to the major impact of COVID-19 in 
2020, FIFA Refereeing quickly pivoted from in-person to online 
referee courses for member associations. By the end of 2020, 
it had conducted around 400 member association courses and 
12 Futuro instructor courses online, benefiting over 12,000 
members of the refereeing community. It also made significant 
strides in global referee development by investing in two new 
online tools, the Referee Education & Development (RED) tool, 
which provides access to FIFA teaching materials for the entire 
global refereeing community, and the RefAssist platform, 
which greatly improves the efficiency of refereeing course 
administration. Another significant development in 2020 was 
FIFA’s assumption of full responsibility for the video assistant 
referee (VAR) system, a role that had previously been handled 
by The IFAB.

Refereeing project expenses for FIFA World Cups amounted 
to USD 0.5 million in 2020 (2019: USD 4 million). General 
development and equipment expenses, which mainly refer 
to event-related preparation work and implementation costs 
such as for the VAR system, totalled USD 3.2 million (2019: 
USD 8.7 million).

Audit and financial education
Audit and financial education places the focus firmly on 
establishing good financial governance. FIFA shares its 
knowledge of financial management, which includes auditing, 
monitoring and reporting activities as key controls for 
identifying areas that require improvement. FIFA also appoints 
globally recognised audit and assurance firms, which perform 
independent reviews on a member association’s processes and 
compliance with regulations.

Every year, a central audit review is conducted for each 
member association that has received funds under the 
Forward Programme. In 2020, expenses for audit and financial 
education amounted to USD 1.8 million (2019: USD 2.9 million).

Women’s football promotion
With a view to achieving its global strategic objectives for 
women’s football and to build on the momentum created 
by the FIFA Women’s World Cup 2019™, in 2020 FIFA 
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launched women’s football development programmes for all 
211 member associations to help them grow the female game 
in their countries.

FIFA developed a tailor-made approach and support for 
the associations that included various tools, handbooks and 
online delivery frameworks that could be used across the 
globe for different programmes.

Support ranged from strategy development workshops, 
grassroots programme implementation and assistance for 
leagues to club licensing and capacity-building for a variety 
of roles in women’s football – technical, administrative and 
executive. Together with the confederations, FIFA delivered 
and continues to deliver online capacity-building for women’s 
football officers and other staff members of its associations.

Since many football events were disrupted by COVID-19 in 
2020, support services for football stakeholders naturally fell 
to USD 1.3 million (2019: USD 9.2 million).

Sustainability, human rights and anti-discrimination
Throughout 2020, FIFA continued to strengthen its human 
rights-related efforts in line with its Human Rights Policy  
and the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights. 
As part of these activities, a new Human Rights &  
Anti-Discrimination Department was created. FIFA also 
continued to engage with the Human Rights Advisory Board 
and a wide range of other external stakeholders.

In addition, FIFA continued its human rights work 
related to tournaments, including by expanding labour 
rights monitoring, and ensuring inclusive and accessible 
infrastructure and services for the FIFA World Cup Qatar 
2022™, and by integrating human rights into the planning 
for the FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023™ and the FIFA World 
Cup 2026™. In its efforts to protect the environment and the 
climate, FIFA continued to develop its obligations in line with 
its pledge to the UN Sports for Climate Action Framework. 
It also published its comprehensive FIFA World Cup 2022™ 
Sustainability Strategy outlining FIFA’s five sustainability 
commitments, 22 strategic objectives and more than 70 
concrete initiatives and programmes.

FIFA’s commitment to promoting safe sport and raising 
safeguarding standards in football was further strengthened 
by rolling out the FIFA Guardians™ programme. FIFA 
Guardians helps member associations to introduce stronger 
safeguarding measures in football to ensure the safety 
and well-being of everyone across the game, especially 
children. FIFA also joined forces with the WHO and European 
Commission to launch the #SafeHome campaign to support 
women and children at risk of domestic violence.

Expenses for sustainability and human rights activities 
amounted to USD 0.2 million (2019: USD 0.2 million). 
Anti-discrimination activities resulted in expenses of 
USD 0.2 million (2019: USD 0.3 million). Activities relating 
safeguarding and child protection totalled 0.3 million.

Medicine and science
FIFA strives to provide top-level medical services at its 
tournaments to protect and improve the health of all players 
worldwide. Working closely with medical experts, the FIFA 
Medical Subdivision and FIFA Anti-Doping Department 
develop ways of building a healthier future through football 
by raising awareness of health issues through its medical 
campaigns. FIFA aims to keep football free of doping 
and lead by example to safeguard the future success and 
sustainability of football around the world.

In 2020, FIFA’s expenses in the anti-doping sector amounted to 
USD 0.4 million (2019: USD 0.8 million), which included tests, 
controls and related educational activities. The remaining 
expenses related to medical testing, medical conferences and 
football medicine courses, which also includes the free online 
FIFA Diploma in Football Medicine course, and amounted to 
USD 0.3 million (2019: USD 0.5 million).

FIFA World Football Museum
In view of the COVID-19 pandemic, a further increase in 
visitor numbers was not possible after the previous two 
consecutive record years. However, the museum was still 
able to meet its cultural and social responsibilities. The first 
FIFA Museum Conference (held virtually) brought together 
football museums and cultural institutions from all corners of 
the world in a joint global effort to preserve the rich heritage 
of football and connect people through the beautiful game. 
The museum also introduced a new exhibition area, the 
Virtual Pitch, as well as a cultural programme dedicated to 
the phenomenon of eFootball, both of which impressed with 
their modern, digital and interactive elements. Its educational 
programme, which included free admission for school classes, 
was successfully expanded.

Responding to the COVID-19 pandemic, the museum reduced 
its operational costs in 2020 to USD 3.8 million (2019: 
USD 6.3 million).

Personnel expenses
Thanks to FIFA’s endeavours in recent years to modernise its 
administrative processes (especially in terms of digitalisation), 
the organisation was ideally placed to respond to the 
pandemic in 2020 by enabling its employees to work from 
home with the minimum of inconvenience and by pursuing 
a“health-first”approach.

Meetings, conferences and various other important 
activities were adapted for remote participation, enabling 
FIFA’s employees to maintain their high productivity. 
Personnel expenses increased slightly in 2020 amounting to 
USD 34.3 million (2019: USD 30.7 million). For further details, 
please refer to Note 31 – Personnel expenses.

Depreciation of property and equipment
Depreciation expenses for operational buildings, offices and 
other equipment as well as right-of-use assets remained 
stable at USD 21.7 million (2019: USD 20.6 million). FIFA did 
not identify any indicators for impairment in 2020. 
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8 Football Governance

in TUSD 2020 2019

Football governance bodies and third-party services 10,205 12,318

Personnel expenses 17,983 18,315

Depreciation of property and equipment 2,088 2,132

Total Football Governance 30,276 32,765

Football Governance consists of all expenditure in relation to 
FIFA’s statutory objective to govern association football and 
related matters. It includes football governance bodies and 
third parties, which act as regulators of football, defining 
and protecting the Laws of the Game. Consequently, it does 
not include any governance relating to FIFA itself, which 
is presented under FIFA Governance & Administration (see 
Note 9).

Football governance bodies include the judicial bodies – 
the Ethics, Disciplinary and Appeal Committees – and the 
decision-making bodies – the Players’ Status Committee  
(PSC) and Dispute Resolution Chamber (DRC). The judicial 
bodies apply the criteria and rules as defined by the FIFA 
Governance Regulations and are elected by the Congress  
for four-year terms. In 2020, their activities resulted in 
expenses of USD 1.9 million (2019: USD 2.6 million). The  
decision-making bodies deal with various contractual and 
regulatory disputes between football stakeholders. The PSC 
monitors compliance with the Regulations on the Status 
and Transfer of Players and determines the status of players 
for various FIFA competitions. For its part, the DRC provides 
arbitration services on the basis of the equal representation 
of players and clubs. Their combined expenses totalled 
USD 1.1 million (2019: USD 0.9 million).

In 2020, FIFA announced the introduction of the FIFA Clearing 
House, which is expected to be fully operational by the end 
of 2021. The aim of the Clearing House is to coordinate and 

ensure the payment of the solidarity contribution and training 
rewards due to clubs that train players, in accordance with 
the provisions laid down in the Regulations on the Status and 
Transfer of Players. The project costs for the FIFA Clearing 
House project in 2020 amounted to USD 2.1 million. 

Third-party services include the agreement with Sportradar  
totalling USD 2.1 million (2019: USD 2.7 million), which 
provides FIFA with its Fraud Detection System to identify and 
prevent match manipulation, the Transfer Matching System 
with its online platform to capture player transfers, which 
amounted to USD 0.2 million (2019: USD 1.7 million), The 
International Football Association Board (IFAB) as the guardian 
of the Laws of the Game of association football, which 
totalled USD 2.3 million (2019: USD 3.3 million), and general 
professional football services amounting to USD 0.5 million 
(2019: USD 1.1 million).

Personnel expenses in Football Governance amounted to 
USD 18.0 million (2019: USD 18.3 million) and include legal 
and compliance advice to various FIFA divisions and all internal 
bodies and committees, and the processing of FIFA’s entire 
legal portfolio in cases heard before various courts, such as the 
Court of Arbitration for Sport. For further details, please refer 
to Note 31 – Personnel expenses.



138 FIFA Annual Report 2020

Notes | 2020 financial statements

9  FIFA Governance & Administration

in TUSD 2020 2019

Information technology 24,876 22,487

Communications 16,108 24,317

Legal costs 11,580 10,692

Buildings and maintenance 5,530 7,436

Annual FIFA Congress and committees 4,342 26,458

Expected credit losses of receivables and contract assets 210 1,495

Other 9,049 16,481

Personnel expenses 89,972 99,982

Depreciation of property and equipment/investment properties 7,234 8,595

Total FIFA Governance & Administration 168,901 217,943

FIFA Governance & Administration comprises all costs related 
to the governance and administration of FIFA. In 2020, 
FIFA introduced several cost-saving measures in response to 
COVID-19, resulting in generally lower administrative expenses 
compared to the previous year.

In the field of information technology, FIFA continues to 
invest in technical solutions that allow the organisation to 
meet its business and financial objectives. Data and technology 
are constantly improved to make other departments function 
more smoothly. In addition to existing systems such as the 
Integrated Football and Event System and FIFA’s enterprise 
resource planning tool, this includes new platforms such as in 
the area of volunteer and workforce management. For this 
purpose, FIFA also obtains the necessary expertise externally to 
complement its internal staff and to support the digitalisation 
of business processes. The above projects, along with the 
associated expertise, generated expenses of USD 13.9 million 
in 2020 (2019: USD 8.8 million). In addition, FIFA stepped up 
its efforts to extend its IT infrastructure to cloud services, as 
well as acquired or updated relevant hardware and software 
components that support its computing requirements, 
while reducing its general infrastructural investment and 
corresponding operational costs to USD 7.2 million (2019: 
USD 10.8 million). IT governance and security expenses 
totalled USD 3.8 million (2019: USD 2.9 million).

In 2020, communications expenses mainly involved digital 
connectivity, i.e. the ability to communicate with others by 
digital means, and the development of digital products to 
further expand the Communications Division’s reach and 
strengthen the relationships with its audiences. The expenses 
include the development and deployment of ICT technologies 
amounting to USD 8.5 million (2019: USD 16.1 million), media 
and digital media to USD 2.5 million (2019: USD 1.6 million), 
and producing and sharing editorial content totalling 
USD 1.6 million (2019: USD 3 million). General expenses 
related to communication services, public affairs and strategic 
planning totalled USD 1.8 million (2019: USD 0.7 million). 
The division continued to support its eFootball and gaming 
activities to the tune of USD 1.7 million in 2020 (2019: 
USD 2.9 million).

Legal costs cover various legal matters with respect to disputes 
and consultations in relation to the core business of FIFA as 
well as legal and governance costs related to investigations. 
For further details, please refer to Note 26 – Provisions and 
Note 32 – Contingent liabilities.

Buildings and maintenance decreased in comparison to 
the previous year as a result of either cancelled or delayed 
refurbishments of FIFA’s properties and reduced maintenance 
activities. Adhering to the official advice regarding the 
COVID-19 outbreak, FIFA integrated various hygiene and safety 
measures in all of its properties. 

Expenses in this line item relate to maintenance work for 
the Home of FIFA amounting to USD 2.6 million (2019: 
USD 2.8 million) and to USD 2.0 million (2019: USD 2.4 million) 
for the other properties. General servicing costs include those 
relating to corporate security, logistics and hospitality and 
amounted to USD 0.9 million (2019: USD 2.2 million).

For the first time ever, the FIFA Congress took place as an 
online event in 2020, using a virtual platform to address 
football delegates all over the world. As a result, there was no 
travel involving the committee members and official delegates 
of the 211 member associations, the six confederations or the 
other guests of the Congress. The costs of the annual FIFA 
Congress thus decreased accordingly to USD 1.1 million (2019: 
USD 19.4 million) and the related travel and accommodation 
expenses fell to USD 0.4 million (2019: USD 3.9 million). Other 
costs contained in the Annual FIFA Congress and committees 
line item related to the meetings of the standing committees 
(except the Players’ Status Committee), and amounted to 
USD 2.8 million (2019: USD 3.2 million).

Expected credit losses of receivables and contract assets 
amounted to USD 0.2 million (2019: USD 1.5 million) and 
represent impairments of overdue trade receivables from 
contracts with customers.

Since pandemic-related travel restrictions applied to various 
countries and territories, the expenses in the Other line item 
decreased in comparison to the previous year. In detail, costs 
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10  Marketing & TV Broadcasting 

in TUSD 2020 2019

Marketing rights 9,827 12,388

Broadcasting and media rights 4,777 5,083

Licensing rights 2,934 2,087

Sales commission and other 688 5,923

Personnel expenses 20,831 16,554

Depreciation of property and equipment 1,871 1,608

Total Marketing & TV Broadcasting 40,928 43,643

The Marketing & TV Broadcasting expenses reflect the 
costs incurred by the FIFA Commercial Division for the 
commercialisation of FIFA’s marketing and broadcasting 
rights. In this respect, FIFA ensures and provides correct 
oversight, assistance and promotional activities for rights 
which have been transferred to Commercial Affiliates.

In terms of marketing rights, FIFA continues to invest in new 
commercial digital products to meet the demands of the 
information age, adding new solutions to various platforms 
(e.g. mobile ticketing) and thus interacting more closely 
with its stakeholders. At the same time, FIFA is constantly 
optimising its market positioning strategies to secure its 
marketing alliances.

Broadcasting and media rights expenses include broadcaster 
services and FIFA films and products, which also include 
any forms of information that are broadcast or streamed 
digitally.

Licensing rights expenses are essentially produced by the FIFA 
Quality Programme, which operates a licensing scheme with 
internationally recognised quality standards for products, 
technologies and pitch surfaces.

Sales commission and other mainly relates to agents’ fees 
for the 2019-2022 cycle. The costs have been capitalised so 
that amortisation in the following years matches the IFRS 15 
revenue recognition pattern of the underlying FIFA revenue 
contracts (see Note 18 – Contract assets). Since most of the 
FIFA events in 2020 were postponed, the related commission 
expenses have decreased accordingly.

for travel and accommodation, public relations, advertising 
and entertainment along with general IT support expenses 
amounted to USD 0.1 million (2019: USD 7.5 million), 
consultancy, audit and translation costs totalled USD 3.5 million 
(2019: USD 4.8 million), while insurance and other office 
administration activities amounted to USD 5.4 million (2019: 
USD 4.2 million).

Personnel expenses in FIFA Governance & Administration 
relate to the support of basic functions, including that of 
administration and management, information technology, 
employee relations and workplace safety. In 2020, personnel 
expenses amounted to USD 90 million (2019: USD 100 million).
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11 COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3)

in TUSD 2020 2019

COVID-19 Relief Plan – solidarity grants 186,000 0

COVID-19 Relief Plan – confederation grants 12,000 0

COVID-19 Relief Plan – women's football grants 72,500 0

Total COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3) 270,500 0

The COVID-19 pandemic has posed an immense global 
challenge. In order to alleviate its impact on the world of 
football, FIFA set up a COVID-19 Relief Plan, which was 
approved by the FIFA Council on 25 June 2020. This global 
support plan will make up to USD 1.5 billion available to assist 
the football community, and will consist of three stages.
Stages 1 and 2 are linked to the existing FIFA Forward 
programme. In stage 3, further financial support is provided 
via a system of grants and loans that enable member 
associations and confederations to use the available funds as 
they see fit and thus help safeguard football in their region 
from the adverse economic effects of COVID-19.

Further details on the funds released under the COVID-19 
Relief Plan stages 1-3 are contained in Note 24 – Accrued 
expenses, Note 22 – Financial assets and in the Annexe to this 
report.

Details of the COVID-19 Relief Plan grants (stage 3) are 
outlined below and in the Annexe. 

COVID-19 Relief Plan – solidarity grants relates to a 
universal solidarity grant of USD 1 million that has been 
made available to each of the 211 member associations at 
a total of USD 211 million. As at 31 December 2020, a total 
of USD 186 million in grants had been expensed, of which 
USD 89.8 million was paid out.

COVID-19 Relief Plan – confederation grants concerns a 
basic solidarity fund of USD 2 million to each of the six 
confederations at a total of USD 12 million, all of which was 
paid out. 

In order to protect women‘s football and to ensure its healthy 
resumption, dedicated funds were also made available 
under COVID-19 Relief Plan – women’s football grants, with 
USD 0.5 million being paid to each member association. The 
total amount available is USD 105.5 million, with a release of 
USD 72.5 million reported for 2020.

12 Financial costs

in TUSD 2020 2019

Interest expenses 8,596 10,633

Expenses from debt securities 1,757 1,718

Foreign currency losses 39,958 18,614

Losses from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 161,886 62,092

Other financial expenses 2,044 897

Total financial costs 214,241 93,954

The overriding long-term objective of FIFA’s investment policy 
is the preservation of the real value of FIFA’s financial assets. 
FIFA continued to focus on maintaining a strong and reliable 
portfolio, which is why only counterparties with good or very 
good credit ratings were chosen. 

For the interest expenses on lease liabilities, representing the 
largest share in the above interest expenses line item, please 
refer to Note 27 – Leases.

Expenses from debt securities include interest expenses on 
debt securities that are measured at amortised cost and debt 
securities measured at FVOCI.

Foreign currency losses mainly result from the valuation of net 
assets denominated in foreign currencies such as CHF, EUR and 
RUB. 

Losses from financial instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss primarily include losses on derivatives that are not 
accounted for hedging purposes.
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13 Financial income

in TUSD 2020 2019

Interest income from cash and cash equivalents 6,122 16,451

Income from deposits and debt securities 30,120 37,169

Foreign currency gains 160,636 44,526

Gains from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 112,892 91,724

Total financial income 309,770 189,870

Income from deposits and debt securities represent interest 
income on debt securities that are measured at amortised 
cost and on debt securities that are measured at FVOCI.

Foreign currency gains mainly result from the valuation of 
net assets denominated in foreign currencies such as CHF, 
EUR and BRL.

Gains from financial instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss include income on derivatives that are not accounted 
for hedging purposes. 

14 Taxes and duties

in TUSD 2020 2019

Taxes and duties 471 623

Total taxes and duties 471 623

Pursuant to the Swiss taxation rules, the statutory financial 
statements are the basis for taxation. In FIFA’s statutory 
financial statements, the character of a non-profit 
organisation, the obligation to spend the net result, reserves 
and funds on the development of football, the four-year 
accounting cycle, and the financial risks inherent to FIFA’s 
core event – the FIFA World Cup™ – are all duly considered. 
FIFA’s restricted reserves are reviewed on a regular basis 
to assess whether they are commercially justified as per 

the applicable tax laws. The final assessment with the tax 
authority will happen after the completion of the four-year 
cycle and is based on the final assessment of the required 
funds and reserves. The normal tax rate for associations 
applies. FIFA’s subsidiaries are taxed based on the applicable 
local tax laws.

This position includes all non-recoverable taxes and duties 
borne by FIFA or its subsidiaries.
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Notes to the consolidated  
balance sheet

15 Cash and cash equivalents

in TUSD 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Cash on hand, post and bank accounts 216,305 181,724

Short-term deposits with maturities of up to 3 months 938,886 597,792

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,155,191 779,516

Restricted cash and cash equivalents amounted to 
USD 23.6 million in 2020 (2019: USD 5.7 million), which  

are related to the margin accounts, and the balances are 
therefore not immediately available for general use by FIFA.

16 Receivables

in TUSD 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Receivables from the sale of rights

Due from third parties 393,855 220,824

Provision for bad debts –16,505 –16,085

Total receivables from the sale of rights 377,350 204,739

Other receivables

Due from member associations and confederations 14,612 11,501

Due from related parties 20 0

Due from third parties 25,498 20,764

Provision for bad debts –77 –62

Total other receivables 40,053 32,203

Total receivables, net 417,403 236,942

The majority of the open receivables from the sale of rights 
relate to contractual payments from broadcasters and 
sponsors. FIFA receives payments from customers based on a 

billing schedule, as established in the contracts with customers. 
Account receivables are unconditional, as the instalments are 
non-cancellable and non-refundable once received.

Provisions for bad debts

in TUSD 2020 2019

Balance as at 1 January 16,147 18,436

Use/release –338 –2,492

Additions 759 207

Foreign exchange effect 13 –4

Balance as at 31 December 16,581 16,147

Additions to bad debt provisions are related to an impairment 
of overdue trade receivables from contracts with customers. 
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18 Contract assets

in TUSD 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Contract assets 100,627 70,264

Contract acquisition costs 11,862 4,638

Total contract assets 112,489 74,902

Ageing analysis of receivables

in TUSD 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Not due 238,447 229,387

Overdue – less than 30 days 22,752 3,472

Overdue – less than 60 days 127 513

Overdue – more than 60 days 172,658 19,717

Total receivables 433,984 253,089

17 Prepaid expenses and other accrued income

in TUSD 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Prepaid expenses 21,194 67,986

Other accrued income 15,109 16,919

Total current prepaid expenses and other accrued income 36,303 84,905

Prepaid expenses 126,687 56,449

Total non-current prepaid expenses 126,687 56,449

Prepaid expenses mainly relate to deferred costs in connection 
with the FIFA World Cup™ and other FIFA events. 

Other accrued income primarily consists of accrued interest 
income.

Contract assets relate to FIFA’s past performance under a contract 
for which the customer has not yet paid consideration or before 
payment is due. They are transferred to receivables when the 
right to receive payment becomes unconditional. Contract assets 
are regularly reviewed for impairment indicators.

Significant changes in contract asset balances during the 
period are as follows:

in TUSD 2020 2019

Contract assets as at 1 January 70,264 47,923

Transfers from contract assets recognised at the beginning of the period to receivables –58,218 –47,923

Increase as a result of changes in the measure of progress 88,701 70,292

Impairment loss –120 –28

Contract assets as at 31 December 100,627 70,264

Of which current 100,627 58,190

Of which non-current 0 12,074
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FIFA has recognised contract acquisition costs arising from 
the capitalisation of incremental agency fees. These costs 
have been incurred in order to obtain certain Asian television 
broadcasting rights and contracts with FIFA World Cup Sponsors.

The contract acquisition costs are amortised in line with 
the pattern of when services are actually provided to the 
customers. 

The above table includes revenue expected to be recognised 
in FIFA’s current four-year business cycle ending with the FIFA 
World Cup™ in 2022 and is related to performance obligations 
that are unsatisfied during the reporting period. Revenue 
from unsatisfied performance obligations at 31 December 

in TUSD 2020 2019

Contract acquisition costs as at 1 January 4,638 0

Costs of obtaining contracts during the year  7,385 8,526

Amortisation recognised as cost of providing services during the year  –161 –3,888

Contract cost assets as at 31 December 11,862 4,638

2020, which is expected to be recognised in the cycles ending 
in 2026 and 2030, amounts to USD 4,194 million (as at 
31 December 2019: USD 4,036 million). Contracted revenue 
will be recognised in line with the transfer of control over 
services as described in Note E.

19 Inventories

in TUSD 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Held for distribution 4,450 0

Total inventories 4,450 0

Inventories as at 31 December 2020 related to footballs 
purchased and stored in connection with the Football for 
Schools Programme and held for distribution to participating 
primary schools via the member associations. Under the 

Football for Schools Programme, FIFA has committed to 
provide football equipment to schools with the goal of 
making football more accessible to boys and girls around  
the world. 

in TUSD 2020 2019

Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to long-term contracts for the 2019-2022 cycle 

that are partially or fully unsatisfied as at 31 December
 3,994,761  4,168,661 

 Of which 

 – Television broadcasting rights  2,699,723  2,795,389 

 – Marketing rights  1,039,336  1,112,555 

 – Licensing rights  43,202  48,217 

 – Hospitality rights and ticket sales  160,000  160,000 

 – Other revenue  52,500  52,500 
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20 Property and equipment

in TUSD
Operational 

buildings
Assets under 
construction Land

Office  
and other  

equipment
Right-of-use 

assets Total

Cost

Balance as at 1 January 2019 406,303 3,201 15,124 39,133 0 463,761

Impact of changes to accounting policies 0 0 0 0 117,983 117,983

Additions 200 4,191 0 1,997 4,900 11,288

Reclassifications 2,476 –6,343 0 2,961 0 –906

Foreign exchange effects 3,031 0 0 173 1,911 5,115

Disposals 0 –272 0 0 0 –272

Balance as at 31 December 2019 412,010 777 15,124 44,264 124,794 596,969

Additions 868 0 0 3,789 1,509 6,166

Reclassifications 0 –509 0 23 0 –486

Foreign exchange effects 17,860 0 0 1,015 10,955 29,830

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balance as at 31 December 2020 430,738 268 15,124 49,091 137,258 632,479

Accumulated depreciation

Balance as at 1 January 2019 201,951 0 0 28,281 0 230,232

Depreciation 23,234 0 0 2,838 6,373 32,445

Reclassifications 0 0 0 –340 0 –340

Foreign exchange effects 1,305 0 0 97 110 1,512

Balance as at 31 December 2019 226,490 0 0 30,876 6,483 263,849

Depreciation 24,225 0 0 3,638 6,602 34,465

Foreign exchange effects 7,931 0 0 579 723 9,233

Balance as at 31 December 2020 258,646 0 0 35,093 13,808 307,547

Net carrying amount

As at 31 December 2019 185,520 777 15,124 13,388 118,311 333,120

As at 31 December 2020 172,092 268 15,124 13,998 123,450 324,932

The category “Operational buildings” refers to the Home 
of FIFA, the FIFA World Football Museum and three other 
buildings in Zurich. 

Upon adoption of IFRS 16, FIFA recognised USD 118 million as 
at 1 January 2019, reflecting the right to use the underlying 
assets from leasing contracts.

The FIFA World Football Museum opened in February 2016, 
primarily with the objective of brand-building and education. 

FIFA’s management has assessed that the museum should not 
be considered a separate cash-generating unit (CGU) for the 
purposes of impairment testing. Residential apartments have 
been identified as a separate CGU. 

In 2020, FIFA evaluated key assumptions used for any indicator 
which requires an impairment test to be performed. Based 
on this analysis, FIFA did not identify any indicators for 
impairment and therefore did not recognise any impairment 
for property and equipment in 2020.
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21 Intangible assets 

in TUSD Total

Cost

Balance as at 1 January 2019 6,025

Additions 1,900

Reclassifications 906

Balance as at 31 December 2019 8,831

Additions 575

Reclassifications 486

Balance as at 31 December 2020 9,892

Accumulated depreciation

Balance as at 1 January 2019 1,706

Amortisation 2,182

Reclassifications 340

Foreign exchange effects 0

Balance as at 31 December 2019 4,228

Amortisation 2,838

Reclassifications 0

Foreign exchange effects 0

Balance as at 31 December 2020 7,067

Net carrying amount

As at 31 December 2019 4,603

As at 31 December 2020 2,826

FIFA launched its enterprise resource planning (ERP) system 
in 2018, with total acquisition costs of USD 5.4 million. 
The intangible asset costs of USD 9.9 million also include 
other related software amounting to USD 4.5 million (2019: 
USD 3.4 million).

The amortisation of the ERP system amounted to USD 1.8 million 
for 2020 (2019: USD 1.8 million) and other related software to 
USD 1.0 million (2019: USD 0.4 million). IT and communication 
systems are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of three years.
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22 Financial assets

in TUSD 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Debt securities 1,006,647 1,149,748

Deposits 159,277 672,150

Equity securities 34,377 0

Loans to third parties 376,032 648,013

Loans to member associations and confederations 1,000 0

Current financial assets 1,577,333 2,469,911

Debt securities 690,583 405,841

Deposits 28,018 25,485

Equity securities 1,458 1,301

Loans to member associations and confederations 41,821 0

Non-current financial assets 761,880 432,627

Total financial assets 2,339,213 2,902,538

FIFA’s financial assets are invested in short-term and long-term 
bonds, equity securities, loans and deposits. Loans to third 
parties are granted mainly to Swiss public authorities. 

Under stage 3 of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, loans are granted 
to member associations and confederations. Member 
associations are able to apply for interest-free loans of up 

to 35% of their audited annual revenues. In the interests of 
solidarity, loans of between USD 0.5 million and USD 5 million 
will be available. As at 31 December 2020, total loans of 
USD 45.8 million had been paid out to member associations. 
These loans are initially recognised at fair value, i.e. the 
current value of the expected future cash flows discounted at 
a market-related interest rate. 

23 Payables

in TUSD 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Due to member associations and confederations 9,370 24,321

Due to related parties 0 11

Due to third parties 53,298 52,554

Total payables 62,668 76,886
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24 Accrued expenses

in TUSD 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

FIFA World Cup™ and other FIFA events 20,188 42,690

Development and relief programmes 503,511 532,206

Other accrued expenses 49,473 66,439

Total current accrued expenses 573,172 641,335

Development and relief programmes 47,177 16,782

Total non-current accrued expenses 47,177 16,782

The line item “Development and relief programmes” includes 
accruals relating to the FIFA Forward programmes, the 
COVID-19 Relief Plan, the Football for Schools Programme, 
legacy funds, the FIFA Foundation and previous development 
programmes. 

The COVID-19 pandemic created severe financial distress for 
FIFA’s football stakeholders across the globe in 2020. In an 
unprecedented move, FIFA set up the COVID-19 Relief Plan 
to mitigate the pandemic’s financial impact on football in 
its member associations. As at 31 December 2020, COVID-19 
Relief Plan funds amounting to USD 340.1 million had been 
released. 

In the first two stages of the plan, FIFA released remaining 
Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member 
associations in advance and gave them the opportunity to 
transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds. 
A total of USD 120.1 million was released via stages 1 and 2 in 
2020. Further details are contained in the Annexe to this report. 

In stage 3, further financial support is provided to member 
associations and confederations via a system of grants and loans 
to help protect football from the adverse economic effects of 
COVID-19 in their individual countries and regions. A total of 
USD 174.2 million in grants and USD 45.8 million in loans was 
released to member associations and confederations in 2020. 
Further details are outlined in the Annexe to this report.

25 Contract liabilities 

in TUSD 2020 2019

Contract liabilities as at 1 January  686,938 338,213 

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at  
the beginning of the period  –73,862  –169,812 

Increases due to payments made or payments due, excluding amounts received as 
revenue during the period  832,496  518,537 

Contract liabilities as at 31 December  1,445,572 686,938

Of which current  229,210  223,482 

Of which non-current  1,216,362  463,456 

Contract liabilities are recognised if FIFA has received 
consideration or the amount is due in advance of FIFA’s 
performance under a contract. They are recognised 

as revenue when FIFA satisfies its contractually agreed 
performance obligations to the customer.
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The provisions cover primarily various legal matters with 
respect to disputes concerning FIFA’s core business. No 
detailed information can be provided at this point since legal 
disputes and their corresponding timing of settlement are 
sensitive matters. The mere fact that a provision for certain 
matters has been set up might be misinterpreted and thus 

prejudice FIFA’s position in such proceedings. In accordance 
with acknowledged rules, provisions are recognised if 
and when an obligation has arisen from a past event, it is 
probable that FIFA will be required to settle the obligation, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

26 Provisions

in TUSD 2020 2019

Balance as at 1 January 217,256 215,392

Provisions made during the year 16 8,274

Provisions released during the year –781 –3,217

Provisions used during the year –319 0

Reclassifications from accrued expenses 4,119 2,311

Exchange differences –34,523 –5,504

Balance as at 31 December 185,768 217,256
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Set out below is the maturity analysis of contractual undiscounted cash flows as at 31 December: 

in TUSD 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Maturity less than 1 year 13,861 14,571

Maturity 1-5 years 44,537 40,155

Maturity more than 5 years 203,466 194,584

Balance as at 31 December 261,864 249,310

in TUSD

Leased  
operational 

 buildings Leased land

Leased offices 
 and other 

 equipment
Total right-of- 

use assets
Total lease  

liabilities

Balance as at 1 January 2020  115,453  2,577  281  118,311  187,151 

Additions  1,292  0    217  1,509  1,509 

Depreciation expense  –6,336  –71  –195  –6,602

Interest expenses  4,734 

Payments  –12,218

Foreign exchange effects  10,239  0    –7  10,232  16,940 

Balance as at 31 December 2020  120,648  2,506  296  123,450  198,116 

Of which current  0    0    0    0    8,998 

Of which non-current  120,648  2,506  296  123,450  189,118 

in TUSD

Leased  
operational 

 buildings Leased land

Leased offices 
 and other  
equipment

Total right-of- 
use assets

Total lease 
liabilities

Balance as at 1 January 2019  114,911  2,648  424  117,983  185,632 

Additions  4,900 0 0  4,900  4,900 

Depreciation expense  –6,159 –71 –143  –6,373

Interest expenses  4,511 

Payments  –10,903

Foreign exchange effects  1,801 0 0  1,801  3,011 

Balance as at 31 December 2019  115,453  2,577  281  118,311  187,151 

Of which current 0 0 0 0  10,113 

Of which non-current  115,453  2,577  281  118,311  177,038 

27 Leases

FIFA is a lessee and has contracts for various buildings, offices 
and other equipment as well as land that are accounted for 
by recognising a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. Set out 
below are the carrying amounts of FIFA’s right-of-use assets 

and lease liabilities as well as their movements during the 
period. For the carrying amounts of FIFA’s right-of-use assets, 
please also refer to Note 20 – Property and equipment. 

FIFA recognised lease expenses from short-term leases of 
USD 0.3 million (2019: USD 0.6 million) for the year ended 

31 December 2020. There are no leases to which FIFA is 
committed that have not yet commenced.
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Fair value reserves of financial assets at FVOCI 
FIFA has certain debt investments measured at FVOCI for 
which changes in fair value are accumulated in these separate 
reserves. The accumulated changes in fair value are transferred 
to profit or loss when the investment is derecognised or 
impaired. 

Capital management
FIFA was established in the legal form of an association in  
accordance with articles 60ff. of the Swiss Civil Code. Pursuant 
to article 2 of its Statutes, FIFA’s objective is to improve 
the game of football constantly and promote it globally, 
particularly through youth and development programmes. FIFA 
is a non-profit organisation and is obliged to spend its results, 
reserves and funds for this purpose. As FIFA is an association, 
no dividends are paid.

In the event of the dissolution of FIFA, its funds shall not 
be distributed, but transferred to the supreme court of the 
country in which the headquarters are situated. The supreme 
court shall invest them in gilt-edged securities until the  
re-establishment of the federation.

FIFA’s goal is to maintain its solid reserve level in order to cover 
inherent risks in connection with the FIFA World Cup and to 
finance its non-profit activities, especially future development 
activities and other FIFA events.

28 Reserves

Association capital
The association capital is CHF 5 million.

Restricted reserves
Pursuant to article 62 of the FIFA Statutes, FIFA has to balance 
out revenue and expenditure over the financial period and 
build up sufficient reserves to guarantee the fulfilment of its 
major duties.

The purpose of the reserves is to protect FIFA against risks 
and unforeseen events, in particular in relation to the FIFA 
World Cup™. The financial dependency of FIFA on the FIFA 
World Cup, which takes place only every four years, needs to 
be considered, since the FIFA World Cup is FIFA’s main revenue 
source. The restricted reserves cover, in particular, future  
non-profit activities, such as development programmes and 
other FIFA events.

The use of the reserves is restricted to FIFA’s statutory duties 
such as the organisation of international competitions – in 
particular the FIFA World Cup – and the implementation of 
football-related development programmes.

Restricted reserves include remeasurement gains and losses on 
the net post-employment benefit obligation.

Translation reserves
The translation reserves comprise all foreign currency 
differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations.

Cash flow hedge reserves
The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income in the 
cash flow hedge reserve.
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29 Financial risk management 

a) Accounting classifications and fair value measurements

31 December 2020 in TUSD

Financial assets/ 
liabilities at fair  

value through  
profit and loss

Financial assets/ 
liabilities at 

amortised cost

Financial assets/ 
liabilities at 

FVOCI Total

Financial assets measured at fair value

Derivative financial assets designated as hedging instruments 46 46

Other derivative financial instruments 15,021 15,021

Equity securities 35,835 35,835

Debt securities 310,627 198,598 509,225

Total 361,529 198,598 560,127

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents 1,155,191 1,155,191

Receivables 417,403 417,403

Deposits 187,295 187,295

Debt securities 1,188,005 1,188,005

Loans 418,852 418,852

Total 3,366,746 3,366,746

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Derivative financial liabilities designated as hedging instruments 10,145 10,145

Other derivative financial instruments 38,093 38,093

Total 48,238 48,238

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Payables 62,668 62,668

Lease liabilities 198,116 198,116

Total 260,784 260,784

Other disclosures
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Carrying amount Fair value

31 December 2020 in TUSD Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value

Derivative financial assets designated as hedging instruments 46 46

Other derivative financial instruments 15,021 15,021

Equity securities 35,835 35,835

Debt securities 509,225 509,225

Total 560,127

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 1,155,191

Receivables 417,403

Deposits 187,295

Debt securities 1,188,005 766,271 453,058

Loans 418,852

Total 3,366,746

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Derivative financial liabilities designated as hedging instruments  10,145 10,145

Other derivative financial instruments 38,093 38,093

Total 48,238

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Payables 62,668

Lease liabilities 198,116

Total 260,784

Fair value disclosure: equity securities and some debt securities are traded in active markets and the fair value is based on unadjusted quoted market prices on 
the balance sheet date (Level 1). Derivatives and some debt securities are not traded in active markets and the fair value on the balance sheet is determined 
by using valuation techniques (Level 2) with observable market data. No transfer was made between Level 1 and Level 2 in the financial years 2019 and 2020. 
FIFA has not disclosed the fair values for financial instruments such as short-term receivables and payables because their carrying amounts are a reasonable 
approximation of fair value.

Fair value measurements and disclosure of assets and 
liabilities
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the 
group uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair 
values are categorised into different levels in a fair value 
hierarchy based on the input s used in the valuation techniques 
as follows:
1) Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities.
2) Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 

that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

3) Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a 
liability are categorised in different levels of the fair value 
hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in 
its entirety at the lowest level input that is significant to the 
entire measurement.
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31 December 2019 in TUSD

Financial assets/ 
liabilities at fair  

value through 
profit and loss

Financial assets/ 
liabilities at 

amortised cost

Financial assets/ 
liabilities at 

FVOCI Total

Financial assets measured at fair value

Derivative financial assets designated as hedging instruments 11,502 11,502

Other derivative financial instruments 19,367 19,367

Equity securities 1,301 1,301

Debt securities 248,880 248,880

Total 281,050 281,050

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents 779,516 779,516

Receivables 236,942 236,942

Deposits 697,635 697,635

Debt securities 1,306,709 1,306,709

Loans 648,013 648,013

Total 3,668,815 3,668,815

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Derivative financial assets designated as hedging instruments 2,370 2,370

Other derivative financial instruments 21,529 21,529

Total 23,899 23,899

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Payables 76,886 76,886

Lease liabilities 187,151 187,151

Total 264,037 264,037
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Carrying amount Fair value

31 December 2019 in TUSD Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value

Derivative financial assets designated as hedging instruments 11,502 11,502

Other derivative financial instruments 19,367 19,367

Equity securities 1,301 1,301

Debt securities 248,880 248,880

Total 281,050

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 779,516

Receivables 236,942

Deposits 697,635

Debt securities 1,306,709 1,326,365

Loans 648,013

Total 3,668,815

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Derivative financial liabilities designated as hedging instruments 2,370 2,370

Other derivative financial instruments 21,529 21,529

Total 23,899

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Payables 76,886

Lease liabilities 187,151

Total 264,037

Fair value disclosure: equity securities and debt securities are traded in active markets and the fair value is based on unadjusted quoted market prices on the 
balance sheet date (Level 1). Derivatives are not traded in active markets and the fair value on the balance sheet is determined by using valuation techniques 
(Level 2) with observable market data. FIFA has not disclosed the fair values for financial instruments such as short-term receivables and payables because 
their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair value.
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b) Financial risk management

FIFA is exposed to currency and interest risks as well as credit 
and liquidity risks in the course of its normal operations.

Credit risk
In line with FIFA’s marketing and TV strategy, FIFA sold the 
television broadcasting rights in the key markets for the final 
competitions of the FIFA World Cups™ directly to broadcasters.

The revenue from television and marketing rights is received 
from large multinational companies and public broadcasters. 
Part of the outstanding revenue is also covered by bank 
guarantees. Additionally, the contracts include a default 
clause, whereby the contract terminates as soon as one party 
is in default. In the event of a default, FIFA is not required 
to reimburse any of the services or contributions received. 
FIFA is also entitled to replace terminated contracts with new 
marketing or broadcasting agreements.

Material credit risks could arise if several parties were unable 
to meet their contractual obligations. FIFA’s management 
monitors the credit standing of the Commercial Affiliates very 
closely on an ongoing basis. Given their good credit ratings 
and the high diversification of the portfolio of Commercial 
Affiliates, the management believes that this scenario is 
unlikely to occur.

The vast majority of cash and cash equivalents are held with 
bank and financial institution counterparties with a rating 
equivalent to “A-1” or higher in S&P ratings. Fixed-income 
investments with residual terms to maturity of 12 months or 
less are only executed with borrowers with a short-term rating 
of “A-3” or higher. Investments in bonds are only executed in 
listed, tradable bonds issued by borrowers with a “BBB-”  
rating or higher. Derivative financial instruments are executed 
only with counterparties with high credit ratings. The carrying 
amount of the financial assets represents the maximum 
exposure to credit risk.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risks arise from changes in market interest rates, 
which could affect the Group’s profit or loss or equity. Since 
the interest rates of all term deposits and debt securities are 
fixed, there is only limited exposure to cash flow interest 
rate risk. FIFA’s interest rate risk exposure therefore mainly 
arises from changes in the fair value of such fixed-rate debt 
instruments measured at FVOCI and FVTPL.

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020, there was 
no interest rate risk arising from financing transactions 
because FIFA is self-financed.

Foreign currency risk
FIFA’s functional currency is USD because the majority 
of its cash flows are denominated in USD. Exposure to 
foreign currency exchange rates arises from transactions 
denominated in currencies other than USD, especially in EUR, 
CHF, GBP and QAR.

FIFA receives foreign currency cash inflows in the form of 
revenue from the sale of certain rights denominated in EUR, 
GBP, BRL or CHF. On the other hand, FIFA has substantial 
costs, especially employee costs and operating costs in 
connection with FIFA’s offices in Zurich, denominated in 
CHF and other currencies. The Controlling & Strategic 
Planning Subdivision regularly forecasts the liquidity and 
foreign exchange requirements. If any foreign currency risks 
are identified, FIFA uses derivative products to hedge this 
exposure (see also Note 30).

As at 31 December 2020, FIFA was exposed to the following 
foreign exchange fluctuation risks:
• If the CHF had gained 10% against the USD as at 

31 December 2020, the impact on the net result would 
have been USD +3.6 million (2019: USD +0.6 million).

• If the EUR had gained 10% against the USD as at 
31 December 2020, the impact on the net result would 
have been USD +3.7 million (2019: USD -0.9 million). 

• If the GBP had gained 10% against the USD as at 
31 December 2020, the impact on the net result would 
have been USD +1.3 million (2019: USD 0 million).

• If the BRL had gained 10% against the USD as at 
31 December 2020, the impact on the net result would 
have been USD +0.1 million (2019: USD +0.1 million).

• If the QAR had gained 10% against the USD as at 
31 December 2020, the impact on the net result would 
have been USD 0 million (2019: USD +0.3 million).

This fluctuation analysis can be applied using the same 
method in reverse (a decrease of 10%). It only shows the 
effect from a risk management perspective and not realised 
gains or losses. 
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Positions exposed to foreign currency risk as at 31 December 2020

in thousands CHF EUR GBP BRL QAR

Cash and cash equivalents* 35,655 6,794 1,768 0 1,345

Receivables 31,409 26,134 8,278 3,883 0

Financial assets* 0 0 0 0 0

Total assets in foreign currency 67,064 32,928 10,046 3,883 1,345

Payables 31,050 3,124 438 0 182

Lease liabilities 4,366 0 0 0 0

Total liabilities in foreign currency 35,416 3,124 438 0 182

Net exposure in foreign currency 31,648 29,804 9,608 3,883 1,163

Net exposure in functional currency (USD) 35,527 36,622 13,084 748 320

Positions exposed to foreign currency risk as at 31 December 2019

in thousands CHF EUR RUB BRL QAR

Cash and cash equivalents* 170,893 7,007 56,699 939 55,315

Receivables 23,860 16,622 95,305 1,192 11,277

Financial assets* 0 0 0 0 0

Total assets in foreign currency 194,753 23,629 152,004 2,131 66,592

Payables 11,138 31,572 106,346 45 55,315

Lease liabilities 177,935 0 0 0 516

Total liabilities in foreign currency 189,073 31,572 106,346 45 55,831

Net exposure in foreign currency 5,680 –7,943 45,658 2,086 10,761

Net exposure in functional currency (USD) 5,810 –8,903 737 519 2,956

* ”Positions exposed to foreign currency risk” arises on financial instruments that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. in a currency other than the 
functional currency in which they are measured. The amounts displayed in the above tables represent the unhedged portion in foreign currency.  
As at 31 December 2020, FIFA held a total amount of USD 904.2 million (2019: USD 1,122 million) in financial assets as well as USD 163 million 
(2019: USD 41 million) in cash and cash equivalents, both categories of which were denominated in CHF, EUR and GBP and are fully hedged against  
foreign currency risk.

 

Liquidity risk
As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020, FIFA was  
self-financed. Moreover, FIFA holds mortgage notes in the 
amount of CHF 158 million (2019: CHF 158 million), guaranteed 
by its own properties, which could be used to cover any 
additional liquidity needs. 
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Maturity of financial liabilities

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

in TUSD 90 days 1 year or less
More than   

a year 90 days 1 year or less
More than  

a year

Payables – member associations and 

confederations
0 9,370 0 0 24,321 0

Payables – third parties and related parties 53,298 0 0 52,565 0 0

Derivative financial liabilities 0 39,230 9,008 0 20,659 3,240

Total 53,298 48,600 9,008 52,565 44,980 3,240

Please refer to Note 27 for the maturity analysis of undiscounted lease liabilities.

30 Hedging activities and derivative financial instruments

Cancellation risk
FIFA’s financial position depends on the successful staging 
of the FIFA World Cup because almost all contracts with its 
Commercial Affiliates are related to this event. In the event of 
cancellation, curtailment or abandonment of the FIFA World 
Cup, FIFA would run the risk of potentially being exposed to 
legal claims.

In 2019, FIFA concluded an insurance policy for the FIFA 
World Cup 2022™. The maximum insurance volume is 
USD 900 million, which covers FIFA’s additional costs in case of 
cancellation, postponement and/or relocation of the event.

The risks covered include natural disasters, accidents, turmoil, 
war, acts of terrorism and communicable diseases. 

FIFA uses derivative instruments to manage its foreign currency 
risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows 
of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes to foreign 
exchange rates. The group’s exposure to that risk relates 
primarily to its operating activities (when contracts with 
customers or suppliers are denominated in foreign currency).

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Foreign exchange forward contracts are designated as 
hedging instruments in cash flow hedges of forecast television 
broadcasting sales in EUR and GBP. These forecast transactions 
are highly probable. 

The total notional amount of the outstanding foreign 
exchange forward contracts, which are designated as hedge 
accounting, was USD 570 million (2019: USD 522 million). The 
majority of the derivatives designated as hedging instruments 
will mature in 2022 with a weighted average forward price of 
the hedging instruments of USD/EUR 1.23 and USD/GPB 1.32 
respectively. 

There is an economic relationship between the hedged items 
and the hedging instruments, as the terms of the foreign 
exchange forward contracts match those of the highly 
probable forecast transactions. Because the group does not 
hedge all of its revenue denominated in foreign currencies, 
the hedged item is identified as a proportion of the forecast 
transaction. The group has established a hedge ratio of 1:1 
for the hedging relationships, as the underlying risk of the 
foreign exchange forward contracts is identical to the hedged 
risk. There are no material sources of ineffectiveness and, 
therefore, no ineffectiveness was recognised in the income 
statement. As at 31 December 2020, no transfer from the cash 
flow hedge reserves to the line item “Revenue from television 
broadcasting rights” had been recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. 
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31 December 2020 31 December 2019

in TUSD
Positive  

fair value
Negative  
fair value

Positive  
fair value

Negative  
fair value

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

– to mature in 1 year 0 1,137 937 411

– to mature in subsequent years 46 9,008 10,565 1,959

Other derivative financial instruments

– to mature in 1 year 9,079 38,093 12,267 20,248

– to mature in subsequent years 5,942 0 7,100 1,281

Total 15,067 48,238 30,869 23,899

Of which

– recognised in hedging reserve 46 9,801 11,502 2,370

Other derivative financial instruments
Several financial investments were made in foreign currencies 
in 2020. The foreign exchange risk was hedged using 
swaps, forwards and options. The total notional value of 
the outstanding swaps and options as at 31 December 2020 
amounted to USD 2,172 million (2019: USD 1,906 million). 

While the majority of other derivative financial instruments 
will mature in 2021, a number of them will mature in 2022. 
The derivative financial instruments are valued at fair market 
prices.

The following table sets out the carrying amounts of derivative 
financial assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated 
balance sheet:

At the reporting date, the group held the following foreign 
exchange forward contracts, which are designated as hedge 
accounting:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

in TUSD
Notional 
amount

Average 
forward 

exchange rate 
USD/EUR

Average 
forward 

exchange rate 
USD/GBP

Notional 
amount

Average 
forward 

exchange rate 
USD/EUR

Average 
forward 

exchange rate 
USD/GBP

– to mature in 1 year 91,752 1.22 1.35 39,371 1.17 1.27

– to mature in subsequent years 478,645 1.23 1.32 482,401 1.22 1.33

Total 570,397 521,772
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31 Personnel expenses

in TUSD 2020 2019

Wages and salaries 143,851 138,254

Social benefit costs 38,132 38,424

Other employee benefit costs 4,023 8,186

Other 12,766 14,494

Total personnel expenses 198,772 199,358

Of which

– Competitions & Events 35,667 33,760

– Development & Education 34,319 30,747

– Football Governance 17,983 18,315

– FIFA Governance & Administration 89,972 99,982

– Marketing & TV Broadcasting 20,831 16,554

Personnel expenses
The number of full-time employees at the end of the year 
ending 31 December 2020 was 1,055 (2019: 947).

With a remote working infrastructure in place, FIFA successfully 
managed an abrupt shift to virtual operations and interactions 

and quickly adopted new online communication tools. In 
2020, FIFA used its technologies efficiently to create virtual 
substitutes for offices, training sessions and conferences, 
keeping engagement with its stakeholders high and 
maintaining the solid productivity of its remote employees.

in TUSD 2020 2019

Net post-employment benefit obligation 93,022 67,616

Total post-employment benefit obligation 93,022 67,616

Retirement benefit plan for employees
FIFA has established a retirement benefit plan in Switzerland 
for all of its employees through an insurance company. 
This Swiss plan is governed by the Swiss Federal Law on 
Occupational Retirement, Survivors’ and Disability Pension 
Plans (BVG), which stipulates that pension plans are to be 
managed by independent, legally autonomous units. The assets 
of the pension plan are held within a separate foundation and 
cannot revert to the employer. Pension plans are overseen by a 
regulator as well as by a state supervisory body.

FIFA participates in a Swiss “Sammelstiftung”, which is a 
collective foundation administrating the pension plan of 
various unrelated employers. The pension plan has reinsured 
all demographic risks and fully transferred the investment 
activities to the insurance company.

The most senior governing body of the collective foundation 
is the Board of Trustees, which manages the pension fund 
in compliance with the statutory provisions, the articles 
of association of the foundation and the directives of the 
supervisory authority. 

The plan’s governing body (Occupational Benefits Fund 
Commission) is composed of an equal number of employer and 

employee representatives. The plan is funded by employee 
and employer contributions and has certain defined benefit 
characteristics, such as the interest guaranteed on the savings 
and the conversion of the savings at the end of working life 
into a life-long pension annuity. The employee’s contributions 
are determined based on the insured salary and range from 
5% to 9% of the insured salary, depending on the selection 
of the scale by the beneficiary. The employer’s contributions 
must be at least equal to those of the employee. If the plan 
becomes underfunded, various measures can be adopted, 
such as lowering the interest credit rate, reducing benefits or 
increasing the employer and employee contributions.

If an employee leaves FIFA or the plan before reaching 
retirement age, the law provides for the transfer of the vested 
benefits to the new plan. These vested benefits comprise the 
employee’s and the employer’s contributions plus interest, 
the money originally brought in to the pension plan by the 
beneficiary and an additional legally stipulated amount. On 
reaching retirement age, the plan participant may decide 
whether to withdraw the benefits in the form of an annuity 
or (entirely or partly) as a lump-sum payment. The pension 
law requires pension annuities to be adjusted for inflation, 
depending on the financial condition of the plan.
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Movement in the employees’ post-employment benefit obligation over the year 2020

in TUSD
Present value of 

obligation
Fair value of 

plan assets

Net post- 
employment 

benefit  
obligation

At 1 January 2020 235,079 –167,463 67,616

Included in profit or loss:

– Current service cost 25,934 0 25,934

– Plan amendments 0 0 0

– Interest expense/(income) 620 –448 172

– General administration costs 0 281 281

– Exchange differences 25,952 –18,045 7,907

Total 52,506 –18,212 34,294

Remeasurements included in comprehensive income:

– Return on plan assets, excluding interest income 0 –6,411 –6,411

– (Gain)/loss from change in demographic assumptions 0 0 0

– (Gain)/loss from change in financial assumptions 2,974 0 2,974

– Experience (gains)/loss 9,651 0 9,651

Total 12,625 –6,411 6,214

Contributions and benefits paid:

– Plan participants 8,694 –8,694 0

– Employer 0 –15,102 –15,102

– Benefit payments –7,638 7,638 0

Total 1,056 –16,158 –15,102

At 31 December 2020 301,266 –208,244 93,022

Of which

– Due to active members 290,260

– Due to pensioners 11,006

Post-employment benefit obligation
The post-employment benefit expenses included in profit or 
loss are part of the total expenses from football activities and 
total expenses from administrative activities.

As at 31 December 2020, the plan assets were invested in cash 
and cash equivalents of 2.7% (2019: 0.9%), debt instruments 
of 41.4% (2019: 40.4%), equity instruments of 30.3% (2019: 
25.1%), real estate of 22.4% (2019: 25.8%) and other of 3.2% 
(2019: 7.8%).

The expected contributions to be paid by the employer into 
the plan for 2021 are USD 16.2 million.

On the basis of a decision taken at the end of 2019, FIFA 
switched from a fully comprehensive solution to a  
semi-autonomous model for its employees’ retirement 
benefits plan. The main changes in benefits included an 
increase in the spouse’s/partner’s pension and an increase 
in the conversion rate for calculating the extra-mandatory 
benefits. This was considered as a plan amendment 
and resulted in past service costs of USD 3 million being 
recognised in profit or loss in 2019. 
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Movement in the employees’ post-employment benefit obligation over the year 2019

in TUSD
Present value of 

obligation
Fair value of 

plan assets

Net post- 
employment  

benefit  
obligation

At 1 January 2019 209,869 –138,396 71,473

Included in profit or loss:

– Current service cost 22,632 0 22,632

– Plan amendments –3,738 6,741 3,003

– Interest expense/(income) 1,923 –1,286 637

– General administration costs 0 347 347

– Exchange differences 4,124 –3,048 1,076

Total 24,941 2,754 27,695

Remeasurements included in comprehensive income:

– Return on plan assets, excluding interest income 0 –20,109 –20,109

– (Gain)/loss from change in demographic assumptions 0 0 0

– (Gain)/loss from change in financial assumptions 135 0 135

– Experience (gains)/loss 2,958 0 2,958

Total 3,093 –20,109 –17,016

Contributions and benefits paid:

– Plan participants 6,217 –6,217 0

– Employer 0 –14,536 –14,536

– Benefit payments –9,041 9,041 0

Total –2,824 –11,712 –14,536

At 31 December 2019 235,079 –167,463 67,616

Of which

– Due to active members 229,630

– Due to pensioners 5,449

Principal actuarial assumptions

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Discount rate 0.20% 0.25%

Future salary increases 1.00% 1.00%

Future pension increases 0.50% 0.50%

Inflation rate 0.50% 0.50%

Assumptions regarding future mortality as presented below 
are set based on Swiss BVG/LLP 2015 mortality tables, which 
include generational mortality rates allowing for future 
projections of increasing longevity.
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31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Longevity at age 63/62 for current pensioners:

– male  24.62  24.50 

– female  27.75  27.64 

Longevity at age 63/62 for employees retiring 20 years after the end of the reporting period:

– male  26.40  26.33 

– female  29.49  29.43 

Sensitivity of the employees’ post-employment benefit obligation to changes in  
the weighted principal assumption at 31 December 2020

Impact on post-employment benefit obligations

Change in  
assumption

Increase in 
assumption

Decrease in 
assumption

Discount rate 0.25%
Decrease  

4.98%

Increase  

5.41%

Future salary increases 0.25%
Increase  

0.50%

Decrease  

0.48%

Future pension increases 0.25%
Increase  

2.58%

Decrease  

2.44%

Sensitivity of the employees’ post-employment benefit obligation to changes in  
the weighted principal assumption at 31 December 2019

Impact on post-employment benefit obligations

Change in  
assumption

Increase in 
assumption

Decrease in 
assumption

Discount rate 0.25%
Decrease  

4.88%

Increase  

5.30%

Future salary increases 0.25%
Increase  

0.48%

Decrease  

0.47%

Future pension increases 0.25%
Increase  

2.54%

Decrease  

2.41%

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in 
assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In 
practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the 
assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity 
of the post-employment benefit obligation to significant 
actuarial assumptions, the same method (present value of 
the defined post-employment obligation calculated with the 
projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting 
period) has been applied as when calculating the net  
post-employment benefit obligation recognised within the 
balance sheet.

The weighted average duration of the post-employment 
benefit obligation is 21.1 years (2019: 20.7 years). 

Accounting estimates and judgements
The rates and parameters applied above are based on past 
experience. Future developments in capital and labour markets 
could make adjustments of such rates necessary, which could 
significantly affect the calculation of the net post-employment 
benefit obligation.
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32 Contingent liabilities
provisions for fines, penalties or other payments of punitive 
character or any other adjustments need to be made at this 
time to the consolidated financial statements.

Moreover, FIFA is currently involved in a number of legal 
disputes arising from its operating activities, where it 
considers the possibility of any outflow in settlement to be 
remote. Therefore, FIFA has not recognised a provision in 
relation to these legal matters.  

The safeguarding of FIFA’s interest in the ongoing legal 
matters and the protection against currently known legal 
risks will, however, continue to generate some costs, which 
FIFA intends to limit to the strict minimum necessary. 

33 Capital commitments

34 Related-party transactions
In addition to these short-term employee benefits, FIFA 
contributes to post-employment benefits. The pension 
expenses in 2020 amounted to USD 1.6 million (2019: 
USD 2.5 million). Further disclosures and information are 
available in the “Compensation” section of the FIFA Annual 
Report 2020.

FIFA continues to participate in a number of investigations 
conducted by the Swiss Office of the Attorney General 
(“OAG”), in which FIFA is a private plaintiff and considered 
to be a damaged party. In 2020, investigations conducted 
by the OAG resulted in criminal trials. The US Department 
of Justice (“DoJ”) has now concluded the proceedings 
concerning FIFA, which it initiated in 2015, and has 
confirmed that FIFA has “victim status” in relation to those 
investigations. It has invited FIFA to engage in a process 
called remission, in which monies forfeited by defendants 
to the US government are returned to victims of the 
defendants’ criminal schemes. Taking into account that FIFA 
has fully cooperated and will continue to fully cooperate 
with the respective authorities within the boundaries of 
applicable law, the FIFA management is of the view that no 

As at 31 December 2020, FIFA has an undisbursed 
loan commitment of USD 5 million in connection with 
the COVID-19 Relief Plan (2019: FIFA had no capital 
commitments).

The following persons are regarded as related parties: 
members of the Council, the President, the Secretary 
General and the key management personnel.

In 2020, short-term employee benefits for related parties 
amounted to USD 30.5 million (2019: USD 32.9 million). 
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35 Consolidated subsidiaries

FIFA’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020 are set out below: 

Location of 
incorporation Activity

Ownership 
interest 2020

Ownership 
interest 2019

FIFA Museum AG
Zurich, 

Switzerland
Museum 100% 100%

Hotel Ascot GmbH
Zurich, 

Switzerland
Hotel industry 100% 100%

FIFA Ticketing AG
Zurich, 

Switzerland
Ticket sales 100% 100%

FIFA Development Zurich AG
Zurich, 

Switzerland

Service 

company
100% 100%

FIFA Foundation
Zurich, 

Switzerland
Foundation 100% 100%

FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022 LLC
Doha,  

Qatar

Service 

company
51% 51%

2018 FIFA World Cup Ticketing Limited Liability Company
Moscow, 

Russia
Ticket sales 100% 100%

2018 FIFA World Cup Limited Liability Company
Moscow, 

Russia

Service 

company
100% 100%

FIFA World Cup Brazil Assessoria Ltda
Rio de Janeiro, 

Brazil

Service 

company
100% 100%

2014 FIFA World Cup Venda de Ingressos Ltda
Rio de Janeiro, 

Brazil
Ticket sales 100% 100%

2010 FIFA World Cup Ticketing (Pty) Ltd (in liquidation)
Nasrec,  

South Africa
Ticket sales 100% 100%

FIFA World Cup South Africa (Pty) Ltd (in liquidation)
Nasrec,  

South Africa

Service 

company
100% 100%

FIFA Clearing House Stichting 
Amsterdam, 

Netherlands

Service 

company
100% 0%

In 2020, FIFA established FIFA Clearing House Stichting 
to act as an intermediary for the processing of training 
reward payments with a view to protecting the integrity 
of football.

FIFA’s ownership of the subsidiary FIFA World Cup Qatar 
2022 LLC of 51% does not coincide with the economic result 
allocation, as the equity of the subsidiary is fully attributable 
to FIFA. No non-controlling interests are therefore disclosed 
in these consolidated financial statements.

36 Post-balance-sheet events
The FIFA Council authorised the issue of these consolidated 
financial statements on 19 March 2021.

Up to this date, no other events have occurred since 
31 December 2020 that would require any adjustment to 

the carrying amount of FIFA’s assets and liabilities as at 
31 December 2020 and/or disclosure. 

The consolidated financial statements for 2020 will be 
submitted to the FIFA Congress for approval on 21 May 2021.
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Report of the statutory auditor to the 
Congress of Fédération Internationale 
de Football Association (FIFA) on the 
consolidated financial statements 2020 

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 
Fédération Internationale de Football Association (FIFA) 
and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the 
year ended 31 December 2020, the consolidated balance 
sheet as at 31 December 2020, the consolidated cash flow 
statement and consolidated statement of changes in 
reserves for the year then ended and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
(pages 116 to 165) give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 
31 December 2020 and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and Swiss 
Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
provisions and standards are further described in the 
“Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements” section of our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss 
audit profession, as well as the International Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) of the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code), and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our audit approach

Overall Group materiality: USD 10.45 million

We performed full scope audit work at the parent 
association (FIFA) in Switzerland and the subsidiary in Qatar.

Our full scope audit addressed over 97.7% of the revenue, 
over 96.2% of the expenses and over 94.7% of the assets of 
the Group.

In addition, we performed specified procedures on assets 
held in one reporting unit in Switzerland, addressing a 
further 5% of the Group’s assets.

As key audit matters, the following areas of focus have been 
identified:
• Appropriateness and application of the revenue 

recognition policy
• Financial implications of legal cases and/or potential 

claims

Materiality

Audit scope

Key audit
matters

Overview
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Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of 
materiality. Our audit opinion aims to provide reasonable 
assurance that the consolidated financial statements are 
free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise 
due to fraud or error. They are considered material if, 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined 
certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including 
the overall Group materiality for the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, 
together with qualitative considerations, helped us to 
determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing 
and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the 
effect of misstatements, both individually and in 
aggregate, on the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole.

FIFA is an international non-governmental and non-profit 
association incorporated under Swiss law and based in 
Zurich. Its vision, as expressed by “FIFA 2.0”, is to promote 
the game of football, protect its integrity and bring the 
game to all. FIFA’s activities include the organisation and 
realisation of global football tournaments, including the 
FIFA World Cup™, and the sale of the television 
broadcasting rights, marketing rights and licensing rights 
for these events. Most of the Group’s operations are 
conducted by the parent association (FIFA), although there 
are 13 other reporting units that undertake specific 
activities, including operating a museum.

FIFA has 211 Member Associations (MAs), which together 
form the FIFA Congress, the supreme legislative body of 
FIFA. The MAs receive financial assistance from FIFA 
earmarked for specific football-related projects. The MAs 
are not considered to be controlled by FIFA as defined by 
the relevant financial reporting standard and, therefore, 
expenditures incurred by the MAs are excluded from these 
consolidated financial statements.

In addition to our full scope audit of the parent association 
and the subsidiary in Qatar, we performed specified 
procedures on assets held by FIFA Museum AG considering 
the total capitalised property and equipment. 

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters.

Overall Group materiality USD 10.45 million

How we determined it 1% of total expenses

Rationale for the 
materiality benchmark 
applied

We chose total expenses as 
the benchmark for our 
materiality because it is a 
commonly used benchmark 
for not-for-profit 
associations and because 
FIFA has uneven revenue 
flows leading to volatile 
annual income and results.

Audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform 
sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into 
account the structure of the Group, the accounting 
processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group 
operates.
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Appropriateness and application of the revenue recognition policy

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

In the 2020 financial year, total revenue amounted to 
USD 266.5 million, primarily comprising licensing 
revenue of USD 158.9 million. Due to COVID-19, FIFA 
was forced to postpone or cancel tournaments that 
were originally scheduled for 2020. Therefore, no 
event-related revenue was recognised from television 
and broadcasting rights, marketing rights or ticketing. 

FIFA has a four-year revenue cycle, which is dominated 
by the FIFA World Cup™. A new four-year cycle started 
on 1 January 2019. FIFA usually signs major contracts 
for television broadcasting rights, marketing rights, 
licensing rights and hospitality rights for at least a full 
four-year cycle.

We considered revenue recognition and the application 
of IFRS 15 to be a key audit matter because of the risk 
of material misstatement in the financial statements 
given the complexity of the contracts concerned and 
the judgements and estimates required of 
management. The timing of revenue recognition for 
each revenue type and contract may differ 
considerably. For more detailed information on the 
accounting policy regarding revenue recognition, 
including the assumptions, please refer to page 121 
and 122 in the Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.

FIFA management reviewed all new significant revenue 
contracts in 2020 relating to the sale of television 
broadcasting rights, marketing rights and licensing 
rights, and presented for our audit its revenue 
recognition approach for each contract. In 2019, FIFA 
updated the allocation key of the television 
broadcasting and marketing rights for the 2019-2022 
cycle based on the latest reports on broadcasting. Due 
to COVID-19 and the fact that tournaments were 
cancelled or postponed, FIFA had to update the 
allocation keys. We assessed the company’s revenue 
recognition policy in accordance with IFRS 15.

For the 2020 financial year, we reviewed whether the 
assumptions described on page 121 and 122 defined in 
prior year were still valid.

For revenue contracts signed before 2020 when the 
revenue is to be recognised over time, we performed 
the following:
• We examined audit evidence to ensure that the 

contract terms were unchanged from the prior year.
• We paid particular attention to whether the 

contractual arrangements continued to satisfy the 
conditions required for revenue to be recognised 
over time.

• We reperformed the allocation of the contract price.
• We checked the mathematical accuracy of the 

revenue recognition calculation performed by FIFA.
• We examined audit evidence to ensure the accuracy 

of the accounting entries for the 2020 financial year.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

For new significant contracts signed in 2020, we 
performed the following:
• We independently identified the performance 

obligations in the contracts and compared them 
with management’s assessment for the contracts 
signed in the 2020 financial year.

• We determined the full contract price based on the 
underlying contracts.

• We reperformed the allocation of the full contract 
price to the performance obligations in the contract 
based on the underlying inputs, such as forecasted 
broadcast hours, developed by FIFA.

• For the key inputs used to allocate marketing and 
sponsorship revenues to different performance 
obligations, we reperformed the allocation using 
available information or we compared 
management’s judgements with third party 
information or valuations performed for FIFA.

• For the television broadcasting rights and marketing 
rights, we compared the underlying inputs used by 
FIFA with third party reports and forecasted 
broadcast hours.

• We checked the mathematical accuracy of the 
revenue recognition calculation prepared by FIFA.

• We verified the accounting entries for the 2020 
financial year.

On the basis of the evidence we obtained, we 
concluded that the assumptions made and the 
judgements applied in relation to revenue recognition 
were reasonable and the related disclosures were 
appropriate.
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Financial implications of legal cases and/or potential claims

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As disclosed in Note 26 to the consolidated financial 
statements, provisions are recorded to cover legal 
exposures to the extent that the exposures are 
probable and can be estimated.

We consider the accounting for the financial 
implications of these ongoing legal cases to be a key 
audit matter due to the related uncertainty and 
magnitude.

From a financial reporting perspective, a critical 
judgement concerns whether and when a provision is 
required for fines, penalties or other payments of 
punitive character. This judgement requires an 
assessment of the probability a payment will have to 
be made and a reliable estimate of the amount of that 
payment. In addition, the adequacy and accuracy of 
the related disclosures is critical for a reader of the 
financial statements.

Further, there is a risk that these legal cases might lead 
to additional liabilities for FIFA, which are not reflected 
in the financial statements.

We read FIFA’s internal overview of pending litigation 
prepared by its legal department. On the basis of this 
document and the details of legal expenses in the 
accounting records, we identified the main external 
legal counsel used by FIFA and performed the 
following:
• We sent letters of enquiry to 23 lawyers concerning 

various legal cases, which were selected on the basis 
of quantitative and qualitative criteria. The 
responses provided an independent summary of the 
facts and merits of each case. Where possible, they 
also gave an independent professional perspective 
of the likely outcome.

• We assessed those legal cases handled by FIFA’s own 
legal department and discussed the most important 
legal cases with management and various legal 
counsellors.

• On the basis of our discussions and communications 
with FIFA’s external legal counsel and internal legal 
department, we identified existing and potential 
claims in connection with the preparation of the 
2020 consolidated financial statements. The lawyers’ 
responses we obtained helped us assess 
management’s judgements regarding the 
recognition and measurement of a provision for 
fines, penalties or other payments of punitive 
character in the 2020 consolidated financial 
statements.

On the basis of the procedures performed, we 
considered management’s judgements on the level of 
provisioning to be appropriate. We also evaluated the 
appropriateness of the disclosures in Note 32 relating 
to the potential financial exposure arising from 
ongoing litigation and investigations.
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Other information in the annual report
The FIFA Council is responsible for the other information  
in the annual report. The other information comprises all 
information included in the annual report, but does  
not include the consolidated financial statements, the 
stand-alone financial statements of Fédération 
Internationale de Football Association (FIFA) and our 
auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does 
not cover the other information in the annual report and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information in the annual report and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the FIFA Council for the consolidated 
financial statements
The FIFA Council is responsible for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with IFRS and the provisions of Swiss 
law, and for such internal control as the FIFA Council 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the FIFA 
Council is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the FIFA Council either 
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and 
Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 

the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the FIFA Council’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the Group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the FIFA Council or its relevant 
committee regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the FIFA Council or its relevant committee 
with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the FIFA Council or its 
relevant committee, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In accordance with article 69b paragraph 3 CC in connection 
with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing 
Standard 890, we confirm that an internal control system 
exists which has been designed for the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements according to the 
instructions of the FIFA Council.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements 
submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Patrick Balkanyi Yvonne Burger

Audit expert Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Zurich, 19 March 2021
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Audit and Compliance Committee 
report on the consolidated financial 
statements for 2020 

In our role as the FIFA Audit and Compliance Committee, 
we have assessed the consolidated financial statements 
(consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated balance sheet, consolidated cash flow 
statement, consolidated statement of changes in reserves 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements) of the 
Fédération Internationale de Football Association for the 
period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020. We 
confirm that we fulfil the independence criteria as defined 
in article 5 of the FIFA Governance Regulations. According 
to article 51 of the FIFA Statutes, it is our responsibility to 
ensure the completeness and reliability of the financial 
accounting and to review the consolidated financial 
statements and the external auditor’s report. We have 
assessed the 2020 financial statements through:
• Discussion of the financial statements during the 

meeting of the Audit and Compliance Committee held 
on 15 March 2021 in the presence of the FIFA Secretary 
General, the FIFA Chief Finance Officer and the external 
auditors

• Examination of the detailed report to the Audit and 
Compliance Committee and to the FIFA Council for the 
year ended 31 December 2020 

• Examination of the report of the statutory auditor to 
the FIFA Congress on the consolidated financial 
statements for 2020

We have also assessed the accounting principles used, 
significant estimates made and overall presentation of  

the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our 
assessment provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
Furthermore, we confirm that we have had unrestricted  
and complete access to all the relevant documents and 
information necessary for our assessment.

In addition, we advised and assisted the FIFA Council in 
monitoring FIFA’s financial and compliance matters and 
monitored compliance as set out in the FIFA Governance 
Regulations.

On this basis, we recommend that the FIFA Congress approve 
the consolidated financial statements for 2020.

For the Audit and Compliance Committee

Tomaž Vesel
Chairperson

Zurich, 15 March 2021
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FIFA Forward funds overview

FIFA Forward funds to confederations (TUSD)

FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Confederation Total entitlement 
2019-20202

Total Forward  
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

Total entitlement 
2016-2018

Total Forward 
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

AFC  24,000  24,000 100%  30,000  30,000 100%

CAF  24,000  6,400 27%  30,000  30,000 100%

Concacaf  24,000  24,000 100%  30,000  30,000 100%

CONMEBOL  24,000  24,000 100%  30,000  30,000 100%

OFC  24,000  24,000 100%  30,000  30,000 100%

UEFA  24,000  24,000 100%  30,000  30,000 100%

Total  144,000  126,400 88%  180,000  180,000 100%

FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Confederation of  
zonal/regional associations

Total entitlement 
2019-20202

Total Forward  
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

Total entitlement 
2016-2018

Total Forward 
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

AFC  10,000  10,000 100%  10,000  10,000 100%

CAF  12,000  8,000 67%  12,000  12,000 100%

Concacaf  4,000  4,000 100%  4,000  4,000 100%

Total  26,000  22,000 85%  26,000  26,000 100%

FIFA Forward funds to zonal/regional associations (TUSD)

FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Other associations Total entitlement 
2019-20202

Total Forward  
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

Total entitlement 
2016-2018

Total Forward 
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

Other football associations  2,400  2,400 100% - - -

Total  2,400  2,400 100% - - -

FIFA Forward funds to other football associations (TUSD)

FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Member associations Total entitlement 
2019-20202

Total Forward  
funds released3

Percentage of total 
funds released

Total entitlement 
2016-2018

Total Forward 
funds released3

Percentage of total 
funds released

Project costs  116,795  71,371 61%  474,750  316,664 67%

Operational costs  422,000  397,993 94%  316,500  310,504 98%

Travel and  
equipment costs  54,000  46,625 86%  81,375  75,300 93%

Total  592,795  515,989 87%  872,625  702,468 81%

FIFA Forward funds to member associations (TUSD)1

1 For further details of FIFA Forward funds released to member associations, please see pages 177 to 183.
2 The amount of Forward funds to which member associations and confederations are entitled is also shown under Note 7 – Development & Education. 
3 Forward funds released include COVID-19 Relief Plan funds amounting to USD 120 million; for further details, please see pages 177 to 183.
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FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Entitlement 
2019-2020 

(TUSD)4

Forward funds released (TUSD)

Percentage of  
funds released

Entitlement 
2016-2018 

(TUSD)4
Percentage of  

funds released

Project  
costs 

(ordinary)

Opera tional 
costs 

(ordinary)5

COVID-19 
relief funds 

(stages 1 & 2)5

Travel and 
equipment 

costs
 

Total6

Afghanistan  2,714  214  1,200  800  500  2,714 100%  4,445 100%

Australia  2,977  977  1,500  500  0    2,977 100%  3,750 100%

Bahrain  4,000  780  1,500  500  0    2,780 70%  4,376 99%

Bangladesh  2,500  0    1,115  635  11  1,761 70%  4,445 58%

Bhutan  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,445 95%

Brunei Darussalam  2,500  0    1,250  750  300  2,300 92%  4,425 50%

Cambodia  3,504  858  1,450  550  200  3,058 87%  4,445 100%

China PR  2,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 100%  3,851 99%

Chinese Taipei  2,000  0    1,250  750  0    2,000 100%  4,376 55%

Guam  2,500  0    1,400  600  500  2,500 100%  4,376 65%

Hong Kong  2,000  0    1,450  550  0    2,000 100%  4,376 85%

India  4,000  1,181  1,500  500  0    3,181 80%  3,900 98%

Indonesia  2,000  0    1,300  700  0    2,000 100%  4,445 86%

IR Iran  2,000  0    0    128  0    128 6%  3,851 66%

Iraq  2,000  0    200  500  0    700 35%  4,425 46%

Japan  4,000  2,000  1,500  500  0    4,000 100%  3,750 100%

Jordan  2,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 100%  4,376 100%

Korea DPR  2,500  0    0    0    0    0   0%  4,376 15%

Korea Republic  2,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 100%  3,851 74%

Kuwait  2,000  0    1,350  650  0    2,000 100%  4,425 58%

Kyrgyz Republic  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,425 85%

Laos  2,500  0    1,000  700  300  2,000 80%  4,445 96%

Lebanon  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,425 77%

Macau  4,500  2,000  1,400  600  500  4,500 100%  4,376 100%

Malaysia  2,000  0    1,450  550  0    2,000 100%  3,900 89%

Maldives  2,552  30  1,500  500  500  2,530 99%  4,425 87%

Mongolia  2,869  292  1,500  500  500  2,792 97%  4,425 94%

Myanmar  2,503  0    1,400  600  0    2,000 80%  4,376 83%

Nepal  2,500  0    1,450  550  500  2,500 100%  4,445 97%

Oman  2,000  0    1,400  600  0    2,000 100%  4,425 64%

Pakistan  2,500  0    150  245  100  495 20%  3,920 38%

Palestine  2,500  0    1,450  550  500  2,500 100%  4,376 90%

FIFA Forward funds to  
member associations

4  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, depending on the status of projects that have been formally 
approved and with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

5  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance 
and gave them the opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

6  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.
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FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Entitlement 
2019-2020 

(TUSD)4

Forward funds released (TUSD)

Percentage of  
funds released

Entitlement 
2016-2018 

(TUSD)4
Percentage of  

funds released

Project  
costs 

(ordinary)

Opera tional 
costs 

(ordinary)5

COVID-19 
relief funds 

(stages 1 & 2)5

Travel and 
equipment 

costs
 

Total6

Algeria  4,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 50%  3,900 42%

Angola  2,500  0    50  500  0    550 22%  4,445 38%

Benin  2,500  0    758  506  300  1,564 63%  4,445 73%

Botswana  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,425 96%

Burkina Faso  2,200  0    1,500  500  200  2,200 100%  4,445 85%

Burundi  2,815  204  1,350  650  500  2,704 96%  4,445 100%

Cabo Verde  2,500  0    1,200  800  500  2,500 100%  4,445 84%

Cameroon  3,426  0    1,150  850  0    2,000 58%  3,900 83%

Central African Republic  2,500  0    1,150  850  500  2,500 100%  4,445 86%

Chad  2,500  0    1,250  750  329  2,329 93%  4,445 89%

Comoros  2,500  0    850  200  500  1,550 62%  4,445 74%

Congo  2,500  0    1,000  1,000  380  2,380 95%  4,445 90%

Congo DR  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,445 49%

Côte d’Ivoire  2,000  0    500  0    0    500 25%  3,900 69%

Djibouti  3,767  1,117  1,500  500  500  3,617 96%  4,445 99%

Egypt  4,000  1,600  1,000  200  0    2,800 70%  4,445 100%

Philippines  2,500  0    1,050  750  300  2,100 84%  4,425 66%

Qatar  2,000  0    1,250  750  0    2,000 100%  3,851 70%

Saudi Arabia  2,000  0    1,250  750  0    2,000 100%  3,851 34%

Singapore  2,815  150  1,400  600  0    2,150 76%  4,376 85%

Sri Lanka  2,500  0    1,300  700  200  2,200 88%  4,425 54%

Syria  2,500  0    0    0    0    0   0%  4,445 0%

Tajikistan  2,500  0    1,450  550  500  2,500 100%  4,445 100%

Thailand  2,000  0    1,400  600  0    2,000 100%  3,851 76%

Timor-Leste  2,500  0    750  1,000  0    1,750 70%  4,445 37%

Turkmenistan  2,500  0    1,250  750  500  2,500 100%  4,425 49%

United Arab Emirates  2,033  0    1,400  600  0    2,000 98%  3,851 58%

Uzbekistan  2,200  0    1,500  500  200  2,200 100%  4,376 49%

Vietnam  2,614  100  1,350  650  300  2,400 92%  3,851 100%

Yemen  2,500  0    0    0    0    0   0%  4,445 0%

Total  116,280  8,581  55,015  25,208  7,911  96,716 83%  195,721 72%

4  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, depending on the status of projects that have been formally 
approved and with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

5  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance 
and gave them the opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

6  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.
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Equatorial Guinea  2,500  0    1,056  944  0    2,000 80%  4,425 82%

Eritrea  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,445 51%

Eswatini  3,664  106  1,500  500  500  2,606 71%  4,445 95%

Ethiopia  3,301  801  1,500  500  500  3,301 100%  4,445 100%

Gabon  2,707  0    1,400  600  500  2,500 92%  4,425 75%

Gambia  2,574  74  1,400  600  500  2,574 100%  4,445 87%

Ghana  2,300  0    1,250  750  300  2,300 100%  3,900 45%

Guinea  3,459  323  1,500  500  500  2,823 82%  4,445 54%

Guinea-Bissau  2,500  0    300  700  344  1,344 54%  4,445 49%

Kenya  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,445 99%

Lesotho  2,665  50  1,500  500  500  2,550 96%  4,445 62%

Liberia  3,374  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 74%  4,445 75%

Libya  2,500  0    50  0    0    50 2%  4,425 25%

Madagascar  2,500  0    950  546  500  1,996 80%  4,445 61%

Malawi  2,500  0    1,450  550  500  2,500 100%  4,445 91%

Mali  2,500  0    1,200  800  500  2,500 100%  4,445 56%

Mauritania  2,200  0    1,500  500  200  2,200 100%  4,445 93%

Mauritius  2,715  200  1,500  500  500  2,700 99%  4,425 92%

Morocco  4,000  1,000  1,150  850  0    3,000 75%  4,425 49%

Mozambique  2,500  0    1,400  600  500  2,500 100%  4,445 62%

Namibia  2,500  0    822  1,178  499  2,499 100%  4,425 77%

Niger  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,445 78%

Nigeria  2,120  0    550  1,450  0    2,000 94%  3,900 58%

Rwanda  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,445 94%

São Tomé and Príncipe  2,500  0    1,100  900  500  2,500 100%  4,445 71%

Senegal  2,300  0    1,500  500  300  2,300 100%  4,425 58%

Seychelles  2,500  0    1,350  650  500  2,500 100%  3,900 83%

Sierra Leone  2,500  0    1,000  1,000  500  2,500 100%  4,445 54%

Somalia  4,500  200  1,300  500  500  2,500 56%  4,445 86%

South Africa  2,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 100%  4,425 87%

South Sudan  4,500  1,385  1,350  650  500  3,885 86%  4,445 100%

Sudan  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,445 50%

Tanzania  4,173  328  1,500  500  300  2,628 63%  4,445 65%

Togo  2,500  0    1,150  850  300  2,300 92%  4,445 99%

Tunisia  2,000  0    1,300  700  0    2,000 100%  4,376 57%

Uganda  4,350  875  1,500  500  500  3,375 78%  4,445 93%

Zambia  2,200  0    1,500  500  200  2,200 100%  4,425 52%

Zimbabwe  2,500  0    1,266  734  500  2,500 100%  4,445 67%

Total  150,810  8,264  66,053  32,858  19,151  126,325 84%  236,472 74%

4  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, depending on the status of projects that have been formally 
approved and with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

5  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance 
and gave them the opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

6  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.
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FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Entitlement 
2019-2020 

(TUSD)4

Forward funds released (TUSD)

Percentage of  
funds released

Entitlement 
2016-2018 

(TUSD)4
Percentage of  

funds released

Project  
costs 

(ordinary)

Opera tional 
costs 

(ordinary)5

COVID-19 
relief funds 

(stages 1 & 2)5

Travel and 
equipment 

costs
 

Total6

Anguilla  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  3,900 57%

Antigua and Barbuda  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  3,851 72%

Aruba  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,376 65%

Bahamas  2,500  0    1,300  700  500  2,500 100%  4,425 86%

Barbados  3,057  345  1,500  500  500  2,845 93%  4,376 100%

Belize  2,781  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 90%  4,425 99%

Bermuda  2,500  0    1,300  700  500  2,500 100%  3,851 79%

British Virgin Islands  2,500  0    1,250  750  500  2,500 100%  3,851 97%

Canada  2,500  450  1,450  550  0    2,450 98%  4,275 98%

Cayman Islands  2,500  0    1,500  500  217  2,217 89%  3,851 50%

Costa Rica  2,848  848  1,500  500  0    2,848 100%  3,851 98%

Cuba  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,376 62%

Curaçao  3,674  693  1,500  500  500  3,193 87%  4,376 99%

Dominica  2,500  0    1,450  550  500  2,500 100%  3,900 56%

Dominican Republic  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,425 78%

El Salvador  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,376 100%

Grenada  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,425 88%

Guatemala  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,425 54%

Guyana  2,819  173  1,500  500  500  2,673 95%  4,425 99%

Haiti  3,585  981  1,500  500  500  3,481 97%  4,425 100%

Honduras  2,018  18  1,500  500  0    2,018 100%  3,920 99%

Jamaica  2,538  7  1,300  500  500  2,307 91%  4,376 97%

Mexico  2,841  700  1,500  500  0    2,700 95%  3,851 100%

Montserrat  2,500  0    1,150  850  500  2,500 100%  3,900 94%

Nicaragua  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,425 91%

Panama  2,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 100%  4,376 96%

Puerto Rico  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,425 85%

St Kitts and Nevis  2,500  0    1,350  650  500  2,500 100%  3,851 71%

St Lucia  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,425 89%

St Vincent and the Grenadines  2,500  0    950  850  376  2,176 87%  4,376 67%

Suriname  3,450  743  1,500  500  500  3,243 94%  4,425 100%

Trinidad and Tobago  4,188  1,445  950  884  380  3,659 87%  4,376 100%

Turks and Caicos Islands  2,907  43  1,300  700  500  2,543 87%  3,900 91%

US Virgin Islands  2,531  20  1,400  600  500  2,520 100%  4,425 99%

USA  2,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 100%  3,750 97%

Total  93,236  6,468  49,650  19,784  13,973  89,875 96%  146,978 86%

4  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, depending on the status of projects that have been formally 
approved and with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

5  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance 
and gave them the opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

6  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.
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FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Entitlement 
2019-2020 

(TUSD)4

Forward funds released (TUSD)

Percentage of  
funds released

Entitlement 
2016-2018 

(TUSD)4
Percentage of  

funds released

Project  
costs 

(ordinary)

Opera tional 
costs 

(ordinary)5

COVID-19 
relief funds 

(stages 1 & 2)5

Travel and 
equipment 

costs
 

Total6

Argentina  3,712  790  1,500  500  0    2,790 75%  3,750 53%

Bolivia  2,500  0    1,500  500  500  2,500 100%  4,425 84%

Brazil  2,000  0    1,400  600  0    2,000 100%  3,750 100%

Chile  2,500  300  1,500  500  0    2,300 92%  3,750 100%

Colombia  2,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 100%  3,750 96%

Ecuador  2,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 100%  3,851 82%

Paraguay  4,000  1,715  1,500  500  0    3,715 93%  4,275 100%

Peru  2,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 100%  3,750 100%

Uruguay  2,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 100%  3,750 100%

Venezuela  2,200  0    1,000  191  160  1,351 61%  3,851 86%

Total  24,912  2,805  14,400  4,791  660  22,656 91%  38,901 90%

FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Entitlement 
2019-2020 

(TUSD)4

Forward funds released (TUSD)

Percentage of  
funds released

Entitlement 
2016-2018 

(TUSD)4
Percentage of  

funds released

Project  
costs 

(ordinary)

Opera tional 
costs 

(ordinary)5

COVID-19 
relief funds 

(stages 1 & 2)5

Travel and 
equipment 

costs
 

Total6

American Samoa  2,500  0    1,250  750  500  2,500 100%  4,289 54%

Cook Islands  2,500  0    1,200  800  500  2,500 100%  4,289 94%

Fiji  4,415  1,649  1,500  500  500  4,149 94%  4,289 87%

New Caledonia  3,017  443  1,500  500  500  2,943 98%  4,289 92%

New Zealand  3,650  1,650  1,500  500  0    3,650 100%  4,289 100%

Papua New Guinea  2,500  0    900  550  130  1,580 63%  4,289 69%

Samoa  2,500  0    1,200  800  500  2,500 100%  4,289 77%

Solomon Islands  2,500  0    1,300  700  500  2,500 100%  4,289 53%

Tahiti  4,500  1,280  1,450  550  500  3,780 84%  4,289 100%

Tonga  2,500  0    1,450  550  500  2,500 100%  4,289 69%

Vanuatu  4,400  0    1,450  550  500  2,500 57%  4,289 69%

Total  34,982  5,022  14,700  6,750  4,630  31,102 89%  47,175 78%

4  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, depending on the status of projects that have been formally 
approved and with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

5  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance 
and gave them the opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

6  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.
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FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Entitlement 
2019-2020 

(TUSD)4

Forward funds released (TUSD)

Percentage of  
funds released

Entitlement 
2016-2018 

(TUSD)4
Percentage of  

funds released

Project  
costs 

(ordinary)

Opera tional 
costs 

(ordinary)5

COVID-19 
relief funds 

(stages 1 & 2)5

Travel and 
equipment 

costs
 

Total6

Albania  4,000  1,500  1,400  600  0    3,500 88%  3,851 94%

Andorra  2,000  0    1,300  700  0    2,000 100%  3,750 77%

Armenia  4,300  2,000  1,500  500  300  4,300 100%  4,275 100%

Austria  3,000  1,000  1,500  500  0    3,000 100%  3,750 98%

Azerbaijan  3,366  1,242  1,450  550  0    3,242 96%  3,851 100%

Belarus  3,733  1,634  1,500  500  0    3,634 97%  3,750 100%

Belgium  4,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 50%  3,750 86%

Bosnia and Herzegovina  2,000  0    1,400  600  0    2,000 100%  3,750 100%

Bulgaria  3,103  841  1,500  500  0    2,841 92%  3,750 98%

Croatia  3,850  617  1,500  500  0    2,617 68%  3,750 92%

Cyprus  2,000  0    1,450  550  0    2,000 100%  3,750 40%

Czech Republic  4,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 50%  3,750 80%

Denmark  2,029  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 99%  3,750 95%

England  2,898  707  1,500  691  0    2,898 100%  3,750 100%

Estonia  4,000  235  1,500  500  0    2,235 56%  3,750 90%

Faroe Islands  4,000  1,720  1,450  550  0    3,720 93%  3,750 92%

Finland  4,000  1,000  1,500  500  0    3,000 75%  3,750 100%

France  2,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 100%  3,750 100%

Georgia  3,087  1,038  1,450  550  0    3,038 98%  3,851 100%

Germany  4,000  1,650  1,500  500  0    3,650 91%  3,750 100%

Gibraltar  4,000  2,000  950  1,050  0    4,000 100%  3,750 100%

Greece  2,000  0    200  634  0    834 42%  3,750 66%

Hungary  2,012  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 99%  3,750 98%

Iceland  2,850  850  1,500  500  0    2,850 100%  3,750 100%

Israel  2,585  465  1,500  500  0    2,465 95%  3,750 55%

Italy  4,000  612  1,500  500  0    2,612 65%  3,750 84%

Kazakhstan  2,396  396  1,400  600  0    2,396 100%  3,851 49%

Kosovo  2,000  0    1,400  600  0    2,000 100%  3,851 90%

Latvia  2,922  922  1,450  550  0    2,922 100%  3,750 99%

Liechtenstein  4,000  765  1,350  650  0    2,765 69%  3,750 93%

Lithuania  3,646  1,025  1,500  500  0    3,025 83%  3,750 100%

Luxembourg  4,000  1,200  1,500  500  0    3,200 80%  3,750 100%

Malta  3,570  989  1,300  700  0    2,989 84%  3,750 100%

Moldova  2,000  0    1,400  600  0    2,000 100%  3,851 78%

Montenegro  4,000  1,343  1,300  700  0    3,343 84%  3,750 100%

Netherlands  2,330  330  1,500  500  0    2,330 100%  3,750 100%

4  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, depending on the status of projects that have been formally 
approved and with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

5  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance 
and gave them the opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

6  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.

4  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, depending on the status of projects that have been formally 
approved and with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

5  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance 
and gave them the opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

6  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.
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Northern Ireland  2,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 100%  3,750 67%

North Macedonia  2,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 100%  3,750 76%

Norway  2,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 100%  3,750 96%

Poland  4,000  2,000  1,500  500  0    4,000 100%  3,750 100%

Portugal  2,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 100%  3,750 56%

Republic of Ireland  4,000  2,000  1,500  500  0    4,000 100%  3,750 100%

Romania  3,343  1,136  1,500  500  0    3,136 94%  3,750 100%

Russia  2,405  317  1,500  500  0    2,317 96%  3,750 88%

San Marino  4,000  990  1,300  700  0    2,990 75%  3,750 100%

Scotland  4,000  500  1,500  500  0    2,500 63%  3,750 100%

Serbia  2,000  0    1,450  550  0    2,000 100%  3,750 45%

Slovakia  3,096  702  1,500  500  0    2,702 87%  3,750 100%

Slovenia  2,419  294  1,450  550  0    2,294 95%  3,750 100%

Spain  4,000  0    1,500  500  0    2,000 50%  3,750 100%

Sweden  3,446  1,034  1,500  500  0    3,034 88%  3,750 100%

Switzerland  4,000  1,000  1,500  500  0    3,000 75%  3,750 100%

Turkey  4,000  1,800  1,500  500  0    3,800 95%  3,750 100%

Ukraine  2,188  188  1,450  550  0    2,188 100%  3,750 88%

Wales  4,000  2,000  1,050  900  0    3,950 99%  3,750 100%

Total  172,574  40,041  78,350  30,625  300  149,316 87%  207,378 90%

4  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, depending on the status of projects that have been formally 
approved and with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

5  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance 
and gave them the opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

6  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.

4  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, depending on the status of projects that have been formally 
approved and with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

5  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance 
and gave them the opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

6  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.
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FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan overview

FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan – stage 3 (TUSD)

Total COVID-19 
funds available

Total COVID-19 
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

Stage 1:  
Release of 2019-2020 FIFA Forward 2.0 operational-cost entitlements1 152,000 119,825 79%

Stage 2:  
Transformation of Forward-specific allocations into COVID-19 relief funds1 465,000 293 0%

Stage 3:  
FIFA COVID-19 grants and loans 884,493 220,000 25%

Total 1,501,493 340,118 23%

Member association grants and loans Total COVID-19 
funds available

Total COVID-19 
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

Solidarity grants 2,3 211,000 89,750 43%

Women’s football grants 3 105,500 72,500 69%

Relief loans 531,993 45,750 9%

Total 848,493 208,000 25%

Confederations – grants Total COVID-19 
funds available

Total COVID-19 
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

AFC 2,000 2,000 100%

CAF 2,000 2,000 100%

Concacaf 2,000 2,000 100%

CONMEBOL 2,000 2,000 100%

OFC 2,000 2,000 100%

UEFA 2,000 2,000 100%

Total  12,000 12,000 100%

Confederations – loans Total COVID-19 
funds available

Total COVID-19 
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

AFC  4,000 0 0%

CAF  4,000 0 0%

Concacaf  4,000 0 0%

CONMEBOL  4,000 0 0%

OFC  4,000 0 0%

UEFA  4,000 0 0%

Total  24,000 0 0%

FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan in three stages (TUSD)

1 For further details of stage 1 and 2 funding, please see “FIFA Forward funds to member associations” on pages 177 to 183.
2  As at 31 December 2020, a total of USD 186 million in solidarity grants had been reviewed and approved, of which USD 89.75 million had been paid.
3 For further details of COVID-19 Relief Plan grants to member associations under stage 3, please see pages 185 to 191.
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FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants 
(stage 3) to member associations

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3)

Total COVID-19 
funds available 

(TUSD)

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants released (TUSD)

Percentage of  
funds released

Solidarity  
funds

Women’s  
football funds Total4

Afghanistan 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Australia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Bahrain 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Bangladesh 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Bhutan 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Brunei Darussalam 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Cambodia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

China PR 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Chinese Taipei 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Guam 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Hong Kong 1,500 0 0 0 0%

India 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Indonesia 1,500 500 0 500 33%

IR Iran 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Iraq 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Japan 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Jordan 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Korea DPR 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Korea Republic 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Kuwait 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Kyrgyz Republic 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Laos 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Lebanon 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Macau 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Malaysia 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Maldives 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Mongolia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Myanmar 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Nepal 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Oman 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Pakistan 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Palestine 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Philippines 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Qatar 1,500 500 0 500 33%

4   Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive COVID-19-related funds.
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Saudi Arabia 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Singapore 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Sri Lanka 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Syria 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Tajikistan 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Thailand 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Timor-Leste 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Turkmenistan 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

United Arab Emirates 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Uzbekistan 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Vietnam 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Yemen 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Total  69,000  17,500   13,000  30,500 44%

4   Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive COVID-19-related funds.

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3)

Total COVID-19 
funds available 

(TUSD)

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants released (TUSD)

Percentage of  
funds released

Solidarity  
funds

Women’s  
football funds Total4

Algeria 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Angola 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Benin 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Botswana 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Burkina Faso 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Burundi 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Cabo Verde 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Cameroon 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Central African Republic 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Chad 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Comoros 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Congo 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Congo DR 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Côte d’Ivoire 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Djibouti 1,500 500 0 500 33%
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Egypt 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Equatorial Guinea 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Eritrea 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Eswatini 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Ethiopia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Gabon 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Gambia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Ghana 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Guinea 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Guinea-Bissau 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Kenya 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Lesotho 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Liberia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Libya 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Madagascar 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Malawi 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Mali 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Mauritania 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Mauritius 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Morocco 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Mozambique 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Namibia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Niger 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Nigeria 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Rwanda 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

São Tomé e Príncipe 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Senegal 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Seychelles 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Sierra Leone 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Somalia 1,500 500 0 500 33%

South Africa 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

South Sudan 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Sudan 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Tanzania 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Togo 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Tunisia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Uganda 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Zambia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Zimbabwe 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Total   81,000 25,000   22,000 47,000 58%

FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3) to member associations | Annexe

4   Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive COVID-19-related funds.
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4   Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive COVID-19-related funds.

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3)

Total COVID-19 
funds available 

(TUSD)

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants released (TUSD)

Percentage of  
funds released

Solidarity  
funds

Women’s  
football funds Total4

Anguilla 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Antigua and Barbuda 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Aruba 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Bahamas 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Barbados 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Belize 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Bermuda 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

British Virgin Islands 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Canada 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Cayman Islands 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Costa Rica 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Cuba 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Curaçao 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Dominica 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Dominican Republic 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

El Salvador 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Grenada 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Guatemala 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Guyana 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Haiti 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Honduras 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Jamaica 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Mexico 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Montserrat 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Nicaragua 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Panama 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Puerto Rico 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

St Kitts and Nevis 1,500 500 0 500 33%

St Lucia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

St Vincent and the Grenadines 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Suriname 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Trinidad and Tobago 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Turks and Caicos Islands 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

US Virgin Islands 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

USA 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Total  52,500  16,500  13,000  29,500 56%
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4   Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive COVID-19-related funds.

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3)

Total COVID-19 
funds available 

(TUSD)

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants released (TUSD)

Percentage of  
funds released

Solidarity  
funds

Women’s  
football funds Total4

Argentina 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Bolivia 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Brazil 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Chile 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Colombia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Ecuador 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Paraguay 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Peru 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Uruguay 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Venezuela 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Total  15,000  4,000  4,000  8,000 53%

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3)

Total COVID-19 
funds available 

(TUSD)

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants released (TUSD)

Percentage of  
funds released

Solidarity  
funds

Women’s  
football funds Total4

American Samoa 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Cook Islands 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Fiji 1,500 500 0 500 33%

New Caledonia 1,500 500 0 500 33%

New Zealand 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Papua New Guinea 1,500 250 0 250 17%

Samoa 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Solomon Islands 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Tahiti 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Tonga 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Vanuatu 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Total  16,500  3,750  1,000  4,750 29%
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4   Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive COVID-19-related funds.

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3)

Total COVID-19 
funds available 

(TUSD)

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants released (TUSD)

Percentage of  
funds released

Solidarity  
funds

Women’s  
football funds Total4

Albania 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Andorra 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Armenia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Austria 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Azerbaijan 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Belarus 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Belgium 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Bosnia and Herzegovina 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Bulgaria 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Croatia 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Cyprus 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Czech Republic 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Denmark 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

England 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Estonia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Faroe Islands 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Finland 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

France 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Georgia 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Germany 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Gibraltar 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Greece 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Hungary 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Iceland 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Israel 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Italy 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Kazakhstan 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Kosovo 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Latvia 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Liechtenstein 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Lithuania 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Luxembourg 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Malta 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Moldova 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Montenegro 1,500 500 0 500 33%
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4   Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive COVID-19-related funds.

Netherlands 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Northern Ireland 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

North Macedonia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Norway 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Poland 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Portugal 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Republic of Ireland 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Romania 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Russia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

San Marino 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Scotland 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Serbia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Slovakia 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Slovenia 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Spain 1,500 500 0 500 33%

Sweden 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Switzerland 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Turkey 1,500 0 0 0 0%

Ukraine 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Wales 1,500 500 500 1,000 67%

Total  82,500  23,000  19,500  42,500 52%
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Perhaps the most iconic footballer ever to grace the game, 
Diego Maradona’s mercurial talent and presence on and off 
the pitch made him an idol the world over. He captained 
Argentina in two FIFA World Cup™ finals, winning in 1986, 
the year in which he also won the Golden Ball and scored 
what would be named FIFA’s Goal of the Century in 2002.

Discovered at the age of eight, Maradona later became a 
teenage sensation, making his professional debut for 
Argentinos Juniors at 15 and scoring an average of a goal a 
game in 116 appearances. In 1979, he lit up the FIFA World 
Youth Championship, leading Argentina to victory.

Having helped Boca Juniors win Argentina’s Primera División 
and appeared in his first FIFA World Cup in 1982, FC Barcelona 
paid a world-record fee of USD 7.5 million for Maradona. 
During two turbulent years at Barcelona, he scored 38 goals, 
won the 1983 Copa del Rey, suffered a career-threatening 
ankle injury, and was never far from disciplinary trouble. 

Despite this, in 1984 Napoli paid a new world-record 
USD 10.5 million for him. He thus embarked on a colourful 
seven-year career in which he inspired them to become the 
first southern club to win Italy’s Serie A in 1987, claim their 
first European trophy with the 1989 UEFA Cup, and a second 
league title in 1990.

By the time he left in 1992, Maradona was deified in Naples,  
as well as in his homeland, and the club officially retired the 
no. 10 shirt in recognition of his contribution to their history.

Following a 15-month ban for failing an anti-doping test,  
he played for Sevilla FC in Spain and Newell’s Old Boys back  
in Argentina, before returning to his first love, Boca Juniors, 
where he saw out his playing career.

After his retirement from playing in 1997, he took up 
coaching, leading Argentina at the 2010 FIFA World Cup™  
in South Africa. Despite unfailing support from the fans,  
his time in management never reached the heights of his 
extraordinary playing career.

Obituaries
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When Senegal made their FIFA World Cup™  debut at Korea/
Japan 2002, fans’ expectations were not high, as they were up 
against France, the champions, in the opening match. The 
Lions of Teranga stunned the world champions and the whole 
football world with an explosive victory thanks to a breathless 
goal by Papa Bouba Diop.

Diop entered the annals of footballing history by sliding in  
to grab the winner, his nation’s first ever FIFA World Cup goal. 
A powerful, towering central midfielder, Diop embodied 
Senegal’s speed, strength and skill in an unforgettable 
campaign that saw the West African side become a feared 
opponent on the world stage and favourite with neutral fans.

Papa Bouba Diop

After his revelatory performances with Senegal at the World 
Cup, Diop played in France’s Ligue 1 with Lens and for a 
number of clubs in England’s Premier League, where fans 
dubbed him “the Wardrobe” for his physical stature.

Sadly, Diop lost his fight with motor neurone disease at the 
age of just 42. His name lives on, however, in FIFA World Cup 
history.

1978-2020
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“Don Nacho” Trelles was not only an excellent national team 
leader, who was at the helm of El Tri at three FIFA World 
Cups™, but he also enjoyed prolonged success domestically, 
winning more Liga MX titles (seven) than any other coach.  
An immense personality, he helped revolutionise Mexican 
football with his tactical and welfare innovations.

His pioneering efforts led to the national team being given 
additional coaching and support staff, including assistants 
and doctors, for the first time. He was also a tactical pioneer, 
setting up his Mexico side with three central defenders and 
two wing backs in a World Cup match against England in 
1966, an unusual tactic at the time. 

Ignacio Trelles

After a coaching career spanning 43 years, Trelles finally left 
the dugout after spending the 1990/91 season with Puebla. 
He would remain active in the game for several more years, 
however, as coordinator of the academy teams at Cruz Azul,  
a club where he held an honorary position for many years.

1916-2020
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Hailing from a family of modest means, Jack Charlton always 
had a close relationship with his younger brother Bobby, two 
years his junior. The brothers were never closer on the pitch 
than on 30 July 1966, when England won the FIFA World 
Cup™ title on home soil. 

Jack played every match in that glorious campaign, as part  
of a centre-back partnership with captain Bobby Moore that 
conceded just three goals in the whole competition,  
two of them coming in the final.

Jack Charlton

He spent his entire club career at Leeds United, making 
773 appearances between 1952 and 1973, winning the League 
Cup in 1968, the league championship in 1969 and the FA Cup 
in 1972.

After retirement from playing, Jack moved into coaching, 
enjoying spells with Middlesbrough and Sheffield Wednesday 
before taking on the Republic of Ireland job in 1986. He 
oversaw the greatest era in the history of the Boys in Green, 
leading them to their first-ever FIFA World Cup at Italy 1990, 
where they went all the way to the quarter-finals, and back to 
the big stage at USA 1994 before leaving the football world 
behind for good.

1935-2020
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Hari Raj Naicker was a pioneer who lived to serve football in 
his native Fiji and in the wider region of Oceania. Known for 
his discipline and sense of justice, Naicker dedicated himself  
to a 60-year career in the game.

Naicker became a FIFA referee in 1975, officiating for a record 
17 years before retiring. His involvement with FIFA did not 
end there, however, and he became the first FIFA refereeing 
instructor from Fiji, passing on the lessons from his 
international experience officiating in Australia, New Zealand, 
Malaysia and throughout the Pacific Island nations.

Hari Raj Naicker

He also served as the Fiji Football Referees’ National Secretary 
from 1975 to 2002 and chairman of the Fiji FA’s Referees 
Commission between 1997 and 2005.

Naicker received numerous accolades for his exemplary 
professionalism and passion, named administrator of the year 
by the Fiji FA in 1993, conferred the Fiji Olympic Order by  
the National Olympic Committee, and recognised by FIFA at 
the 62nd FIFA Congress in Budapest, where he became the 
third Fijian native to receive the FIFA Order of Merit for his 
lifelong service to the game.

1942-2020
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Paolo Rossi will forever be a national hero in Italy, primarily 
for his six goals that helped the Azzurri win the 1982 FIFA 
World Cup™ in Spain, for which he was affectionately 
nicknamed “Pablito”.

He achieved his World Cup-winning form, extraordinarily, 
having recently completed a two-year ban for his involvement 
in a match-fixing scandal that engulfed Italy’s Serie A and 
Serie B in 1980. 

Having started his career with Juventus, Rossi struggled 
initially with injuries and, finding few opportunities in the 
first team, moved to Serie B side Vicenza. There, his fortunes 
changed and, in the 1976/77 season, he finished top scorer  
as the club won promotion to Serie A. The following season, 
his form continued and he was again top scorer as Vicenza 
finished second.

Paolo Rossi

His club form earned him a place in Italy’s squad for the 1978 
FIFA World Cup™, where he scored three goals. Soon after, 
however, he was again plagued by injuries and, looking for 
regular game time, ended up moving to Perugia.

Following the 1982 FIFA World Cup, he returned to Juventus, 
where – in addition to the individual honour of the 1982 
Ballon d’Or – he won a host of silverware, including the 
European Cup Winners’ Cup, the Serie A title and the 
European Cup.

Beset by injuries, Rossi retired early at the age of 30, having 
scored some of the most important goals in Italian football 
history. 

1956-2020
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The 1988 Asian Footballer of the Year, Ahmed Radhi is 
regarded as one of Iraq’s greatest players of all time. He was 
best known for scoring the only goal in Iraq’s FIFA World 
Cup™ campaign at Mexico ‘86.

A prolific goalscorer from a young age, Radhi was quickly 
called up to the national team thanks to his form with  
Al Zawraa, his childhood club with whom he would play three 
stints and later coach.

Having been an important member of the national team 
seeking qualification to the 1984 Summer Olympics, to his 
frustration the 20-year-old Radhi was left out of the final 
squad for Los Angeles 1984. This omission would prove to be 
a turning point in his career as he returned stronger in 1985, 
bagging 12 international goals. 

Ahmed Radhi

His finest moment would come 57 minutes into Iraq’s FIFA 
World Cup group match against Belgium. Outsmarting his 
marker, the Iraqi striker latched onto Natiq Hashim’s pass  
and rifled into the far corner from the edge of the box, 
beating goalkeeper Jean-Marie Pfaff to enter the history 
books as scorer of Iraq’s first – and to date only – goal at a 
FIFA World Cup.

A brief coaching career saw him manage Al Shorta, Al Zawraa 
and Air Force Club in addition to Iraq U-19s, he also served  
as a president of Al Zawraa club and as a member of the Iraqi 
Parliament.

1964-2020
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Following a low-key career as an amateur player in his native 
France, Gérard Houllier pursued a path in education that 
included time teaching in Liverpool, England. He never lost  
his passion for the game, however, and swapped teaching  
for the dugout of second division French side Nœux-les-Mines 
in 1976.

Houllier’s path as a coach took him to Lens and Paris  
Saint-Germain, where he clinched the French title in 1986,  
and subsequently to the national team, first as assistant  
and then an ill-fated period as head coach.

Gérard Houllier

Following a stint in charge of France’s U-18 and U-20 sides,  
he relaunched his career at Liverpool FC in 1998. The high 
point of Houllier’s time at Anfield came in 2001, when the 
Merseyside club returned to glory, winning five trophies, 
including the FA Cup and the UEFA Cup.

More success followed as Houllier won back-to-back Ligue 1 
titles with Lyon in 2006 and 2007, after which he took a step 
back for health reasons. After ending his management career 
in 2011, Houllier put his vast knowledge of the game to use as 
an adviser to clubs and he also served on the FIFA Technical 
Study Group.

1947-2020
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FIFA remembers

Walter Ormeño

Hans Tilkowski

Luís Morais

Khamis Al-Owairan Al-Dossari

Pietro Anastasi

Theodor Wagner

Alfred Körner

Rob Rensenbrink

Kennedy Isles

Cheick Dem

Jean Fournet-Fayard

Rubén Selman

Shariff Samat

Valeri Butenko 

James Patrick Conway

Harry Gregg

Katongo Kabungo

Craig Stanfield

Amr Fahmy

Irvino English

Stefan Lindqvist

Members of the club CS Etoile de Guinée  

killed in a tragic road accident in Timbo, Guinea

Andre Ryder Charlery

Haitham Harub

Chineme Martins

Vinayak P. Pradhan

Sheikh Isa bin Rashid Al Khalifa

Léon-Michel Inyangi Bokinda

Michel Kitabdjian

Joaquín Peiró

Amadeo Carrizo

Pradip Kumar Banerjee

Lorenzo Sanz

Ifeanyi George and Emmanuel Ogbu

Ignacio Trelles

Michel Hidalgo

José Luis Capón

Opoku Afriyie

Kwasi Owusu

Pape Diouf

Saaid Daalah

Mario Chaldú

Said Mohamed Duale

Gregorio “Goyo” Benito

Apollinaire Ngangue

Alh Ousman Basi Conateh

Bernard Gonzalez

Radomir Antić

Sergio Guenza

Samuel Wembé

Peter Bonetti

Ebenezer Nzonlia

Lahassane Youla

Norman Hunter

Edmond Bangura

Carlos Contreras

Aluísio Francisco da Luz “Índio”

Innokenty  Samokhvalov

Noureddine Ben Yahmed “Diwa”

Rinaldo Entingh

Tomás Balcázar González

Robert Herbin

Michael Robinson

Louis Cardiet

Eddy Pieters Graafland

Trevor Cherry

Jaime Bruzaca de Menezes

Chung Hae-won

Amador Suárez Villa

Abdiwali Olad Kanyare

Tomás Felipe Carlovich

Pedro Pablo “Perico” León

Khair Al-Sayed Abdelgader

Philippe Redon

Douga Ahmat Fathi

2020 was a tragic year for the global population and football was affected just as much as any 
other part of society. FIFA honours the memories of those named below and the countless other 
members of the football family who made a difference in the sport and in our lives.
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Jacques Crevoisier

Marko Elsner

Faisal Yousef

Jaswant Singh Sran

Jordan Diakiese

Gerhard “Gerd“ Strack

Héctor “Pochín” Ochoa 

Luigi “Gigi” Simoni

Miljan Mrdaković

José Roberto Figueroa

Jimmy Kirunda

Oswaldo Fumeiro Alvarez “Vadão”

Marcelino Vaquero González del Río

Liesbeth Migchelsen

Umar Ahmad Jalingo

Mc Millan Medard

Célio Taveira

Deibert Frans Román Guzmán

Rosa Canales Cevallos

Jean-Claude Hamel

Boris Gaganelov

Sedley Joseph

Tony Dunne

Anton “Toni” Bucheli 

Parviz Aboutaleb

Hans Cieslarczyk 

Talat Özkarslı

Aarón Padilla Gutiérrez 

Mário José dos Reis Emiliano “Marinho”

Dr Mohamed Mahmoud Ould Mah

Arturo “Curita” Chaires

Kossi Koudagba

Ousman Ayouba

Mario Corso

Ahmed Radhi

Badara Mamaya Sène

Pierino Prati

Carlos Luis Morales

Jaroslav Pollák

Emeka Esanga Mamale

Kilasu Massamba

Mihai Romilă

Jean-Pierre Morlans

Ilija Petković

Marián Čišovský

Ardico Magnini

Volodymyr Mykolayovych Troshkin

Dannes Coronel

Vladimir Salkov

Hafiz Rahim

Mohamed Kouradji

Jack Charlton

Milan Služanič

Lajos Szűcs

Wim Suurbier

Alhaji Momodo Njie  “Biri Biri”

César Luis Salinas Sinka

Alyana Bautista

Chris Sambo

Stephen Tataw

Alex Dupont

V. Krishnasamy

Saïd Amara

Jesús Berardinelli

Gabriel Ochoa Uribe

Vladimir “Vladica” Popović

Pavol Biroš

Biser Mihaylov

Ernst Jean-Joseph

Tom Forsyth

Henk Wullems

Tommy Carroll

Georg “Schorsch” Volkert

Savvas Theodoridis

Héctor Fúnez

Raziya Nurkenova

FIFA remembers
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Mohamed Mezahi

Hamadi Agrebi

Pedro Nájera

Paul Wolfisberg

Papa Sarr Corr

George F. Gomez

Karel Knesl

Eduardo José Gomes Cameselle Mendez “Dito”

Ajibade Babalade

Peter Hofmann

Levon Altounian

Jean Claude Sendeoli

Luke Frederick

Alfred Riedl

Seth Boois

Nadhim Shaker

Fino Fini

Mircea Pascu

Jabulani Nxumalo

Mohamed Atwi

Ricardo Ciciliano

Alhaji Musa Duhu

Eight young players killed following  

a road accident in Offinso, Ghana

Ephrem M’Bom

Lars-Åke Lagrell

Daniele De Santis 

Agne Simonsson

Frans Derks

Jacques Beurlet

Abdul Mahdi Hadi Taher

Wálter Machado da Silva

Hillary Makasa

Rix Mweemba 

Oļegs Karavajevs

Vasili Kulkov

Ângelo Martins

Carlton Chapman

Nevzat Güzelırmak

Dr Paul Marealle

Augusto Matine

Rolston Williams

László Branikovits

Bontcho Todorov

Rodolfo José Fischer

Bruno Martini

Aziz Ameen

Chrispine Mulenga

Gao Fengwen

Gilberto Penayo

Slaven Zambata

Nobby Stiles

Marius Žaliūkas

Juan Cruz Sol

Tony Waiters

Mahmoud Yavari

Charles Corver 

Oswald Wilkinson Larcher

Carlos Campos 

Annette Hypolite

Mohand Chérif Hannachi

Vidin Apostolov

Carlos Amadeu

Ray Clemence

Floriane Afoutou

Dairon Blanco

Ljubisav Ivanov-Dzingo

Makhosini Luthuli

Willem “Pim“ Doesburg

Luis Grimaldi

Adam Musiał

Rudy del Rosario

Firmin Akplogan 

Samuel Kamara

Augustin Sidy Diallo

Général Séyi Mémène
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Ricky Yacobi

Badal Roy

Maurice Setters

Anele Ngcongca

Diego Armando Maradona

Domingo Baluyot

Dimitar Largov

Papa Bouba Diop

Dr Eduardo Rocca Couture

Mohamed Abarhoun

Karim Salman

Viktor Ponedelnik

Dudu Emmah Dube

Alejandro Sabella

Amin Dabo

Paolo Rossi

Victorine Laurence

Benedito Custódio Ferreira “Escurinho”

Motjeka Madisha

Agbéwanou Antoine Edoh

Otto Barić

Elbrus Abbasov

Gérard Houllier

Adela Camacho de Torrebiarte

Renê Weber

Kálmán Sóvári

Dato’ Namat Abdullah

Dietrich Weise

Hari Raj Naicker

Özkan Sümer

Arkady Andreasyan

Relebohile Hlaele

Rethabile Marake 

Jyrki Heliskoski

Nikhil Nandy

Richard Choruma

Tommy Docherty
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AFG 
Afghanistan

BDI 
Burundi

AIA  
Anguilla

BEL  
Belgium

BEN  
Benin

BER  
Bermuda

BFA  
Burkina Faso

BHR  
Bahrain

BHU  
Bhutan

BIH  
Bosnia and 

Herzegovina

ALB  
Albania

ALG  
Algeria

AND  
Andorra

ANG  
Angola

ARG  
Argentina

ARM  
Armenia

ARU  
Aruba

BLR  
Belarus

CMR  
Cameroon

ASA  
American 

Samoa

BLZ  
Belize

COD  
Congo DR

ATG  
Antigua and 

Barbuda

BOL 
Bolivia

COK 
Cook Islands

AUS  
Australia

BOT 
Botswana

COL 
Colombia

AUT  
Austria

BRA  
Brazil

COM 
Comoros

AZE  
Azerbaijan

BRB  
Barbados

CPV  
Cabo Verde

BAH  
Bahamas

BRU  
Brunei 

Darussalam

CRC  
Costa Rica

BAN  
Bangladesh

BUL  
Bulgaria

CRO  
Croatia

CAM 
Cambodia

CAN  
Canada

CAY 
Cayman Islands

CGO  
Congo

CHA  
Chad

CHI  
Chile

CHN  
China PR

CIV  
Côte d’Ivoire

CTA 
Central African 

Republic 

CUB  
Cuba

CUW 
Curaçao

CYP 
Cyprus

CZE  
Czech Republic

DEN  
Denmark

DJI  
Djibouti

DMA  
Dominica
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DOM  
Dominican 
Republic

GER  
Germany

IRL  
Republic of 

Ireland

LAO  
Laos

ECU  
Ecuador

GHA  
Ghana

IRN  
IR Iran

LBN  
Lebanon

EGY 
Egypt

GIB 
Gibraltar

IRQ 
Iraq

LBR 
Liberia

ENG 
England

GNB 
Guinea-Bissau

ISL 
Iceland

LBY 
Libya

EQG 
Equatorial 

Guinea

GRE 
Greece

ISR 
Israel

LCA 
St Lucia

ERI  
Eritrea

GRN  
Grenada

ITA  
Italy

LES  
Lesotho

ESP  
Spain

GUA 
Guatemala

JAM 
Jamaica

LIE 
Liechtenstein

EST  
Estonia

GUI  
Guinea

JOR  
Jordan

LTU  
Lithuania

ETH 
Ethiopia

FIJ  
Fiji

FIN 
Finland

FRA 
France

FRO  
Faroe Islands

GAB  
Gabon

GAM  
Gambia

GEO  
Georgia

GUM 
Guam

GUY 
Guyana

HAI 
Haiti

HKG 
Hong Kong

HON 
Honduras

HUN  
Hungary

IDN  
Indonesia

IND  
India

JPN 
Japan

KAZ 
Kazakhstan

KEN 
Kenya

KGZ 
Kyrgyz

Republic

KOR 
Korea Republic

KSA  
Saudi Arabia

KUW  
Kuwait

KOS  
Kosovo
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LUX 
Luxembourg

LVA  
Latvia

MAC  
Macau

MAD  
Madagascar

MAR  
Morocco

MAS  
Malaysia

MDA  
Moldova

MDV  
Maldives

MKD  
North 

Macedonia

MLI  
Mali

MLT 
Malta

MNE  
Montenegro

MNG  
Mongolia

MOZ  
Mozambique

MRI  
Mauritius

MEX  
Mexico

MSR 
Montserrat

MTN  
Mauritania

MWI  
Malawi

MYA  
Myanmar

NAM  
Namibia

NCA  
Nicaragua

NCL  
New Caledonia

NED  
Netherlands

NEP  
Nepal

NGA  
Nigeria

NIG 
Niger

NIR 
Northern 
Ireland

NOR  
Norway

NZL  
New Zealand

OMA  
Oman

PAK  
Pakistan

PAN 
Panama

PAR  
Paraguay

PER 
Peru

PHI  
Philippines

PLE  
Palestine

PNG  
Papua New 

Guinea

POL  
Poland

POR  
Portugal

PRK  
Korea DPR

PUR  
Puerto Rico

QAT 
Qatar

ROU 
Romania

RSA 
South Africa

RUS  
Russia

RWA  
Rwanda

SAM  
Samoa

SCO 
Scotland

SDN  
Sudan

SEN 
Senegal

SEY 
Seychelles

SIN  
Singapore

SKN  
St Kitts  

and Nevis

SLE  
Sierra Leone

SLV  
El Salvador
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SMR  
San Marino

SOL  
Solomon Islands

SOM 
Somalia

SRB 
Serbia

SRI 
Sri Lanka

SSD  
South Sudan

STP  
São Tomé and 

Príncipe

SUI  
Switzerland

SUR 
Suriname

SVK  
Slovakia

SVN 
Slovenia

SWE 
Sweden

SWZ  
Eswatini

SYR  
Syria

TAH  
Tahiti

TAN  
Tanzania

TCA  
Turks and 

Caicos Islands

TGA  
Tonga

THA 
Thailand

TJK 
Tajikistan

TKM 
Turkmenistan

TLS 
Timor-Leste

TOG 
Togo

TPE  
Chinese Taipei

TRI 
Trinidad and 

Tobago

TUN 
Tunisia

TUR 
Turkey

UAE 
United Arab 

Emirates

UGA 
Uganda

UKR  
Ukraine

URU  
Uruguay

USA  
USA

UZB  
Uzbekistan

VAN  
Vanuatu

VEN 
Venezuela

VGB 
British Virgin 

Islands

VIE 
Vietnam

VIN  
St Vincent and 
the Grenadines

VIR 
US Virgin 

Islands

WAL  
Wales

YEM 
Yemen

ZAM 
Zambia

ZIM 
Zimbabwe
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